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 Repsol yPF, S .A .  
 Notice of Call to Ordinary General  
 Shareholders’ Meeting

By resolution of the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. shareholders are called to the 
ordinary general Shareholders meeting (agm), which will be held at palacio municipal de 
congresos, avenida de la capital de españa-madrid, campo de las naciones, madrid, at 
12:00 noon on 30 may 2012 on first call and at the same time and place on 31 may 2012 on 
second call, with the following

 agenda

 Items regarding the Annual Accounts, management by the board and the reelection of 
the accounts auditor

First . review and approval, if appropriate, of the annual financial Statements and management 
report of repsol ypf, S.a., the consolidated annual financial Statements and consolidated 
management report, for fiscal year ended 31 december 2011, and the proposal for the appli-
cation of earnings.

Second . review and approval, if appropriate, of the management of the Board of directors 
of repsol ypf, S.a. during 2011.

Third . appointment of the accounts auditor of repsol ypf, S.a. and its consolidated group 
for fiscal year 2012. 

 Items regarding the Corporate Governance Reform

Fourth . modification of articles 19, 20, 28 and 47 and addition of a new article 45 bis of the 
Bylaws; and modification of articles 5, 6, 8 and 14 of the regulations of the general Share-
holders’ meeting to adjust the company’s corporate governance regulations to the recent 
changes in law.

Fifth . modification of articles 27, 32, 37, 39 and addition of a new article 45ter of the Bylaws 
to improve the functioning of the Board of directors and other aspects of the company’s 
corporate governance.

Six . modification of article 22 and addition of new articles 22bis and 44bis of the Bylaws; and 
modification of articles 3, 9 and 13 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting 
to reinforce the protection of the company against conflicts of interest.

 Items regarding the composition of the Board of Directors

Seventh . re-election of mr. isidro fainé casas as director.

Eighth . re-election of mr. Juan maría nin génova as director.

 Items regarding programs for participation in the share capital of the company

Ninth . Stock acquisition plan 2013-2015.

 Items regarding the capital of the company

Tenth . increase of share capital in an amount determinable pursuant to the terms of the 
resolution, by issuing new common shares having a par value of one (1) euro each, of the 
same class and series as those currently in circulation, charged to voluntary reserves, offering 
the shareholders the possibility of selling the scrip dividend rights to the company itself or 
on the market. delegation of authority to the Board of directors or, by delegation, to the 
executive committee, to fix the date the increase is to be implemented and the terms of the 
increase in all respects not provided for by the general meeting, all in accordance with article 
297.1.(a) of the companies act. application for official listing of the newly issued shares on 
the Barcelona, Bilbao, madrid and valencia stock exchanges through the Spain’s continuous 
market and on the Buenos aires stock exchange.

Eleventh . Second capital increase in an amount determinable pursuant to the terms of the 
resolution, by issuing new common shares having a par value of one (1) euro each, of the 
same class and series as those currently in circulation, charged to voluntary reserves, offering 
the shareholders the possibility of selling the scrip dividend rights to the company itself or 
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attendance, proxy and voting cards may be exchanged on the date of the Shareholders’ meeting 
for other standardized documents for recording attendance, issued by the company to facilitate 
drawing-up of the attendance list and exercise of the shareholders’ voting and other rights.

the registration of attendance, proxy and voting cards shall commence two (2) hours before 
the scheduled time of the general Shareholders’ meeting.

for the purpose of verifying the identity of shareholders or their valid representatives, attendees 
may be asked for proof of identity on entry to the Shareholders’ meeting, presenting their national 
identity document or any other official document generally accepted for these purposes.

 representation

any shareholder entitled to attend may be represented by a proxy, who need not be a shareholder.

if the name of the proxy is left blank on the proxy form received by the company, it will be 
presumed granted in favour of the chairman of the Board or, in his absence, the Secretary 
of the agm.

the voting instructions shall be set out in proxy forms. if the corresponding instruction boxes 
are not marked, the represented shareholder will be deemed to have issued specific instructions 
to vote for the proposed resolutions submitted by the Board.

Save otherwise indicated by the represented shareholder, the proxy will be deemed extended to 
proposed resolutions not submitted by the Board of directors or any business which, although 
not included on the agenda, may lawfully be put to the vote at the general Shareholders’ 
meeting. in this case, unless otherwise indicated by the represented shareholder, the latter 
will be deemed to have issued specific instructions to vote against the proposal.

pursuant to articles 523 and 526 of the companies act, the Board of directors informs share-
holders as follows: (i) the chairman of the Board of directors and other Board members 
may be in a potential conflict of interest in respect of items Second (Review and approval, if 
appropriate, of the management of the Board of Directors of Repsol YPF, S.A. during 2011) and 
fifteenth (Advisory vote on the Report on the Remuneration Policy for Directors of Repsol YPF, 
S.A. for 2011) on the agenda; (ii) the directors whose re-election is proposed in items Seventh 
(Re-election of Mr Isidro Fainé Casas as Director)and eighth (Re-election of Mr Juan María Nin 
Génova as Director) on the agenda are in a conflict of interest in respect of those items; and 
(iii) if one or some of the proposals contemplated in the companies act, art. 526, section b. 
(removal) or c. (exercise of a corporate action for liability), the director or directors affected 
by those proposals shall be in a conflict of interest for the voting thereof.

the shareholder shall notify the designated representative in writing or by electronic means of the 
proxy granted in his favour. if the proxy is granted in favour of a member of the Board of directors, 
notification shall be deemed made upon receipt by the company of the proxy documents.

the shareholder shall also notify the company, in writing or by electronic means, of both the 
appointment of a proxy and revocation, if appropriate. 

the company shall be notified of the appointment of a proxy as follows: (i) by post, sending the 
attendance, proxy and proxy vote to the Shareholder information office; (ii) online, when the 
shareholder grants the proxy via the company’s website (www.repsol.com); or (iii) in person, upon 
presentation by the proxy of the attendance, proxy and voting card for inclusion in the shareholder 
entry register on arrival at the time and place indicated for the Shareholders’ meeting.

personal attendance at the Shareholders’ meeting by any shareholder who has granted a 
proxy, or exercise by that shareholder of distance voting, by electronic means or by post, shall 
automatically revoke the appointment of the designated proxy.

 information right 

in addition to the provisions of articles 197 and 520 of the companies act, from the date of 
publication of this notice of call to the date of the general Shareholders’ meeting, the following 
documents shall be permanently posted on the company’s website (www.repsol.com), save 
in the event of force majeure or technical impossibility beyond its control:

1. the notice of call to the ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting.

2. the total number of shares and voting rights existing at the date of the meeting.

3. the annual financial Statements of repsol ypf, S.a. and the consolidated annual financial 
Statements of the repsol ypf group for the year ended 31 december 2011.

on the market. delegation of authority to the Board of directors or, by delegation, to the 
executive committee, to fix the date the increase is to be implemented and the terms of the 
increase in all respects not provided for by the general meeting, all in accordance with article 
297.1.(a) of the companies act. application for official listing of the newly issued shares on 
the Barcelona, Bilbao, madrid and valencia stock exchanges through Spain’s stock exchange 
market and on the Buenos aires stock exchange.

 Point regarding the corporate name of the company

Twelfth . modify the corporate name of the company and subsequent modification of article 
1 of the Bylaws.

 Point regarding the authorisation and express delegation required for the Board of Directors

Thirteenth . delegation to the Board of directors of the power to issue fixed rate, convertible and/
or exchangeable securities for company shares or exchangeable for shares in other companies, 
as well as warrants (options to subscribe new shares or to acquire shares in circulation of the 
company or other companies). fixing the criteria to determine the bases and modes of conver-
sion and/or exchange and attribution to the Board of directors of the powers to increase capital 
by the amount necessary, as well as to totally or partially exclude the pre-emptive subscription 
rights of the shareholders of said issues. authorisation for the company to guarantee securities 
issued by its subsidiaries. to leave without effect, in the portion not used, the sixteenth B) 
resolution of the general Shareholders’ meeting held on 15 april 2001.

 Item regarding the company’s corporate website

Fourteenth . ratification of the creation of the company’s corporate website www.repsol.com

 Item regarding remuneration of the company directors

Fifteenth . advisory vote on the report on the remuneration policy for directors of repsol 
ypf, S.a. for 2011.

 Item regarding general matters

Sixteenth . delegation of powers to supplement, develop, execute, rectify and formalize the 
resolutions adopted by the general Shareholders’ meeting.

during the agm shareholders will be informed on the modification of the regulations of the 
Board of directors, pursuant to article 528 of the companies act and on the authorization 
for the Board of directors to enter into related party transactions, pursuant to article 22.2.(c) 
of the regulations of the Board of directors.

 right to supplement the agenda and propose new resolutions

Shareholders representing at least five per cent of the capital may request the publication of a 
supplemental notice of call, including one or several items on the agenda. this request shall be 
sent through any certifying means, to be received at the registered office within five days after 
publication of the original notice of call, stating the identity of the shareholders exercising the 
right, the number of shares they hold and the items to be included in the agenda, enclosing 
the reasons for their proposal or the corresponding proposed resolutions and justification 
thereof, together with any other relevant documents. the same shareholders representing at 
least five per cent of the capital may also submit, by any certifying means to be received at 
the registered office within five days after publication of the original notice of call, proposed 
resolutions, stating reasons, on matters already included or to be included on the agenda, all 
pursuant to article 519.2 of the companies act. the foregoing is without prejudice to the right 
of any shareholder, during the general meeting, to submit alternative proposals or proposals 
on items that do not need to be included on the agenda, pursuant to the companies act.

 attendance right

Shareholders whose shares have been registered in the appropriate stock ledger five (5) days 
prior to the date set for the Shareholders’ meeting and who have the corresponding attendance, 
proxy and voting card may attend and vote.

attendance, proxy and voting cards shall be issued by the corresponding member of Sociedad 
de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. (herei-
nafter iBerclear) in each case and a model card will also be available for shareholders 
on the company’s website (www.repsol.com) and at the Shareholder information office. 
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ii.  electronic vote

 Shareholders may vote on the items on the agenda for the Shareholders’ meeting through 
the company’s web site (www.repsol.com), entering the agm 2012 page and following 
the procedure established there, provided the shareholder has an electronic dni (national 
identity document) or a recognised or advanced electronic signature, based on a recognised, 
valid electronic certificate issued by Entidad Pública de Certificación Española (cereS), of 
Fábrica Nacional de Moneda y Timbre, and uses one of these means to identify himself.

1 .2  Specific rules for distance voting

i.  voting indications

 if the shareholder sending a distance vote fails to mark any of the boxes provided for any 
of the items on the agenda, he will be presumed to vote for the Board’s proposal.

ii.  receipt by company

 in order to be valid, postal or electronic votes must be received by the company no later 
than 09:00 on 29 may 2012. after this time, the company will only accept the votes cast 
at the general meeting.

2 . Distance proxies
pursuant to article 24 of the Bylaws and article 8 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ 
meeting, shareholders entitled to attend may grant a proxy through distance communication 
for voting on the proposals regarding the items on the agenda prior to the date of the general 
meeting, provided the identity of the voting shareholder is duly guaranteed.

2 .1 Means for granting proxies

the means of communication valid for distance proxies are as follows:

i.  postal proxy

 to grant proxies by post, shareholders must complete and sign the “proxy” section of the 
attendance, proxy and voting card issued by the member of iBerclear with which they 
have deposited their shares or duly complete the model card available on the company’s 
website (www.repsol.com) and at the Shareholder information office.

 this section must be signed -with a handwritten signature- by the shareholder and sent 
to the company, for the attention of the Shareholder information office at paseo de la 
castellana 278, 28046 madrid, or to the designated proxy for presentation at the general 
Shareholders’ meeting.

ii.  electronic proxy

 Shareholders may grant proxies through the company’s web site (www.repsol.com), entering 
the agm 2012 page and following the procedure established there, provided the shareholder 
has an electronic dni (national identity document) or a recognised or advanced electronic 
signature, based on a recognised, valid electronic certificate issued by Entidad Pública de 
Certificación Española (cereS), of Fábrica Nacional de Moneda y Timbre, and uses one of 
these means to identify himself.

2 .2 Specific rules for proxies

distance proxies will be subject to the general rules established for representation at Share-
holders’ meetings in respect of (i) blank proxies received by the company; (ii) the issuing of 
specific voting instructions, consisting of voting in favour of the proposed resolutions submitted 
by the Board of directors if the voting instruction boxes are not marked; (iii) extension of 
the proxy to proposed resolutions not submitted by the Board of directors and any business 
not included on the agenda that may be transacted at the Shareholders’ meeting; and voting 
instructions in those cases; and (iv) the necessary notification to the designated representative 
of the proxy granted in his favour, or revoked, as the case may be.

in order to be valid, postal or electronic proxies must be received by the company no later 
than 09:00 on 29 may 2012. after this time, the company will only accept the proxies made in 
writing on the attendance, proxy and voting cards presented for inclusion in the shareholder 
entry register on arrival at the time and place indicated for the Shareholders’ meeting

at the date and place of the general Shareholders’ meeting, proxies must prove their identity, 
showing their national identity document or any other official document generally accepted for 
these purposes, together with the attendance, proxy and voting card or a print-out of the electronic 
proof of proxy, as the case may be, so that the company can confirm the proxy granted.

4. the auditors’ report on the annual financial Statements of repsol ypf, S.a. and the 
consolidated annual financial Statements of the repsol ypf group for the year ended 
31 december 2011.

5. the management report of repsol ypf, S.a. and the consolidated management report 
of the repsol ypf group for the year ended 31 december 2011.

6. the directors’ liability statement contemplated in article 35 of the Securities market act 
which, together with the documents indicated in the preceding three points, make up the 
company’s annual report for the year ended 31 december 2011.

7. the text of the proposed resolutions corresponding to the items on the agenda and the 
reports by the Board of directors on each of the proposed resolutions corresponding to 
the items on the agenda.

8. the currently valid recast texts of the Bylaws, regulations of the general Shareholders’ 
meeting and regulations of the Board of directors.

9. the report on the remuneration policy for directors of repsol ypf, S.a. for the year ended 
31 december 2011.

10. the annual report on corporate governance for the year ended 31 december 2011.

11. the activity report of the audit and control committee for the year ended 31 december 2011.

12. the corporate responsibility report for the year ended 31 december 2011.

13. the attendance, proxy and voting standard form for the ordinary general Shareholders’ 
meeting.

14. the reports by the nomination and compensation committee and the independent expert 
contemplated in article 22.2 (b) of the regulations of the Board of directors on related 
party transactions authorized by the Board under indent (c) of that article.

as from the date of publication of the notice of call, shareholders may examine at the registered 
office (paseo de la castellana 278, 28046 madrid) or request immediate delivery or remittance, 
free of charge (by e-mail with acknowledgement of receipt if the shareholder accepts this 
method) copies of all the documents listed in paragraphs 1 - 14 above for or related with the 
ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting.

in addition, from the publication of this notice up to the seventh calendar day (inclusive) prior 
to the date of the general meeting, shareholders may request in writing further information 
or clarifications or submit such questions as they may deem fit in respect of the items on the 
agenda. in the same form and time, shareholders may request written explanations on (i) 
the information available to the public submitted by the company to the national Securities 
market commission since the date of the previous general Shareholders’ meeting, i.e. since 
15 april 2011; and (ii) the auditors’ reports on the annual financial Statements of repsol 
ypf, S.a. and the consolidated annual financial Statements of the repsol ypf group for the 
year ended 31 december 2011.

 distance voting and proxies prior to the general  
 shareholders’ meeting

1 .  Voting by distance communication prior to the General Shareholders’ Meeting
pursuant to article 23 of the Bylaws and article 7 of the regulations of the general Sharehol-
ders’ meeting, shareholders entitled to attend may vote through distance communication on 
the proposals regarding the items on the agenda prior to the date of the general meeting, 
provided the identity of the voting shareholder is duly guaranteed.

1 .1  Means for distance voting

the means of communication valid for distance voting are as follows:

i.  postal vote

 to vote by post on the items on the agenda, shareholders must complete and sign the “distance 
voting” section of the attendance, proxy and voting card issued by the member of iBerclear 
with which they have deposited their shares or duly complete the model card available on the 
company’s website (www.repsol.com) and at the Shareholder information office.

 once the appropriate section of the card has been completed and signed -with a hand-
written signature-, the shareholder must send it to the company, for the attention of the 
Shareholder information office at paseo de la castellana 278, 28046 madrid.
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3 . Rules common to distance voting and distance proxies
i. confirmation of distance vote or distance proxy

 the validity of votes cast and proxies granted through distance communication is subject 
to checking of the particulars supplied by the shareholder against those contained in 
the file supplied by iBerclear. in the event of any discrepancy between the number of 
shares indicated by the shareholder in the proxy form or distance voting form and those 
indicated in the aforesaid file, the number of shares indicated by iBerclear will prevail 
for the purposes of quorum and voting.

ii. rules of priority

 personal attendance of the general meeting by a shareholder who has previously granted 
a proxy or voted through distance communication, by whatsoever means used, will render 
that distance proxy or vote void.

 if a shareholder validly issues both a distance vote and a proxy, the former will prevail. 
Similarly, electronic votes and proxies will prevail over those sent by post.

 electronic votes and proxies may be rendered void through express revocation by the 
shareholder through the same means.

iii. other provisions

 the company reserves the right to modify, suspend, cancel or restrict the electronic voting 
and proxy mechanisms for technical or security reasons. the company further reserves the 
right to request additional identification from shareholders as and when it may so deem 
fit to guarantee the identity of those concerned, the authenticity of the vote or proxy and, 
in general, the legal certainty of the general Shareholders’ meeting.

 the company will not be responsible for any damages caused to shareholders through 
unavailability or failure in the maintenance and effective functioning of its website and 
the services and contents provided through such site, or for any faults, overrun, overload, 
fallen lines, connection faults or whatsoever other similar incidents beyond the company’s 
control, which prevent use of the electronic voting and proxy mechanisms.

 electronic voting and proxy mechanisms will be available online from 30 april 2012 to 
09:00 on 29 may 2012.

 in any aspects not expressly contemplated in these procedures, the general conditions 
set out in the legal notice on the company’s web site will be applicable.

 presence of notary

the Board of directors has requested the presence of a notary to take the minutes of the 
general Shareholders’ meeting.

 electronic shareholders forum

in pursuance of article 539.2 of the companies act and as of the date of the notice of call to 
the general Shareholders’ meeting, the company has enabled an electronic Shareholders’ 
forum on its website (www.repsol.com), accessible with due guarantees by both individual 
shareholders and any voluntary associations that may be formed in accordance with current 
regulations, to facilitate communication prior to the general Shareholders’ meeting.

proposals to supplement the agenda as it appears in the notice of call, requests for support 
for those proposals, initiatives to reach a sufficient percentage to exercise a minority share-
holders’ right contemplated in law and offers of or requests for voluntary representation may 
all be published in the forum.

the forum is not a communication channel between the company and its shareholders and 
is enabled for the sole purpose of facilitating communication among the company’s share-
holders prior to the Shareholders’ meeting.

to enter the forum, shareholders must obtain a specific password on the company’s website 
(www.repsol.com), following the instructions and terms of use of the forum established 
within the section on the 2012 agm. participants will generally obtain clearance to obtain the 
password using their electronic dni or a recognised or advanced electronic signature, based 
on a recognised, valid electronic certificate issued by Entidad Pública de Certificación Española 
(cereS), of Fábrica Nacional de Moneda y Timbre.

 general information

any personal data of shareholders supplied to the company on exercise or delegation of 
attendance and voting rights at the Shareholders’ meeting shall be used by the company, 
under its own responsibility, to develop, control and manage the shareholding relationship 
and comply with its legal obligations. for this reason, the particulars shall be provided to the 
notary issuing the minutes of the general Shareholders’ meeting.

these data may also be used by the company to send shareholders, through any means, 
commercial information on they oil and gas sector, unless the shareholder expresses his 
objection within thirty (30) days after the Shareholders’ meeting (calling the freephone number 
900 100 100), if no opposition is received by the end of that period, the shareholders will be 
considered to have granted his consent.

Shareholders’ rights of access, rectification, deletion and objection (e.g. when they no longer 
wish to receive commercial information on the oil & gas sector) may be exercised on the terms 
prescribed by law, sending written notification to the company at its registered office, paseo 
de la castellana 278, 28046 madrid.

if personal details of other individuals are included in the attendance, delegation and distance 
voting card, the shareholder must inform those individuals of the indications of the preceding 
paragraphs and meet any other requests that may be applicable for a correct transfer of their 
data to the company, which need not take any further action in terms of providing information 
or obtaining consent.

to enable a wider coverage, all or part of the general Shareholders’ meeting may be recorded 
on video and broadcast through the company’s website. this is deemed accepted by attendees 
on entering the venue of the Shareholders’ meeting.

 foreseeable effective date of the shareholders’ meeting

it is expected to hold the general Shareholders’ meeting on SECOND CALL, that is, on 31 may 
2012, at the place and date indicated above. otherwise, due notice will be given sufficiently 
in advance in an announcement published in the daily press and on the company’s website 
(www.repsol.com).

 madrid, april 19th, 2012

 luis Suárez de lezo mantilla

 director Secretary of the Board of directors
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 Ordinary shareholders’ meeting 2012  
 Resolution proposals

 resolution proposal related to the first point of the agenda  
 (“revision and approval, if appropriate, of the annual financial  
 Statements and management report of repsol ypf, S.a.,  
 of the consolidated annual financial Statements  
 and the consolidated management report, corresponding  
 to the fiscal year ended 31st december 2011, and of the proposal  
 of application of its earnings”).

first. to approve the annual financial Statements (Balance Sheet, profit and loss account, 
Statement of changes on equity, cash flow Statement and notes to the accounts) and the 
management report of repsol ypf, S.a. corresponding to the fiscal year ending on the 31st 
of december 2011, as well as the consolidated financial Statements and the consolidated 
management report corresponding to the same fiscal year.

Second. to approve the proposal of distribution of earnings of repsol ypf, S.a. corresponding 
to the fiscal year 2011, consisting of a profit of €1,608,038,366.06, distributing said amount 
in the following way:

the amount of €634,543,785.06 will be assigned to the payment of dividends. Said amount 
has already been paid as interim dividends prior to this general meeting. 

the amount of €973,494,581.00 will be allocated to the provisions for the company’s volun-
tary reserves.

 resolution proposal related to the second point of the agenda  
 (“revision and approval, if appropriate, of the management  
 of the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. corresponding  
 to the fiscal year 2011.”) 

to approve the management of the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. corresponding to 
the fiscal year 2011.

 resolution proposal related to the third point of the agenda  
 (“appointment of the accounts auditor of repsol ypf, S.a.  
 and its consolidated group for the fiscal year 2012”)

to re-elect as accounts auditor of repsol ypf, S.a. and of its consolidated group, for the 
fiscal year 2012, the company deloitte, S.l., with registered office in madrid, plaza pablo ruiz 
picasso, number 1 (torre picasso) and tax id number B-79104469, registered in the official 
registry of auditors of Spain with number S-0692, and registered in the mercantile registry of 
madrid, in volume 13.650, sheet 188, section 8, page m-54414. they are equally entrusted with 
carrying out other auditing services required by law that may be specified by the company 
until the next general Shareholders’ meeting.
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Shareholders’ meetings shall also be called whenever requested by shareholders representing 
at least five per cent (5%) of the capital, stating in their request the business to be transacted. 
In this case, the Board shall call the shareholders’ meeting to be held within two months of being 
so required through notarial channels.

The Board shall draw up the agenda, necessarily including the items stated in the request”.

 Three . Modification of Article 28 of the Bylaws (Right to Information)

to re-draft article 28 of the company’s Bylaws as follows: 

“Article 28. Right to information

From the publication of this notice up to the seventh calendar day (inclusive) prior to the date 
of the Shareholders’ meeting, shareholders may request in writing such further information or 
clarifications or submit such written questions as they may deem fit in respect of the items on 
the agenda. In the same form and time, shareholders may request in writing such explanations 
as they may deem fit on the information available to the public submitted by the Company to 
the National Securities Market Commission since the date of the previous General Shareholders’ 
Meeting and the Auditors’ Report. 

The Board shall provide such information in writing up to the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

During the Shareholders’ Meeting, shareholders may orally request such information or clarifica-
tions as they may deem fit on the business included on the agenda or request such explanations 
as they may deem fit on the information available to the public submitted by the Company to 
the National Securities Market Commission since the date of the previous General Shareholders’ 
Meeting and the Auditors’ Report. If it is not possible to provide the requested information at 
that time, the board will be obliged to provide the information in writing within seven days after 
the end of the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The Board will be obliged to provide any information requested in pursuance of this article, unless, 
in the opinion of the chairman, publicising of the information requested could be detrimental to 
corporate interests. Information may not be so denied when the request is backed by shareholders 
representing at least one-quarter of the capital.

The Board will not be obliged to answer specific questions from the shareholders when, before 
those questions are asked, the information requested is clearly and directly available to all share-
holders on the Company’s website, in the FAQ section”.

 Four . Addition of a new Article 45bis (Report on the Remuneration Policy for Directors)

to draft a new article 45bis of the company’s Bylaws with the following wording:

“Article 45bis. Report on the Remuneration Policy for Directors

The Board will approve each year a Report on the Remuneration Policy for Directors, which will 
contain full, clear, comprehensible information including (i) a brief, overall account of the appli-
cation of that policy in the previous year, incorporating details of the individual remunerations 
accrued by each of the Directors during that year, and references to (ii) the policy approved by 
the board for the present year, and (iii) the policy foreseeable for future years, if any.

This report shall be made available to shareholders as from the date of call to the Ordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting and shall be put to an advisory vote under a separate item on the agenda”.

 Five . Modification of Article 47 of the Bylaws (Website)

to re-draft article 47 of the company’s Bylaws as follows: 

“Article 47. Website

The Company shall have a web site containing information for shareholders, including the 
documents and information stipulated in law, and at least the following:

1. The Bylaws.

2. The Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

3. The Regulations of the Board of Directors and the Regulations of the Board Committees, if any.

4. The Annual Report.

5. The Internal Conducts Regulations on the Securities Market.

6. The corporate governance reports.

7. The annual reports on the remuneration policy for directors of Repsol YPF, S.A.

8. From the date of publication of the notice of call up to the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting, 
the following information for the Shareholders’ Meeting shall be permanently available: (i) the 
notice of call; (ii) the total number of shares and voting rights existing at the date of the meeting, 
by classes of shares, if any; (iii) the documents to be submitted to the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

 proposed resolution corresponding to item fourth on the agenda  
 (“modification of articles 19, 20, 28 and 47 and addition of a new  
 article 45bis of the Bylaws; and modification of articles 5, 6, 8 and  
 14 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting to adjust  
 the company’s corporate governance regulations to the recent  
 changes in law”)

 One . Modification of Article 19 of the Bylaws (Notice of Call)

to re-draft article 19 of the company’s Bylaws as follows:

“Article 19. Notice of Call

Ordinary and Extraordinary shareholders’ meetings shall be called by the Board in a notice 
published as stipulated in law and in these Bylaws at least one month prior to the date of the 
meeting, unless longer notice is required by law, in which case the legal provisions shall be heeded. 
The notice of call shall be published at least in the following media: (i) the Official Gazette of the 
Commercial Registry or one of the daily newspapers having the largest circulation in Spain; (ii) the 
website of the National Securities Market Commission (CNMV); and (iii) the Company’s website. 
The notice published on the Company’s website shall be permanently available at least up to the 
date of the Shareholders’ Meeting. The Board of Directors may also publish announcements in 
other media, if considered appropriate to give the notice of call greater publicity.

The notice of call shall contain the details required by law and shall at least state the name of 
the Company, the date and time of the meeting on first call, all the business to be transacted 
and the position of the person or persons calling the meeting. It may also contain the date and 
time for holding the meeting on second call, if necessary. In this case, there must be at least 
twenty-four hours between the first and second calls. The notice of call shall also indicate the date 
as of which shareholders must have registered in their name the shares entitling them to attend 
and vote at the Shareholders’ Meeting, how and where copies of the full text of the documents 
and proposed resolutions can be obtained and the address of the Company’s website where the 
information is available.

In addition, the notice shall contain clear, precise details of the procedures for attending and 
voting at the General Shareholders’ Meeting, with particular mention of the following:

a. The right to request information, include new items on the agenda and submit proposals for 
resolutions, and the time within which these rights may be exercised. If it is stated that more 
detailed information on these rights is available on the Company’s website, the notice may merely 
indicate the time for exercising them.

b. The procedure for proxy voting, with special mention of the forms to be used for proxy voting and 
the means to be used for the company to accept electronic notification of the proxies granted.

c. The procedures established for distance voting, whether postal or electronic.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting will be held at the venue indicated in the notice of call within 
the city in which the Company has its registered office. However, the meeting may be held anywhere 
else in the national territory if so indicated by the Board of Directors in the notice of call.

If the duly called Shareholders’ Meeting is not held on first call and no date has been specified 
for second call, the second meeting shall be called subject to the same publicity requirements 
within fifteen days after the inquorate meeting and at least ten days prior to the date of the 
meeting on second call.

Pursuant to Article 519 of the Companies Act, shareholders representing at least five per cent 
(5%) of the capital may request the publication of a supplementary notice of call to add one or 
several items to the agenda, provided the new items are accompanied by a justification or, where 
appropriate, a justified proposed resolution. This right shall be exercised by sending attested notice 
proving that the aforesaid percentage of the capital is held, to be received at the registered office 
within five days after publication of the original notice of call. The supplementary notice shall be 
published at least fifteen days prior to the date scheduled for the meeting”. 

 Two . Modification of Article 20 of the Bylaws (Power and obligation to call  
shareholders’ meetings)

to re-draft article 20 of the company’s Bylaws as follows:

“Article 20. Power and obligation to call shareholders’ meeting

The Board may call Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meetings whenever this is considered in the 
interests of the company.
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a. The right to request information, include new items on the agenda and submit proposals for 
resolutions, and the time within which these rights may be exercised. If it is stated that more 
detailed information on these rights is available on the Company’s website, the notice may merely 
indicate the time for exercising them.

b. The procedure for proxy voting, with special mention of the forms to be used for proxy voting and 
the means to be used for the company to accept electronic notification of the proxies granted.

c. The procedures established for distance voting, whether postal or electronic.

If the duly called Shareholders’ Meeting is not held on first call and no date has been specified 
for second call, the second meeting shall be called subject to the same publicity requirements 
within fifteen days after the inquorate meeting and at least ten days prior to the date of the 
meeting on second call.

A copy of the notice of call shall also be sent to the stock exchanges on which the shares are listed 
and the depositaries of shares so that they can issue the attendance cards.

5.2. The Board shall call an Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting whenever so requested by share-
holders holding at least five per cent (5%) of the capital, stating the business to be transacted. 
In this case, the board shall call the shareholders’ meeting within two months of being so required 
through notarial channels.

5.3. Pursuant to Article 519 of the Companies Act, shareholders representing at least five per cent 
(5%) of the capital may request the publication of a supplementary notice of call to add one or 
several items to the agenda, provided the new items are accompanied by a justification or, where 
appropriate, a justified proposed resolution. This right shall be exercised by sending attested notice 
proving that the aforesaid percentage of the capital is held, to be received at the registered office 
within five days after publication of the original notice of call. The supplementary notice shall be 
published at least fifteen days prior to the date scheduled for the meeting.

5.4 In addition to the information required by law or the Bylaws, as from the date of publication of 
the notice of call to the Shareholders’ Meeting, the company shall publish on its web site the text 
of all proposed resolutions submitted by the board in connection with the items on the agenda, 
including the information contemplated in section 14 of the Article 47 of the Bylaws whenever 
proposals are submitted for the appointment of directors. An exception may be made to this rule 
for proposals which the law and Bylaws do not require to be made available to shareholders as 
from the notice of call, if the Board considers there are justified grounds for not doing so.

 If a supplementary notice of call is published, the Company shall thereafter publish on its website 
the text of the justified proposals for resolutions contained in that supplementary notice, provided 
they have been sent to the Company”.

 Seven . Modification of Article 6 .2 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’  
Meeting (Shareholders’ right to attend and to information)

to re-draft article 6.2 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting, without any 
amendment to the other sections of that article, as follows: 

“6.2. Up to seven days prior to the date on which the Shareholders’ Meeting is to be held, share-
holders may, through the Shareholder Information Office and after proving their shareholder 
status, request the Board to provide such information or explanations as they may consider 
necessary regarding the business included on the agenda, or submit such written questions as 
they may deem fit. Shareholders may also request in writing such explanations as they may 
consider necessary regarding the information available to the public supplied by the company 
to the National Securities Market Commission since the last Shareholders’ Meeting and on the 
Auditors’ Report.

 The Board shall provide such information in writing up to the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

During the Shareholders’ Meeting, shareholders may orally request such information or clarifica-
tions as they may deem fit on the business included on the agenda or request such explanations 
as they may deem fit on the information available to the public submitted by the Company to 
the National Securities Market Commission since the date of the previous General Shareholders’ 
Meeting and the Auditors’ Report. If it is not possible to provide the requested information at 
that time, the Board will be obliged to provide the information in writing within seven days after 
the end of the Shareholders’ Meeting.

 The Board will be obliged to provide any information requested in pursuance of this Article 6.2, 
unless, in the opinion of the Chairman, publicising of the information requested could be detri-
mental to corporate interests.

Information may not be so denied when the request is backed by shareholders representing at 
least one-quarter of the capital.

particularly the reports by directors, auditors and independent experts; (iv) the full texts of the 
proposed resolutions or, if they are not available, a report by the competent bodies, commenting 
on each of the items on the agenda and any justified proposed resolutions submitted by share-
holders, as and when they are received; (v) the forms to be used for proxy and distance voting, 
unless the Company sends them directly to each shareholder; and (vi) any relevant information 
that shareholders may need in order to vote.

9. Within five days after each Shareholders’ Meeting, information on the procedure of the Share-
holders’ Meetings held and, in particular, the composition of attendees at the beginning of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, resolutions adopted, indicating the voting results on each of the proposals 
included on the agenda. The following information shall be given for each resolution put to the 
vote: the minimum number of shares in respect of which valid shares have been cast, the propor-
tion of the capital represented by those votes, the total number of votes cast, the proportion of 
capital represented by those votes, the total number of valid votes, the number of votes for and 
against each resolution and the number of abstentions, if any.

10. The communication channels existing between the Company and the shareholders and, in parti-
cular, the pertinent instructions for exercising the shareholders’ right to information, indicating 
the postal and electronic addresses that shareholders may contact.

11. The means and procedures for granting proxies for the Shareholders’ Meeting.

12. The means and procedures for distance voting, including the forms, if any, for proving attendance 
of Shareholders’ meetings by using electronic means.

13. Significant events notified to the National Securities Market Commission (CNMV).

14. The following information on the Directors: (i) professional and biographic profile, (ii) list of 
other directorships they hold, (iii) indication of the type of director, indicating, in the case of 
proprietary directors, the shareholder they represent or with which they have ties, (iv) date of first 
appointment as company directors, and subsequent appointments, and (v) company shares and 
stock options they hold.

Shareholders will be entitled to free access to the Company’s website and may download and 
print the information and documents posted.

The address of the Company’s website shall be www.repsol.com.

The Board of Directors may resolve to modify, move or eliminate the website, in which case it will 
be authorized to modify the preceding paragraph of this article. The resolution to modify, move 
or eliminate the website shall be entered in the Company’s page of the Commercial Registry 
and published in the Official Gazette of the Commercial Registry and on the modified, moved 
or eliminated website for thirty days after insertion of the resolution.”

 Six . Modification of Article 5 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(Notice of call)

to re-draft article 5 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting as follows: 

“5. NOTICE OF CALL

5.1 Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meetings shall be called by the Board in a notice 
published as stipulated in law and in the Bylaws at least one month prior to the date of the 
meeting, unless longer notice is required by law, in which case the legal provisions shall be heeded. 
The notice of call shall be published at least in the following media: (i) the Official Gazette of 
the Commercial Registry or one of the daily newspapers having the largest circulation in Spain; 
(ii) the website of the National Securities Market Commission (CNMV); and (iii) the Company’s 
website. The notice published on the Company’s website shall be permanently available at least 
up to the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting. The Board of Directors may also publish announ-
cements in other media, if considered appropriate to give the notice of call greater publicity.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting will be held at the venue indicated in the notice of call 
within the city in which the Company has its registered office. However, the meeting may be held 
anywhere else in Spain if so indicated by the Board of Directors in the notice of call.

The notice of call shall state the name of the Company, the date and time of the meeting on 
first call, all the business to be transacted and the position of the person or persons calling the 
meeting. It shall also contain the date and time for holding the meeting on second call, if neces-
sary. There must be at least twenty-four hours between the first and second calls. The notice of 
call shall also indicate the date as of which shareholders must have registered in their name the 
shares entitling them to attend and vote at the Shareholders’ Meeting, how and where copies of 
the full text of the documents and proposed resolutions can be obtained and the address of the 
Company’s website where the information is available. In addition, the notice shall contain clear, 
precise details of the procedures for attending and voting at the General Shareholders’ Meeting, 
with particular mention of the following:
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d. The approval or ratification, where appropriate, of the Company’s transactions with the relevant director, 
companies he controls or those represented by the director or persons acting on his behalf.

e. Release of the director from the obligation of no competition.

The proxy form may also include any points which, although not included on the agenda for the 
meeting, are lawfully transacted at the Shareholders’ Meeting, the provisions of this section also 
being applicable in those cases”.

 Nine . Modification of section forth of Article 14 of the Regulations of the General  
Shareholders’ Meeting (Voting on proposed resolutions)

to redraft article 14 (iv) of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting, without any 
amendment to the other sections of that article, as follows:

“(iv) The shares of shareholders who have participated in the Shareholders’ Meeting by distance 
voting prior to the date thereof shall not be considered present or represented for voting on resolu-
tions concerning business not included on the agenda. Moreover, shares in respect of which voting 
rights cannot be exercised pursuant to Article 526 of the Companies Act shall not be considered 
represented or present for voting on any of the resolutions contemplated therein”.

 proposed resolution corresponding to item fifth on the agenda  
 (“modification of articles 27, 32, 37, 39 and addition of a new  
 article 45ter of the Bylaws to improve the functioning of the  
 Board of directors and other aspects of the company’s  
 corporate governance”)

 One . Modification of Article 27 of the Bylaws (Discussion and adoption of resolutions)

to re-draft article 27 of the Bylaws as follows: 

“Article 27. Discussion and adoption of resolutions

Once the meeting has been declared open, the secretary shall read out the items on the agenda.

Following the report by the Chairman of the Board and any persons he may have authorized to 
speak, the Chairman will give the floor to any shareholders who so request, directing the debate 
and confining it to the agenda, save as provided in Articles 223.1 and 238 of the Companies Act. 
The Chairman will close the debate when he considers the subject sufficiently discussed, and will 
then put the proposed resolutions to the vote.

Resolutions shall be adopted by the majority of the voting capital present and represented at the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, save as otherwise provided in law or these Bylaws.

Voting rights may not be transferred or assigned, not even through the granting of a proxy, in 
exchange for any financial benefit or consideration”.

 Two . Modification of Article 32 of the Bylaws (Qualitative Composition of the Board)

to re-draft article 32 of the Bylaws as follows: 

“article 32. Qualitative composition of the Board

the Board shall consist of the following types of director:

a. executive directors: those performing executive or senior management duties within the 
company. any directors who have permanently been delegated general powers of the board 
and/or are bound by top management or service contracts to provide full-time executive 
services shall be considered executive directors.

b. non-executive proprietary directors: those proposed by holders of significant stable interests 
in the capital of the company, representing a strategic value for the latter.

c. non-executive independent directors: those not included in the other two categories, appointed 
on the strength of their recognised personal and professional standing and their experience 
and expertise in the corresponding duties, having no connection with the management or 
majority shareholders. non-executive independent directors may not remain in office as such 
for a period of more than twelve years.

notwithstanding the sovereignty of the shareholders’ meeting and efficiency of the proportional 
system, which is compulsory in any cases of share-pooling contemplated in the companies act, 
the shareholders’ meeting, and the board when proposing appointments to the shareholders’ 
meeting and exercising its powers of cooptation to fill vacancies, will endeavour to ensure, in 
respect of the composition of the board, (i) that the number of non-executive board members 

The Board will not be obliged to answer specific questions from the shareholders when, before 
those questions are asked, the information requested is clearly and directly available to all share-
holders on the Company’s website, in the FAQ section”.

 Eight . Modification of Article 8 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting (Proxies)

to re-draft article 8 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting, as follows: 

“8. PROXIES

8.1. Any shareholder entitled to attend a Shareholders’ Meeting may be represented by a proxy, 
who does not need to be a shareholder.

 One proxy may represent more than one shareholder, without any limitation on the number of 
shareholders represented. When one proxy represents several shareholders, he may vote differently 
according to the instructions issued by each one.

 Proxies shall be made in writing or by any form of distance communication, provided that the 
identity of the parties is duly guaranteed and subject to whatever procedures may be established 
in law for this purpose. Proxies shall be granted specially for each Shareholders’ Meeting, save 
as provided in section 187 of the Companies Act. 

 The Board shall establish for each Shareholders’ Meeting the most adequate procedure for 
granting proxies through distance communication, in view of the legal provisions in force from 
time to time and the current state of technology. This procedure shall be described in detail in 
the notice of call. The documents containing the proxies or delegations for the Shareholders’ 
Meeting shall also include the voting instructions. If the corresponding instruction boxes are not 
marked, the represented shareholder will be deemed to have issued specific instructions to vote 
for the proposed resolutions submitted by the Board on the items on the agenda. If the name of 
the proxy is left blank on the proxy form received by the Company, it will be presumed granted 
in favour of the Chairman of the Board. The shareholder’s proxy may appoint a substitute to 
exercise the voting right in any conflict of interest.

 If the voting instructions issued make no mention of business which, although not included on the 
agenda, is transacted at the shareholders’ meeting, being so permitted by law, the proxy shall vote 
on such matters howsoever he may consider most favourable to the interests of his principal.

 The proxy shall keep the voting instructions and proxy document for one year after the date of 
the corresponding Shareholders’ Meeting.

8.2. Prior to his appointment, the proxy shall inform the shareholder in detail of any conflict 
of interest. If the conflict arises after his appointment and he has not advised the represented 
shareholder of its possible existence, he shall inform the shareholder immediately. In both cases, 
if no new instructions are issued for each of the items on which the proxy is to vote on behalf of 
the shareholder, he shall abstain from voting.

There may be a conflict of interest for the purposes of this article, in particular, when the proxy 
is in any of the following situations:

a. If he is a controlling shareholder of the Company or of an undertaking controlled by that contro-
lling shareholder.

b. If he is member of the Board, management or supervisory bodies of the company, controlling 
shareholder or an undertaking controlled by the latter. If he is a director, the provisions of Article 
8.3 will be applicable.

c. If he is an employee or auditor of the Company, controlling shareholder or an undertaking 
controlled by the latter.

d. If he is an individual related party to the foregoing. Related individuals shall be: the spouse or 
someone who has been the spouse in the previous two years, or common-law partner or someone 
who has been living with the proxy in the previous two years, and the ascendants, descendants, 
peers and their respective spouses.

8.3. In addition to fulfilling the duties contemplated in 8.2 above, if the Company directors or 
any other person acting on behalf or in the interests of any one of the directors has filed a public 
request for representation, the director who obtains such representation may not exercise the voting 
right corresponding to the shares represented in respect of any items on the agenda in which he 
is in conflict of interest, unless he has received precise voting instructions from the represented 
shareholder for each of those items. Directors shall be considered in conflict of interest in respect 
of at least the following decisions:

a. Their appointment, re-election or ratification as director.

b. Their removal as director.

c. Bringing a corporate liability action against them.
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a. modification of Articles 22bis and 44bis of the Bylaws concerning related party transaction and 
the prohibition of competition by directors, or this special rule;

b. authorization of related party transactions in the cases contemplated in Article 22bis of the 
Bylaws; and

c. waiving a director from his no competition obligation pursuant to Article 44bis of the Bylaws”.

 Two . Addition of a new Article 22bis of the Bylaws (Related party transactions)

to draft a new article 22bis of the Bylaws with the following wording:

“Article 22bis. Related party transactions

Transactions made directly or indirectly by the Company with directors, majority shareholders 
represented on the Board or persons related to them (i) for an amount exceeding 5% of the 
Group’s assets according to the latest consolidated annual financial statements approved by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting; (ii) in respect of strategic assets of the Company; (iii) involving a 
transfer of significant technology of the Company; or (iv) intended to establish strategic alliances 
and are not merely agreements for actions under or execution of previously established alliances; 
may only be concluded if they meet the following conditions:

a. the transaction is fair and efficient for the Company’s interests;

b. after obtaining the corresponding report from an independent expert renowned in the financial 
community indicating that the related party transaction is made on reasonable, arm’s length 
terms, the Nomination and Compensation Committee issues a report on its fulfilment of the 
requirement stipulated in paragraph (a) above; and

c. the Shareholders’ Meeting authorizes the related party transaction with the favourable votes of 
seventy-five per cent (75%) of the capital present and represented at the Shareholders’ Meeting. 
This notwithstanding, whenever it is considered advisable, for reasons of opportunity, not to 
wait for the next General Shareholders’ Meeting, the transaction may be approved by the Board 
of Directors, provided that (i) the report by the Nomination and Compensation Committee 
contemplated in paragraph (b) above is favourable for the transaction, and (ii) the resolution 
is adopted with the favourable votes of at least two-thirds of the Board members who are not 
affected by a conflict of interest. In this case, the Board shall report on the terms and conditions 
of the transaction at the next Shareholders’ Meeting held thereafter.

When calling a Shareholders’ Meeting at which authorization of a related party transaction is to 
be discussed or reported on, the Board shall make available to the shareholders the reports issued 
by the Nomination and Compensation Committee and the independent expert contemplated in 
paragraph (b) above and, should it so deem fit, its own report on the issue.

All other related party transactions shall be submitted to the relevant provisions of the Regulations 
of the Board of Directors.”

 Three . Addition of a new Article 44bis of the Bylaws (Prohibition of competition):

to draft a new article 44bis of the Bylaws with the following wording:

“Article 44bis. Prohibition of competition

Directors may not engage, for their own or third party account, in activities competing with the 
Company, except in the following circumstances:

a. it is reasonably foreseeable that the situation of competition will not cause any damage to the 
Company or that the damage that might foreseeable be caused is offset by the benefit that the 
Company can reasonably expect to obtain for permitting that situation of competition; 

b. after receiving advice from an independent external consultant of good standing in the financial 
community and after hearing the shareholder or director involved, the Nomination and Compen-
sation Committee issues a report on fulfilment of the requirement contemplated in paragraph 
(a) above; and

c. the Shareholders’ Meeting expressly resolves to lift the prohibition of competition with the 
favourable votes of seventy-five per cent (75%) of the capital present and represented at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting.

When calling a Shareholders’ Meeting at which lifting of the prohibition of competition is to be 
discussed, the Board shall make available to the shareholders the reports issued by the Nomina-
tion and Compensation Committee and the independent external consultant contemplated in 
paragraph (b) above and, should it so deem fit, its own report on the issue. The director involved 
will be entitled to explain at the Shareholders’ Meeting the reasons backing his request for lifting 
of the prohibition.

The resolutions that the Shareholders’ Meeting is called to adopt under this article shall be 
submitted in a separate item on the agenda.

considerably outweighs the number of executive directors; and (ii) that such professional, 
international and gender diversity policies as may be adequate for the company’s business 
from time to time are applied”.

 Three . Modification of Article 37 of the Bylaws (Committees of the Board) 

to re-draft article 37 of the Bylaws as follows: 

“Article 37. Committees of the Board

The Board may create such executive and advisory committees as it may deem fit to deal with the 
matters within their competence, appointing the directors who are to sit on such committees.

The Board shall in any case appoint an Audit and Control Committee, on the terms set out in Article 
39 of these Bylaws, and a Nomination and Compensation Committee, all the members of which 
shall be non-executive directors and the majority shall be non-executive independent directors”.

 Four . Modification of the first paragraph of Article 39 of the Bylaws  
(Audit and Control Committee)

to re-draft the first paragraph of article 39 of the Bylaws, without any amendment to the other 
sections of that article, as follows:

“The company will have an Audit and Control Committee, consisting of at least three directors 
appointed by the board, who will have sufficient capacity, experience and dedication to perform 
the corresponding duties. All the members of this committee will be non-executive independent 
directors. At least one of its members will be appointed taking into consideration their knowledge 
and experience in matters of accounting, auditing or both. One of such members will be appo-
inted chairman of the committee, who will be replaced every four years, becoming eligible for 
re-election one year after retirement from the position”.

 Five . Addition of a new Article 45ter of the Bylaws (External assessment of the Board)

to draft a new article 45ter of the Bylaws with the following text:

“Article 45ter. External Board assessment 

With the frequency it shall determine and at least once every three years, the Board shall commis-
sion an external assessment of its performance to an independent specialised firm. This assessment 
shall include an analysis of the composition, organization and functioning of the Board as a body 
corporate and an evaluation of the competence and efficiency of each of its committees and 
members, particularly including the Chairman”. 

 proposed resolution corresponding to item sixth on the agenda  
 (“modification of article 22 and addition of new articles 22bis  
 and 44bis of the Bylaws; and modification of articles 3, 9 and 13  
 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting to reinforce  
 the protection of the company against conflicts of interest”)

 One . Modification of Article 22 of the Bylaws (Special resolutions, quorums  
and voting majorities)

to re-draft article 22 of the Bylaws as follows:

“Article 22. Special resolutions, quorums and voting majorities

In order for a Shareholders’ Meeting, Ordinary or Extraordinary, to validly resolve on an increase 
or reduction of capital and any amendment of the Bylaws, issue of debentures, cancellation or 
limitation of shareholders’ preferential subscription right over new shares, the transformation, 
merger, demerger, global assignment of assets and liabilities, moving the registered office abroad 
or winding-up of the Company, it must be attended on first call, in person or by proxy, by share-
holders representing at least fifty per cent (50%) of the subscribed voting capital. On second call, 
the attendance of twenty-five per cent (25%) of that capital will be sufficient.

When the shareholders’ meeting is attended by shareholders representing less than fifty per cent 
(50%) of the subscribed voting capital, the resolutions contemplated in the preceding paragraph 
shall be validly adopted only with the favourable votes of two-thirds of the capital present or 
represented at the meeting.

Special resolutions shall be required, adopted with the favourable votes of seventy-five per cent 
(75%) of the voting capital attending the shareholders’ meeting, on both first and second call, 
to validly adopt resolutions on the following matters:
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 When the shareholders’ meeting is attended by shareholders representing less than fifty per cent 
(50%) of the subscribed voting capital, the resolutions contemplated in the preceding paragraph 
shall be validly adopted only with the favourable votes of two-thirds of the capital present or 
represented at the meeting.

 Special resolutions shall be required, adopted with the favourable votes of seventy-five per cent 
(75%) of the voting capital attending the shareholders’ meeting, on both first and second call, 
to validly adopt resolutions on the matters contemplated in the third paragraph of Article 22 of 
the Bylaws and Article 13.7 of these Regulations”.

 Six . Modification of Article 13 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(Discussion and adoption of resolutions)

to re-draft article 13 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting as follows:

“13. DISCUSSION AND ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS

13.1.  Once the meeting has been declared open, the secretary shall read out the details of the 
notice of call and attendance, based on the attendance list prepared by the presiding Board, 
which shall indicate the nature or representation of each shareholder present and the number 
of shares they hold or represent.

The attendance list may also be drawn up using a file or incorporated in a magnetic data support, 
in which case the means used shall be stated in the minutes and the appropriate identification 
details, signed by the Secretary and countersigned by the Chairman, shall be affixed to the sealed 
case of the file or magnetic data carrier.

13.2. The summary of the attendance list shall specify the number of shareholders present or repre-
sented and the amount of capital they hold, specifying the capital corresponding to shareholders 
with voting rights. The Vice-Secretary of the Board shall provide the presiding board with two 
copies of the summary, signed by the Vice-Secretary and one scrutiniser.

13.3. In the light of the attendance list, the Chairman shall, if appropriate, declare the shareholders’ 
meeting quorate. If the notary required by the company to issue the minutes of the shareholders’ 
meeting is present, he shall ask the attendees whether or not they have any reservations or protests 
regarding the chairman’s declarations on attendance by shareholders and capital. Any shareholder 
expressing reservations shall show the assistants of the presiding board his attendance card and 
the presiding board shall check and correct the error, if appropriate.

13.4. In an effort to expedite the meeting, before commencing his report on the year and the 
proposals put to the shareholders’ meeting, the Chairman shall request any shareholders who 
wish to speak to show their attendance cards to the assistants of the presiding board, in order to 
organise their turns for participation. 

13.5. The Chairman shall then inform the Shareholders’ Meeting on the highlights of the year and 
the proposals submitted by the board. His report may be supplemented by any persons he may 
authorize. The Chairman of the Audit and Control Committee will be available at the shareholders’ 
meeting to answer, on behalf of the committee, any questions that the shareholders may raise 
on matters within the committee’s competence. After his report, the Chairman shall grant the 
floor to those shareholders who have so requested, directing the debate and seeing that it keeps 
within the confines of the agenda, except as provided in Articles 223.1 and 238 of the Companies 
Act. The Chairman will end the debate when, in his opinion, the matter has been sufficiently 
discussed and will then put the different proposed resolutions to the vote, the results of which 
will be read out by the secretary. The reading of the proposals may be abridged at the decision of 
the chairman, provided that shareholders representing the majority of subscribed voting capital 
present at the shareholders’ meeting do not object. 

13.6. Resolutions shall be adopted with the favourable votes of the majority of voting capital present 
and represented at the shareholders’ meeting, with the exceptions established in the following 
section and any others contemplated in law, the Bylaws and these Regulations.

13.7. Notwithstanding the special resolutions contemplated in the law and the Bylaws, the favourable 
votes of 75% of the voting capital present and represented at the Shareholders’ Meeting will be 
required on both first and second call to validly adopt resolutions on the following matters: 

a. modification of Articles 22bis and 44bis of the Bylaws concerning related party transaction and 
the prohibition of competition by directors, or this special rule;

b. authorization of related party transactions in the cases contemplated in Article 22bis of the 
Bylaws; and

c. waiving a director from his no competition obligation pursuant to Article 44bis of the Bylaws.

13.8. Voting rights may not be transferred or assigned, not even through the granting of a proxy, 
in exchange for any financial benefit or consideration.

If the situation of competition arises after the appointment of a director, that director shall 
immediately step down from office.

For the purposes of this Article:

a. a person shall be deemed to be engaged for his own account in activities competing with the 
Company when he performs those activities directly or indirectly through controlled companies 
as defined in Article 42 of the Commercial Code;

b. a person shall be deemed to be engaged for third-party account in activities competing with the 
Company when he has a significant holding or an executive position in a rival company or in 
another acting in concert with the rival to develop a common policy, and in any case of he has been 
appointed proprietary director of the company at the request of one of those companies; and

c. no situation of competition with the Company will be deemed to exist in respect of (i) companies 
controlled by the Company (as defined in Article 42 of the Commercial Code); and (ii) compa-
nies with which Repsol YPF, S.A. has established a strategic alliance, even if they have identical, 
similar or complementary objects and during such time as the alliance is maintained. Directors or 
shareholders will not be considered affected by the prohibition of competition for the sole reason 
of their being proprietary directors in rival companies appointed at the request of the Company 
or by virtue of the interest held by the Company in their capital.

Nor may directors provide counselling or representation services for rivals of the Company, unless 
the Board of Directors, after receiving a favourable report from the Nomination and Compen-
sation Committee, authorizes them with the favourable votes of two-thirds of the members not 
affected by any conflict of interest. If these requirements are not met, the authorization must be 
granted by the General Shareholders’ Meeting”.

 Four . Modification of Article 3 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(Powers of the Shareholders’ Meeting)

to re-draft article 3 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting, as follows: 

“3. POWERS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The shareholders, assembled in a duly called Shareholders’ Meeting, shall decide by majority 
vote on the following matters:

3.1. Approval, if appropriate, of the Annual Financial Statements of REPSOL YPF, S.A. and the 
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements of REPSOL YPF, S.A. and its subsidiaries, the mana-
gement of corporate affairs by the Board of Directors and the application of earnings.

3.2. Appointment and removal of directors and ratification or revocation of provisional appo-
intments of directors made by the board.

3.3. Appointment and reappointment of auditors.

3.4. Acquisition of treasury stock.

3.5. Increase or reduction of capital and any modification of the Bylaws, issue of debentures, 
cancellation or limitation of the preferential subscription right over new shares, transformation, 
merger, demerger, global assignment of assets and liabilities, moving the registered office abroad 
and winding-up of the company.

3.6. Authorization of the Board to increase the capital, in pursuance of Article 297.1.b of the 
Companies Act.

3.7. Decision on matters submitted by the Board for authorization.

3.8. Authorization of the related party transactions contemplated in Article 22bis of the Bylaws.

3.9. Releasing of a director from his no competition obligation pursuant to Article 44bis of the Bylaws.

3.10. Any other decisions attributed to it by law or the Bylaws”. 

 Five . Modification of Article 9 .2 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’  
Meeting (Quorum)

to re-draft article 9.2 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting, without any 
amendment to the other sections of that article, as follows: 

“9.2. In order for a Shareholders’ Meeting, Ordinary or Extraordinary, to validly resolve on 
an increase or reduction of capital and any amendment of the Bylaws, issue of debentures, 
cancellation or limitation of shareholders’ preferential subscription right over new shares, the 
transformation, merger, demerger, global assignment of assets and liabilities, moving the 
registered office abroad or winding-up of the Company, it must be attended on first call, in 
person or by proxy, by shareholders representing at least fifty per cent (50%) of the subscribed 
voting capital. On second call, the attendance of twenty-five per cent (25%) of that capital 
will be sufficient.
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 the shares to be given may come from the direct or indirect treasury stock of repsol ypf, be 
newly issued shares or they may come from third parties with whom agreements have been 
subscribed to ensure the attention to the commitments undertaken.

vi. delegation of powers: without this preventing that generally established in the sixteenth point 
of the agenda or in the sections from this resolution, and without prejudice to the powers 
of the Board of directors on remuneration matters, in accordance with the Bylaws and the 
regulations of the Board of directors, the company Board of directors is authorised to put 
the Share acquisition plan 2013-2015 into practice. it may specify and interpret, in all that is 
necessary or convenient, the rules established herein and the content of the contracts and 
other documentation to be used. in particular and not limited to this, the Board of directors 
will have the following powers: 

a.  develop and set the specific conditions of the plan in all that is not established in this 
resolution. it may establish for this purpose a minimum limit to be received in repsol ypf 
shares for the employees that voluntarily join the plan.

b. approve the content of the contracts and all documentation that is necessary or convenient. 

c. approve as many communications and additional documents as are necessary or convenient to 
present to any public or private body, including, if necessary, the corresponding brochures. 

d. define the frequency to give shares to beneficiaries, whether this be monthly, annually or 
any other frequency. 

e. carry out any action, procedure or declaration before any public or private entity or body. 

f. negotiate, agree and subscribe compensation and liquidity contracts with the financial 
entities that it freely appoints, in the appropriate terms and conditions. 

g. draft and subscribe as many notices as are necessary or convenient. 

h. interpret the above resolutions, being able to adapt them, without affecting their basic 
content, to the new circumstances that may arise. 

i. in general, carry out any actions and sign any documents that may be necessary or convenient. 

the Board of directors may delegate in the delegate committee all the powers granted in 
this resolution. 

all the provisions hereof are notwithstanding the company affiliates exercising the powers of their 
competence in each case to set up the plan which refers to their executives or employees.

 resolution proposal related to the tenth point of the agenda  
 (“increase of share capital in a determinable amount pursuant  
 to the terms of the resolution, by issuing new common shares having  
 a par value of one (1) euro each, of the same class and series as  
 those currently outstanding, charged to reserves, offering  
 shareholders the possibility of selling the free-of-charge allocation  
 rights to the company itself or on the market. delegation of powers  
 to the Board of directors or, by substitution, to the delegate  
 committee, to fix the date the increase is to be implemented  
 and the terms of the increase in all respects not provided for by  
 the general meeting, all in accordance with article 297(1)(a) of the  
 companies act. application for admission of the newly issued shares  
 to listing on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock  
 exchanges through the automated Quotation System (Sistema de  
 interconexión Bursátil) and on the Buenos aires stock exchange.”)

to approve an increase of share capital (the “capital increase”) by the amount resulting from 
multiplying: (a) the par value of one euro (1 €) per share of repsol ypf, S.a. (the “company”) 
by (b) the total number new shares of the company to be determined by the formula outlined 
in point 2 below. the capital increase will be made on the following conditions: 

1 . Capital increase with a charge to reserves
the capital increase will be made by the issue and placement into circulation of a determinable 
number of new shares of the company resulting from the formula set out in point 2 below 
(the new shares issued in execution of this resolution will hereinafter be referred to as “new 
Shares” and each one of them, individually, as a “new Share”).

13.9. Individual voting will not be necessary if the sense of voting is sufficiently obvious by acclama-
tion or show of hands and this helps to expedite the meeting. This will not prevent shareholders 
so requesting from having their votes against put on record for the purposes of challenging a 
resolution or any other reason.

13.10. After voting on all the proposals, the secretary of the Shareholders’ Meeting will deliver to 
the notary, if any, the note of the scrutinisers containing the results of voting on each proposal 
and the chairman shall close the meeting.

13.11. The following information shall be given for each resolution put to the vote at the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting: the number of shares in respect of which valid shares have been cast, the 
proportion of the capital represented by those votes, the total number of valid votes, the number 
of votes for and against each resolution and the number of abstentions, if any. The resolutions 
approved and the voting results shall be published in full on the Company’s website within five 
days after the date of the General Shareholders’ Meeting”. 

 resolution proposal related to the seventh point of the agenda  
 (“re-election as director of mr. isidro fainé casas.”)

to re-elect as mr. isidro fainé casas as director, for a new period of four years.

 resolution proposal related to the eighth point of the agenda  
 (“re-election as director of mr. Juan maría nin genova”)

to re-elect mr. Juan maría nin genova as director, for a new period of four years.

 resolution proposal related to the ninth point of the agenda  
 (“Share acquisition plan 2013-2015”).

to approve the Share acquisition plan 2013-2015, which is subjected to the following rules: 

i. Beneficiaries: the beneficiaries of the plan will be those repsol ypf group executives and 
other employees in Spain who voluntarily decide to opt for the same. 

ii. description of the plan: beneficiaries may receive part of their renumeration corresponding to 
some or all the years 2013, 2014 y 2015 in repsol ypf shares, with an annual limit equal to the 
maximum monetary amount in shares that, pursuant to the applicable tax laws in force each 
year and for each territory, has the treatment as income exempt of tax (currently, this amount 
is 12,000 euros in the Spanish common territory). Said shares will be valued at the repsol 
ypf share closing price in the exchange electronic trading System (continuous market) of 
Spanish stock markets on the date of instalment to the beneficiary. receipt of remuneration 
in shares is voluntary for beneficiaries. 

iii. duration: this plan corresponds to the years 2013, 2014 and 2015. instalment of the shares 
may take place periodically or a single instalment at the end of the plan. 

iv. maximum number of shares to be given: taking into account that the estimate made by the Board 
of directors of the maximum amount to be invested in repsol ypf shares by the beneficiaries of 
this plan amounts to €180 million (the “maximum Share payment”) for each year, the maximum 
number of repsol ypf shares that can be given in accordance with this plan (the “limit of final 
instalment of Shares”) will be determined by applying the following formula: 

  Limit of Final Instalment of Shares= (Maximum Amount of Payment in Shares/ Repsol YPF 
Share Listing)

 Where “repsol ypf Share listing” will be the repsol ypf share closing price in the exchange 
electronic trading System (continuous market) of Spanish stock markets on the date of 
instalment to the beneficiary. 

v. other rules: in the case of a decrease or an increase of the par value of the shares or an opera-
tion with the equivalent effect, or variation of the number of repsol ypf group employees in 
Spain, the maximum number of shares to be given will be modified proportionally.

 likewise, if it were necessary or convenient for legal or regulatory reasons or reasons of another 
type, the instalment mechanisms foreseen could be adapted in specific cases, without alte-
ring the number of shares linked to the plan in question nor the conditions upon which the 
instalment depends. 
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to implement the capital increase will not have free-of-charge allocation right over the new 
Shares, notwithstanding the modifications to be made to the conversion rate by virtue of the 
terms of each issue.

the free-of-charge allocation rights may be traded on the same conditions as the shares in respect 
of which they are granted and may be traded on the market for such time as may be determined 
by the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, at least fifteen (15) calendar 
days, commencing on the day after the date on which the announcement of the capital increase 
is published in the official gazette of the commercial registry. during the period of trading of 
the free-of-charge allocation rights of the capital increase, sufficient rights may be acquired on 
the market in the necessary proportion to be able to subscribe new Shares.

4 . Irrevocable undertaking to purchase free-of-charge allocation rights
the company irrevocably undertakes to purchase the free-of-charge allocation rights assigned 
in the capital increase from the shareholders recognized as such at the date on which the 
announcement of the capital increase is published in the official gazette of the commercial 
registry at the price indicated below (the “purchase commitment”). 

the purchase commitment will only cover the rights originally and freely received by the 
shareholders, not those purchased on the market, and will be in force and may be accepted 
during such time, within the trading period of the rights, as may be determined by the Board of 
directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee. for this purpose, the company will be 
authorized to purchase those free-of-charge allocation rights (and the corresponding shares) up 
to and not exceeding the total rights issued, respecting all and any applicable legal limits.

the “purchase price” for each free-of-charge allocation right will be calculated applying the 
following formula, rounded up or down to the nearest thousandth of a euro and, in the event 
of half a thousandth of a euro, rounded up to the nearest thousandth of a euro: 

Purchase Price = Share Price / (No. Rights per share + 1)

the company will foreseeably waive the new Shares corresponding to the free-of-charge 
allocation rights acquired under the purchase commitment so the capital will be increased 
only by the amount corresponding to the free-of-charge allocation rights in respect of which 
there has been no waiver.

5 . Balance sheet for the operation and reserve against which the Capital Increase is made
the balance sheet on which this operation is based is the balance sheet for the year 
ended 31 december 2011, duly audited and approved by this ordinary Shareholders’ meeting. 

as mentioned earlier, the capital increase will be made entirely against the voluntary reserves 
from retained earnings. When implementing the capital increase, the Board of directors or, 
by substitution, the delegate committee, will specify the reserve to be used and the amount 
of that reserve according to the balance sheet used as the basis for the capital increase.

6 . Representation of the New Shares
the new Shares will be issued in book-entry form, the accounting register being kept by 
Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. 
Unipersonal (iberclear) and its members.

7 . Rights of the New Shares
as from the date on which the capital increase is declared subscribed and paid up, the new 
Shares will confer upon their holders the same voting and economic rights as the company’s 
outstanding ordinary shares. 

8 . Shares on deposit
at the end of the trading period for the free-of-charge allocation rights, any new Shares that 
have not been allocated for reasons beyond the company’s control will be held on deposit 
for any investors who can prove that they are the legitimate owners of the corresponding 
free-of-charge allocation rights. if any new Shares are still pending allocation three (3) years 
after the end of the trading period of the free-of-charge allocation rights, they may be sold, 
pursuant to article 117 of the companies act, for the account and risk of the interested parties. 
the net proceeds from the sale will be deposited at the Bank of Spain or government depo-
sitory (Caja General de Depósitos) at the disposal of the interested parties.

9 . Application for listing
it is resolved to apply for listing of the new Shares on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and 
valencia stock exchanges through the automated Quotation System (Sistema de Interconexión 
Bursátil) and to complete whatever formalities and actions may be necessary and file such 

the capital increase will be made by the issue and placement into circulation of the new 
Shares, which will be ordinary shares with a par value of one euro (1 €) each, of the same class 
and series and with the same rights as those currently issued, in book-entry form. 

the capital increase will be made entirely against voluntary reserves from retained earnings. 
When making the capital increase, the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate 
committee, will specify the reserve to be used and the amount of that reserve according to 
the balance sheet for the transaction.

the new Shares will be issued at par, i.e., at their par value of one euro (1 €), with no share 
premium, and will be allocated to the company shareholders without charge. 

Within the year following the approval of this resolution, the capital increase may be imple-
mented by the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, without having 
further recourse to the general Shareholders’ meeting and taking account of the legal and 
financial conditions prevailing at the date of the capital increase, in order to offer the company’s 
shareholders a flexible and efficient remuneration formula.

pursuant to article 311 of the companies act, the possibility of an incomplete allocation of 
the capital increase is foreseen.

2 . New Shares to be issued in the Capital Increase
the maximum number of new Shares to be issued in the capital increase will be determined 
by applying the following formula, rounded down to the nearest whole number:

MNNS = NES / No. Rights per share

where, 

“mnnS” = maximum number of new Shares to be issued in the capital increase; 

“neS” = number of outstanding company shares on the date the Board of directors or, by 
substitution, the delegate committee, resolves to implement the capital increase; and

“no. rights per share” = number of free-of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation 
of one new Share in the capital increase, resulting from the following formula, rounded up 
to the nearest whole number:

No. Rights per share = NES /Provisional no. shares

where, 

“provisional no. shares” = amount of the alternative option / Share price

for this purpose, “Share price” will be the arithmetic mean of the weighted average prices of 
the company’s share on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock exchanges over the 
five (5) trading sessions prior to the date of the resolution adopted by the Board of directors 
or, by substitution, the delegate committee to implement the capital increase, rounded up 
or down to the nearest thousandth of a euro and, in the event of half a thousandth of a euro, 
rounded up to the nearest thousandth of a euro. 

“amount of the alternative option” will be 705,048,650 euro. 

3 . Free-of-charge allocation rights
each outstanding share of the company will confer one (1) free-of-charge allocation rights. 

the number of free-of-charge allocation rights required to receive one new Share will be 
determined automatically according to the ratio of the number of maximum number of new 
Shares (mnnS) to the number of outstanding shares (neS), resulting from the formula 
indicated in point 2 above. in particular, shareholders will be entitled to receive one new 
Share for a number of free-of-charge allocation rights determined according to point 2 above 
(no. rights per share) that they may hold.

if the number of free-of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation of one share 
(no. rights per share) multiplied by the maximum number of new Shares (mnnS) is lower 
than the number of outstanding shares (neS), the company will waive a number of free-of-
charge allocation rights equal to the difference between the two figures, for the sole purpose 
of ensuring that the number of new Shares is a whole number and not a fraction.

free -of-charge allocation rights will be allocated in the capital increase to the company’s 
shareholders who are recognized as such in the accounting registers of Sociedad de Gestión de 
los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) at 
23:59 madrid time on the date on which the announcement of the capital increase is published 
in the official gazette of the commercial registry.

the holders of any convertible debentures into repsol ypf shares that may be outstanding at 
the date on which the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee resolves 
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documents as may be required with the competent authorities for listing of the new Shares 
on the Buenos aires stock exchange, expressly putting on record that the company submits 
to existing or future laws and regulations governing the stock market, particularly regarding 
trading, minimum time frames and delisting.

it is expressly declared that if the company subsequently applies for delisting of its shares, 
this will be subject to the same applicable formalities and, in that case, the interests of any 
shareholders objecting to the delisting resolution or who do not vote for it will be protected, 
complying with the requirements stipulated in the companies act and other applicable provi-
sions, in pursuance of the Securities market act 24/1988 of 28 July and relevant statutory 
instruments in force from time to time.

10 .  Implementation of the Capital Increase
Within a period of one year from the date of this resolution, the Board of directors or, by 
substitution, the delegate committee, may implement the capital increase, setting the date 
for it and any conditions not expressed in this resolution.

this notwithstanding, if the Board of directors (with express powers of substitution) does not 
consider it convenient to make the capital increase within the time stipulated, owing to prevailing 
market conditions, circumstances of the company and any deriving from a socially or economi-
cally important event or circumstance, it may submit a proposal to the Shareholders’ meeting 
to revoke it. the capital increase will have no effect if the Board of directors or, by substitution, 
the delegate committee, does not exercise the powers delegated to it within the period of one 
year, in which case it will report on that at the first Shareholders’ meeting held thereafter.

after the end of the trading period for the free-of-charge allocation rights in respect of the 
capital increase: 

a. the new Shares will be allocated to those shareholders who hold free-of-charge allocation 
rights according to the registers kept by Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, 
Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) and its members, in the 
proportions deriving from the preceding sections.

b. the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee will declare the free-of-charge 
allocation rights trading period over and will apply the reserves in the company’s accounts in 
the amount of the capital increase, which will be deemed paid up by that application.

in addition, after the end of the free-of-charge allocation rights trading period, the Board of 
directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, will adopt the corresponding resolution 
to (i) modify the articles of association in order to reflect the new amount of the capital and 
the number of new Shares corresponding to the capital increase; and (ii) apply for listing 
of the new Shares from the capital increase on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia 
stock exchanges and the Buenos aires stock exchange.

11 . Delegation of powers to implement the Capital Increase
the Board of directors is authorized, pursuant to article 297.1.a) of the companies act, with 
express power to substitute to the delegate committee, to establish the conditions of the 
capital increase in any aspects not contemplated in this resolution. in particular, but by no 
means exclusively, the Board of directors, with express power to delegate to the delegate 
committee, is authorized to: 

a. Specify, within the times established in point 10 above, the date on which the capital increase 
approved by this resolution is to be made and the reserves against which it is to be made, 
from those contemplated in the resolution.

b. define the exact amount of the capital increase, the number of new Shares and the free-
of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation of new Shares in the capital increase, 
applying the rules established for this purpose at this Shareholders’ meeting.

c. at the date of implementation of the capital increase, name the entity or entities that are to 
act as agent and/or financial adviser and sign such contracts and other documents as may 
be necessary for this purpose.

d. Set the duration of the trading period for free-of-charge allocation rights, which will be at least 
fifteen calendar days as from publication of the announcement of the capital increase in the 
official gazette of the commercial registry.

e. define the period during which the purchase commitment will be effective and implement 
the purchase commitment, paying the corresponding sums to the holders of free-of-charge 
allocation rights who have accepted that commitment.

f. declare the capital increase closed and completed, determining the incomplete allocation, 
if appropriate.

g. re-draft articles 5 and 6 of the company’s articles of association regarding the capital and 
shares, respectively, to adjust them to the outcome of the capital increase. 

h. Waive any new Shares corresponding to the free-of-charge allocation rights held by the company 
at the end of the rights trading period acquired pursuant to the purchase commitment.

i. if appropriate, waive free-of-charge allocation rights to subscribe new Shares for the sole 
purpose of ensuring that the number of new Shares is a whole number and not a fraction.

j. complete whatever formalities may be necessary to have the new Shares corresponding to 
the capital increase entered in the accounting registers kept by Sociedad de Gestión de los 
Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) and 
listed on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock exchanges and the Buenos aires 
stock exchange, according to the procedures established on each of those stock exchanges; 
and take whatsoever action may be necessary or convenient to make the capital increase 
and complete the appropriate formalities in respect of Spanish or foreign, public or private 
entities or authorities, including the duties to declare, supplement or remedy any defects or 
omissions that may hamper or impede the full effectiveness of the foregoing resolutions. 
the Board of directors is expressly authorized to delegate, in turn, the powers vested in it by 
this resolution, pursuant to article 249.2 of the companies act. 

 resolution proposal related to the eleventh point of the agenda  
 (“Second increase of share capital in a determinable amount  
 pursuant to the terms of the resolution, by issuing new common  
 shares having a par value of one (1) euro each, of the same class  
 and series as those currently outstanding, charged to reserves,  
 offering shareholders the possibility of selling the free-of-charge  
 allocation rights to the company itself or on the market. delegation  
 of powers to the Board of directors or, by substitution, to the  
 delegate committee, to fix the date the increase is to be  
 implemented and the terms of the increase in all respects  
 not provided for by the general meeting, all in accordance with  
 article 297(1)(a) of the companies act. application for admission  
 of the newly issued shares to listing on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao  
 and valencia stock exchanges through the automated Quotation  
 System (Sistema de interconexión Bursátil) and on the Buenos aires  
 stock exchange.”)

to approve an increase of share capital (the “capital increase”) by the amount resulting from 
multiplying: (a) the par value of one euro (1 €) per share of repsol ypf, S.a. (the “company”) 
by (b) the total number new shares of the company to be determined by the formula outlined 
in point 2 below. the capital increase will be made on the following conditions: 

1 . Capital increase with a charge to reserves
the capital increase will be made by the issue and placement into circulation of a determi-
nable number of new shares of the company resulting from the formula set out in point 
2 below (the new shares issued in execution of this resolution will hereinafter be referred to 
as “new Shares” and each one of them, individually, as a “new Share”).

the capital increase will be made by the issue and placement into circulation of the new 
Shares, which will be ordinary shares with a par value of one euro (1 €) each, of the same class 
and series and with the same rights as those currently issued, in book-entry form. 

the capital increase will be made entirely against voluntary reserves from retained earnings. 
When making the capital increase, the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate 
committee, will specify the reserve to be used and the amount of that reserve according to 
the balance sheet for the transaction.

the new Shares will be issued at par, i.e., at their par value of one euro (1 €), with no share 
premium, and will be allocated to the company shareholders without charge. 

Within the year following the approval of this resolution, the capital increase may be imple-
mented by the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, without having 
further recourse to the general Shareholders’ meeting and taking account of the legal and 
financial conditions prevailing at the date of the capital increase, in order to offer the company’s 
shareholders a flexible and efficient remuneration formula.
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pursuant to article 311 of the companies act, the possibility of an incomplete allocation of 
the capital increase is foreseen.

2 . New Shares to be issued in the Capital Increase
the maximum number of new Shares to be issued in the capital increase will be determined 
by applying the following formula, rounded down to the nearest whole number:

MNNS = NES / No. Rights per share

where, 

“mnnS” = maximum number of new Shares to be issued in the capital increase; 

“neS” = number of outstanding company shares on the date the Board of directors or, by 
substitution, the delegate committee, resolves to implement the capital increase; and

“no. rights per share” = number of free-of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation 
of one new Share in the capital increase, resulting from the following formula, rounded up 
to the nearest whole number:

No. Rights per share = NES /Provisional no. shares

where, 

“provisional no. shares” = amount of the alternative option / Share price

for this purpose, “Share price” will be the arithmetic mean of the weighted average prices of 
the company’s share on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock exchanges over the 
five (5) trading sessions prior to the date of the resolution adopted by the Board of directors 
or, by substitution, the delegate committee to implement the capital increase, rounded up 
or down to the nearest thousandth of a euro and, in the event of half a thousandth of a euro, 
rounded up to the nearest thousandth of a euro. 

“amount of the alternative option” will be the market value of the capital increase, to be 
determined by the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, considering 
the outstanding company shares (neS) and the remuneration already paid to shareholders 
from earnings of the fiscal year 2012 and not exceeding 775,553,515 euro. 

3 . Free-of-charge allocation rights
each outstanding share of the company will confer one (1) free-of-charge allocation rights. 

the number of free-of-charge allocation rights required to receive one new Share will be 
determined automatically according to the ratio of the number of maximum number of new 
Shares (mnnS) to the number of outstanding shares (neS), resulting from the formula 
indicated in point 2 above. in particular, shareholders will be entitled to receive one new 
Share for a number of free-of-charge allocation rights determined according to point 2 above 
(no. rights per share) that they may hold.

if the number of free-of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation of one share 
(no. rights per share) multiplied by the maximum number of new Shares (mnnS) is lower 
than the number of outstanding shares (neS), the company will waive a number of free-of-
charge allocation rights equal to the difference between the two figures, for the sole purpose 
of ensuring that the number of new Shares is a whole number and not a fraction.

free -of-charge allocation rights will be allocated in the capital increase to the company’s 
shareholders who are recognized as such in the accounting registers of Sociedad de Gestión de 
los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) at 
23:59 madrid time on the date on which the announcement of the capital increase is published 
in the official gazette of the commercial registry.

the holders of any convertible debentures into repsol ypf shares that may be outstanding at 
the date on which the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee resolves 
to implement the capital increase will not have free-of-charge allocation right over the new 
Shares, notwithstanding the modifications to be made to the conversion rate by virtue of the 
terms of each issue.

the free-of-charge allocation rights may be traded on the same conditions as the shares in respect 
of which they are granted and may be traded on the market for such time as may be determined 
by the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, at least fifteen (15) calendar 
days, commencing on the day after the date on which the announcement of the capital increase 
is published in the official gazette of the commercial registry. during the period of trading of 
the free-of-charge allocation rights of the capital increase, sufficient rights may be acquired on 
the market in the necessary proportion to be able to subscribe new Shares.

4 . Irrevocable undertaking to purchase free-of-charge allocation rights
the company irrevocably undertakes to purchase the free-of-charge allocation rights assigned 
in the capital increase from the shareholders recognized as such at the date on which the 
announcement of the capital increase is published in the official gazette of the commercial 
registry at the price indicated below (the “purchase commitment”). 

the purchase commitment will only cover the rights originally and freely received by the 
shareholders, not those purchased on the market, and will be in force and may be accepted 
during such time, within the trading period of the rights, as may be determined by the Board of 
directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee. for this purpose, the company will be 
authorized to purchase those free-of-charge allocation rights (and the corresponding shares) up 
to and not exceeding the total rights issued, respecting all and any applicable legal limits.

the “purchase price” for each free-of-charge allocation right will be calculated applying the 
following formula, rounded up or down to the nearest thousandth of a euro and, in the event 
of half a thousandth of a euro, rounded up to the nearest thousandth of a euro: 

Purchase Price = Share Price / (No. Rights per share + 1)

the company will foreseeably waive the new Shares corresponding to the free-of-charge 
allocation rights acquired under the purchase commitment so the capital will be increased 
only by the amount corresponding to the free-of-charge allocation rights in respect of which 
there has been no waiver.

5 . Balance sheet for the operation and reserve against which the Capital Increase 
is made
the balance sheet on which this operation is based is the balance sheet for the year 
ended 31 december 2011, duly audited and approved by this ordinary Shareholders’ meeting. 

as mentioned earlier, the capital increase will be made entirely against the voluntary reserves 
from retained earnings. When implementing the capital increase, the Board of directors or, 
by substitution, the delegate committee, will specify the reserve to be used and the amount 
of that reserve according to the balance sheet used as the basis for the capital increase.

6 . Representation of the New Shares
the new Shares will be issued in book-entry form, the accounting register being kept by 
Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. 
Unipersonal (iberclear) and its members.

7 . Rights of the New Shares
as from the date on which the capital increase is declared subscribed and paid up, the new 
Shares will confer upon their holders the same voting and economic rights as the company’s 
outstanding ordinary shares. 

8 . Shares on deposit
at the end of the trading period for the free-of-charge allocation rights, any new Shares that 
have not been allocated for reasons beyond the company’s control will be held on deposit 
for any investors who can prove that they are the legitimate owners of the corresponding 
free-of-charge allocation rights. if any new Shares are still pending allocation three (3) years 
after the end of the trading period of the free-of-charge allocation rights, they may be sold, 
pursuant to article 117 of the companies act, for the account and risk of the interested parties. 
the net proceeds from the sale will be deposited at the Bank of Spain or government depo-
sitory (Caja General de Depósitos) at the disposal of the interested parties.

9 . Application for listing
it is resolved to apply for listing of the new Shares on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and 
valencia stock exchanges through the automated Quotation System (Sistema de Interconexión 
Bursátil) and to complete whatever formalities and actions may be necessary and file such 
documents as may be required with the competent authorities for listing of the new Shares 
on the Buenos aires stock exchange, expressly putting on record that the company submits 
to existing or future laws and regulations governing the stock market, particularly regarding 
trading, minimum time frames and delisting.

it is expressly declared that if the company subsequently applies for delisting of its shares, 
this will be subject to the same applicable formalities and, in that case, the interests of any 
shareholders objecting to the delisting resolution or who do not vote for it will be protected, 
complying with the requirements stipulated in the companies act and other applicable provi-
sions, in pursuance of the Securities market act 24/1988 of 28 July and relevant statutory 
instruments in force from time to time.
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10 .  Implementation of the Capital Increase
Within a period of one year from the date of this resolution, the Board of directors or, by 
substitution, the delegate committee, may implement the capital increase, setting the date 
for it and any conditions not expressed in this resolution.

this notwithstanding, if the Board of directors (with express powers of substitution) does 
not consider it convenient to make the capital increase within the time stipulated, owing 
to prevailing market conditions, circumstances of the company and any deriving from a 
socially or economically important event or circumstance, it may submit a proposal to the 
Shareholders’ meeting to revoke it. the capital increase will have no effect if the Board 
of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, does not exercise the powers 
delegated to it within the period of one year, in which case it will report on that at the first 
Shareholders’ meeting held thereafter.

after the end of the trading period for the free-of-charge allocation rights in respect of the 
capital increase: 

a. the new Shares will be allocated to those shareholders who hold free-of-charge allocation 
rights according to the registers kept by Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, 
Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) and its members, in the 
proportions deriving from the preceding sections.

b. the Board of directors or, by substituion, the delegate committee will declare the free-of-charge 
allocation rights trading period over and will apply the reserves in the company’s accounts in 
the amount of the capital increase, which will be deemed paid up by that application.

in addition, after the end of the free-of-charge allocation rights trading period, the Board of 
directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, will adopt the corresponding resolution 
to (i) modify the articles of association in order to reflect the new amount of the capital and 
the number of new Shares corresponding to the capital increase; and (ii) apply for listing 
of the new Shares from the capital increase on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia 
stock exchanges and the Buenos aires stock exchange.

11 . Delegation of powers to implement the Capital Increase
the Board of directors is authorized, pursuant to article 297.1.a) of the companies act, with 
express power to substitute to the delegate committee, to establish the conditions of the 
capital increase in any aspects not contemplated in this resolution. in particular, but by no 
means exclusively, the Board of directors, with express power to delegate to the delegate 
committee, is authorized to: 

a. Specify, within the times established in point 10 above, the date on which the capital increase 
approved by this resolution is to be made, determine the amount of the alternative option, and 
specify the reserves against which it is to be made, from those contemplated in the resolution.

b. define the exact amount of the capital increase, the number of new Shares and the free-
of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation of new Shares in the capital increase, 
applying the rules established for this purpose at this Shareholders’ meeting.

c. at the date of implementation of the capital increase, name the entity or entities that are to 
act as agent and/or financial adviser and sign such contracts and other documents as may 
be necessary for this purpose.

d. Set the duration of the trading period for free-of-charge allocation rights, which will be at least 
fifteen calendar days as from publication of the announcement of the capital increase in the 
official gazette of the commercial registry.

e. define the period during which the purchase commitment will be effective and implement 
the purchase commitment, paying the corresponding sums to the holders of free-of-charge 
allocation rights who have accepted that commitment.

f. declare the capital increase closed and completed, determining the incomplete allocation, 
if appropriate.

g. re-draft articles 5 and 6 of the company’s articles of association regarding the capital and 
shares, respectively, to adjust them to the outcome of the capital increase. 

h. Waive any new Shares corresponding to the free-of-charge allocation rights held by the company 
at the end of the rights trading period acquired pursuant to the purchase commitment.

i. if appropriate, waive free-of-charge allocation rights to subscribe new Shares for the sole 
purpose of ensuring that the number of new Shares is a whole number and not a fraction.

j. complete whatever formalities may be necessary to have the new Shares corresponding to 
the capital increase entered in the accounting registers kept by Sociedad de Gestión de los 
Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) and 

listed on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock exchanges and the Buenos aires 
stock exchange, according to the procedures established on each of those stock exchanges; 
and take whatsoever action may be necessary or convenient to make the capital increase 
and complete the appropriate formalities in respect of Spanish or foreign, public or private 
entities or authorities, including the duties to declare, supplement or remedy any defects or 
omissions that may hamper or impede the full effectiveness of the foregoing resolutions. 
the Board of directors is expressly authorized to delegate, in turn, the powers vested in it by 
this resolution, pursuant to article 249.2 of the companies act. 

 resolution proposal related to the twelfth point of the agenda  
 (“modify the corporate name of the company and subsequent  
 modification of article 1 of the Bylaws”)

 

to modify the corporate name of the company that from now on will be “repSol, S.a.” and 
subsequently, to modify article 1 of the Bylaws which will have the following wording:

“Article 1. Corporate name

The corporate name of the Company is REPSOL, S.A. It is governed by these Bylaws, its Internal Regu-
lations, the legal provisions governing listed companies and any applicable general provisions.”

 resolution proposal related to the thirteenth point of the agenda  
 (“delegation to the Board of directors of the power to issue fixed  
 rate, convertible and/or exchangeable securities for company shares  
 or exchangeable for shares in other companies, as well as warrants  
 (options to subscribe new shares or to acquire shares in circulation  
 of the company or other companies). fixing the criteria to determine  
 the bases and modes of conversion and/or exchange and attribution  
 to the Board of directors of the powers to increase capital by the  
 amount necessary, as well as to totally or partially exclude the  
 pre-emptive subscription rights of the shareholders of said issues.  
 authorisation for the company to guarantee securities issued by  
 its subsidiaries. to leave without effect, in the portion not used,  
 the sixteenth B) resolution of the general Shareholders’ meeting  
 held on 15 april 2011.”):

a. to leave without effect, in the portion not used, the sixteenth B) resolution of the general 
Shareholders’ meeting held on 15 april 2011. 

b. to delegate to the Board of directors, according to the general regime on issuing debentures 
and in accordance with articles 511 of the companies act and 319 of the regulations of the 
commercial registry, applying by similarity article 297.1.b) of the companies act, and in 
accordance with articles 12, 12.bis and 13 of the Bylaws, the power to issue, on one or several 
occasions, negotiable securities according to the following conditions: 

1 . Securities object of issue . the negotiable securities referred to in this delegation may 
be debentures, bonds and other fixed rate securities of a similar nature, exchangeable 
for company shares in circulation and/or convertible in newly issued company shares. 
likewise, this delegation may also be used to issue warrants (options to subscribe new 
company shares or acquire company shares in circulation) and other securities exchangeable 
for shares of other companies in circulation.

2 . Period . the securities may be issued on one or several occasions, at any time, within the 
maximum period of five (5) years from the date of adopting this resolution.

3 . Maximum amount . the maximum amount of the issue/s of securities agreed according to 
this delegation will be €8,400,000,000 or its equivalent in another currency. for the purpose 
of calculating the previous limit, in the case of warrants, the sum of premiums and prices of 
the warrants of each issue approved according to this delegation will be taken into account. 

 in turn, the maximum limit indicated is subdivided into two additional limits: 
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i. issues of securities convertible and/or exchangeable for company shares or warrants on 
newly issued company shares in which, in accordance with section B)(7) of this resolution, 
that exclude the pre-emption subscription right and whose aggregate maximum amount 
will be €4,400,000,000 or its equivalent in another currency, and

ii. issues of securities convertible and/or exchangeable for company shares or warrants 
in which the pre-emption subscription right is not excluded or securities (including 
warrants) exchangeable for shares in other companies and whose maximum aggregate 
amount may not exceed €4,000,000,000 or its equivalent in another currency.

4 . Scope of the delegation . including, but not limited to, it is the responsibility of the 
Board of directors to determine, for each issue, (i) its value (respecting at all times 
the applicable quantitative limits), (ii) the number of securities and their par value; (iii) 
applicable legislation; (iv) the place of issue -national or foreign- and (v) the currency, 
in the case of foreign currency, its equivalent in euros; (vi) the form, whether bonds 
or debentures - including subordinates - or any other accepted by law; (vii) the date or 
dates of issue; (viii) the interest rate, (ix) the procedures and dates of payment of the 
coupon; (x) the amortisation period and the expiry date; (xi) the guarantees, form of 
payment and batches and premiums; (xii) the form of representation, whether by titles 
or account entries; (xiii) where appropriate, pre-emption subscription right and subs-
cription regime; (xiv) where appropriate, request acceptance to negotiation in official 
or unofficial secondary markets, organised or not, national or foreign, of the securities 
issued with the requirements demanded in each case by current legislation, and (xv) in 
general, any other condition for issue, (xvi) as well as, when applicable, appointing the 
commissary and approving the fundamental rules that must govern the legal relations 
between the company and the union of holders of the securities issued.

 the Board of directors is also authorised, when deemed convenient and when applicable, 
subject to obtaining the appropriate authorisations and the approval of the corresponding 
assemblies of the unions of holders of the securities, to modify the repayment condi-
tions of the fixed rate securities issued and their respective periods and interest rates 
which, where appropriate, are accrued by those included in each of the issues made in 
accordance with this authorisation.

5 . Bases and forms of conversion and/or exchange . for the case of issuing debentures 
or bonds convertible in new company shares and/or exchangeable for company shares 
in circulation, for the purpose of establishing the bases and forms of conversion and/or 
exchange, the following criteria are agreed:

i. the securities will be convertible to new company shares and/or exchangeable for 
shares in circulation in accordance with a fixed (determined or undetermined) or 
variable conversion and/or exchange ratio. the Board of directors is authorised to 
determine if they are convertible and/or exchangeable, as well as to establish whether 
this is voluntary or they must be convertible and/or exchangeable and; in voluntary 
cases, if they are converted and/or exchanged at the will of the holder or issuer; the 
frequency and period, which will be established in the issue resolution and no longer 
than fifteen (15) days from the date of issue.

ii. in the case that the issue is convertible and exchangeable, the Board of directors may 
agree that the issuer reserves the right to opt, at any time, between the conversion in new 
shares or their exchange for shares in circulation, specifying the nature of the shares to be 
given at the time of conversion or exchange. a combination of newly issued shares and 
pre-existing shares may be given. in any case, the issuer must respect the equal treatment 
of all fixed rate security holders that are converted and/or exchanged on the same date.

iii. to the effects of conversion and/or exchange, the fixed rate securities will be evaluated 
for their par value, and the shares at the exchange rate established by the Board of 
directors in the resolution in which it makes use of this delegation, or at the exchange 
rate to be determined on the date or dates indicated in said resolution, according 
to the listing value in the stock market of company shares on the date/s or in the 
period/s taken as a reference in the same resolution, with or without discount and, in 
any case, with a minimum of the highest of the following two (the “minimum value”): 
(a) the average exchange rate of the shares in the continuous market of Spanish Stock 
markets, according to closing rates, the average listing value or other listing reference, 
during a period to be determined by the Board of directors, no more than three (3) 
months nor less than three (3) days, which must end no later the day before the date 
of adopting the resolution to issue securities by the Board of directors, and (b) the 
exchange rate of the shares on the continuous market according to the closing rate on 
the day prior to adopting said issue resolution. if the issue is mandatory convertible 

and/or exchange, in the event that the listing closing price, the average listing value or 
another reference listing value on the date prior to conversion or a period not exceeding 
three (3) months prior to that conversion would be lower or higher than the minimum 
value by a percentage to be determined by the Board of directors but, in any case, 
not less than 20%, the Board may establish one or more of the following measures: 
eliminate the possibility of conversion and/or exchange; or adapt the value of the 
shares for the conversion and/or exchange; or postpone the time of that conversion 
and/or exchange; or further include the possibility of pay cash to securities holders 
by reason of its redemption, conversion and/or exchange.

iv. it may also be agreed to issue convertible and/or exchangeable fixed rate securities with 
a variable ratio of conversion and/or exchange. in this case, the price of the shares for 
the purpose of conversion and/or exchange will be the average of the closing prices, 
average prices or other listing reference of the company shares in the continuous market 
during a period to be determined by the Board of directors; no more than three (3) 
months nor less than three (3) days, which must end no later the day before the date of 
conversion and/or exchange, with a premium or, where appropriate, a discount on said 
price per share. the premium or discount can be different for each date of conversion 
and/or exchange of each issue (or, when appropriate, each stage of an issue), although 
in the case of setting a discount on the price per share, this may not be greater than 
30%. in addition, under the terms approved by the Board of directors, a minimum and/
or maximum reference price of the shares for the purpose of their conversion and/or 
exchange may be established, as limits.

v. When effecting the conversion and/or exchange, the fraction of shares that may corres-
pond to be given to the fixed rate security holder will be rounded down to the nearest 
full number, and each holder will receive the difference that may be produced in cash.

vi. in accordance with that established in article 415 of the companies act, the value of the 
share for the purpose of the conversion ratio of the debentures for shares may in no 
case be lower than its par value. neither may convertible debentures be issued for an 
amount lower than their par value.

 the above criteria will be applied, mutatis mutandi and insofar as they are applicable, in 
relation to the issue of fixed rate securities (or warrants) exchangeable for shares in other 
companies. if appropriate, the references to Spanish stock markets will be made to the 
markets where the shares specified are listed.

 at the time of agreeing the issue of convertible and/or exchangeable debentures in accor-
dance with the authorisation granted by the general meeting, the Board of directors will 
issue a report developing and specifying, in light of the criteria detailed above, the bases and 
forms of conversion specifically applicable to said issue. this report will be accompanied 
by the corresponding auditors’ report established in article 414.2 of the companies act.

6 . Rights of holders of convertible securities . While it is possible to convert and/or exchange 
fixed rate securities in shares or to exercise warrants, their holders will enjoy as many rights 
as are conferred to them by current regulations.

7 . Capital increase and exclusion of the pre-emption subscription right of convertible secu-
rities . the delegation of powers to the Board of directors also includes, without limitation, 
the following powers:

i. the power, by virtue of that established in articles 308 and 511 of the companies act, 
that the Board of directors may exclude, totally or partially, the pre-emption subscription 
right of shareholders when this is demanded by company interests, in the framework 
of a specific issue of convertible debentures that, in accordance with this authorisation, 
it may possibly decide to execute. in this case, the Board of directors will issue, at the 
time of adopting the issue resolution, a report detailing the specific reasons of company 
interest that justify the said measure, which will be the object of the mandatory auditors’ 
report, in accordance with that established in article 511.3 of the companies act. Both 
reports will be made available to shareholders and will be communicated at the first 
general meeting held after adopting the issue resolution.

ii. the power to increase capital by the amount necessary to attend to the requests for 
conversion of the convertible debentures. Said power may only be exercised inas-
much as the Board of directors, adding the capital increased to attend to the issue 
of convertible debentures and the remaining capital increases that may have been 
agreed in accordance with the authorisations granted by the general meeting, does 
not exceed half of the capital amount stipulated in article 297.1.b) of the Stock compa-
nies act or the lower limit established in the general meeting authorisation for the 
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case of the issue excluding the pre-emption subscription right. this authorisation to 
increase capital includes the authorisation to issue and put into circulation, on one 
or several occasions, the shares necessary to carry out the conversion, as well as the 
authorisation to redraft the article of the Bylaws related to the amount of capital and 
to, if appropriate, annul the part of said capital increase that had not been necessary 
to attend the conversion.

iii. in accordance with the criteria established in number 5 above, the power to develop and 
specify the bases and forms of conversion and/or exchange, including, among other matters, 
setting the moment of the conversion and/or exchange and, in general and in the fullest 
terms, to determine as many extremes and conditions necessary or convenient for issue.

 the Board of directors, in the general meetings held by the company from now on, will 
inform shareholders of the use, where appropriate and until the time of holding said meetings, 
that it has made of this delegation to issue convertible and/or exchangeable debentures. 

8 . Convertible warrants: the rules established in sections 5 and 7 above will be applied, mutatis 
mutandi, in the case of issuing warrants or other similar securities that may directly or 
indirectly give rise to the right to subscribe newly issued company shares. the delegation 
includes the widest powers, with the same scope as the above numbers, to decide all that 
is convenient in relation to said type of securities.

9 . Admission to negotiation . When appropriate, the company will request the admission 
to negotiation in official or unofficial secondary markets, organised or not, national 
or foreign, of the debentures, bonds, warrants and any other securities issued by the 
company in accordance with this delegation, carrying out in such a case all the procedures 
and actions necessary for the admission to listing before the competent bodies of the 
different national or foreign securities markets, for which the widest powers are granted 
to the Board of directors.

10 . Guarantee of issues of fixed rate securities . the Board of directors is equally authorised, 
during a period of five (5) years, to guarantee, in the name of the company, the issues of 
fixed rate securities referred to in this delegation resolution made by the companies that 
belong to its group of companies. 

11 . Substitution by the Delegate Committee . the Board of directors is authorised to dele-
gate in turn, in favour of the delegate committee, the delegated powers referred to in 
this resolution. 

 proposed resolution corresponding to item fourteenth on the agenda  
 (“ratification of the creation of the company’s corporate website  
 www.repsol.com ”)

to ratify the creation of the company’s corporate website www .repsol .com, considered as the 
electronic headquarters of the company for the purposes contemplated in article 11 bis of the 
companies act, introduced by act 25/2011 of 1 august on the partial reform of the companies 
act, in force as from october 2, 2011.

the creation of the company’s corporate website was announced and registered in the madrid 
commercial registry prior to the entry into force of article 11bis of the companies act.

the main functions of the company’s corporate website are allowing the exercise by share-
holders of their information right and publishing the information required by regulations on 
companies and the securities market.

 proposed resolution corresponding to item fifteenth on the agenda  
 (“advisory vote on the report on the remuneration policy for  
 directors of repsol ypf, S.a. for 2011”)

to approve, by advisory vote, on the annual report on the remuneration policy for direc-
tors of repsol ypf, S.a. for the fiscal year 2011, the text of which has been made available 
to shareholders together with the other documents for the Shareholders’ meeting as from 
the date of call.

 resolution proposal related to the sixteenth point of the agenda  
 (“delegation of powers to complement, develop, execute, correct and  
 formalise the resolutions adopted by the general meeting”)

first. to delegate in the Board of directors with the widest range possible, including the power 
to delegate fully or in part the powers received in the delegate committee, as many powers 
necessary to complement, develop, execute and correct any of the resolutions adopted by the 
general meeting. the power to correct will include the power to make as many modifications, 
amendments and additions necessary or convenient as a consequence of objections or observa-
tions raised by the securities markets regulating bodies, the Securities markets, the mercantile 
registry and any other public authority with competence related to the resolutions adopted.

Second. to delegate jointly and indistinctly in the chairman of the Board of directors and the 
Secretary and vice-chairman of the board, the powers necessary to formalise the resolutions 
adopted by the general meeting, and to register that subject to this requirement, in full or 
in part, including the powers related to formalising the deposit of annual accounts, being 
able for this purpose to sign all kinds of public or private documents, even to complement 
or correct said resolutions.
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the audit and control committee agreed, in its meeting of april 16, 2012, to propose to 
the Board of directors, for its later submission to the general Shareholders’ meeting, the 
re-election of the entity deloitte, S.l. as auditor of repsol ypf, S.a. and of its consolidated 
group for the fiscal year 2012. 

 report by the Board of directors on the proposed resolutions   
 corresponding to items fourth, fifth and Sixth on the agenda  
 referring to the reform on the corporate governance of the company

1. purpose of the report
pursuant to article 286 of the companies act and article 2 of the regulations of the general 
Shareholders’ meeting, the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. (“Repsol”, the “Company” 
or the “Company”) issues this report to justify the proposal for modifying certain articles of 
the Bylaws and the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting, which are submitted 
to the Shareholders’ meeting for approval.

2. general justification of the proposal
repsol has an extraordinarily advanced corporate governance structure and the best proof of 
this is the high degree of compliance with the recommendations set out in the unified code 
of good governance of listed companies (the “Good Governance Code”), putting it in the 
vanguard of Spanish companies. of the 54 recommendations of that code that are applicable 
to the company, repsol complies with all 54 (5 of them partially). however, the company is 
aware that corporate governance is a matter or discipline under continuous debate and in 
permanent evolution and, consequently, its Board of directors applies a continuous review 
policy in respect of the company’s internal regulations, with the ultimate aim of making sure 
that it has at all times a sound corporate governance system, adapted to the specific circums-
tances of the company and updated to the best practices. the task it has been commissioned 
of protecting corporate interests requires the Board to be alert and to react adequately to any 
risks that may arise from time to time and to assess the ideas, trends and proposals that arise 
within the appropriate discussion forums, all with the aim of incorporating the most appropriate 
good governance recommendations and practices in the company’s internal regulations.

in line with this philosophy, on 28 September 2011 the Board of directors publicly announced, 
in a regulatory announcement (registration no. 150581), its intention to reform the corporate 
governance of repsol. the Board began the first phase of that reform on 25 January 2012 
when, upon recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee, it approved 
(i) submitting to the Shareholders’ meeting proposals to modify the company’s Bylaws; and 
(ii) modifying the regulations of the Board of directors, all with a view to reinforcing the 
measures for protecting the corporate interests in cases of conflicts of interest deriving from 
related party transactions and situations of competition (see the regulatory announcement 
of 25 January 2012, registration no. 157042). at the date of preparing this report the Board, 
upon recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee, is commencing the 
second phase of the reform (formulating proposals for further modifications of the Bylaws and 
the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting announced in September and January) 
and at the same time completes the first phase (formulating proposals for modifications of 
the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting complementary to the proposals for 
modification of the Bylaws formulated in January). 

the purpose of this report is to justify the proposals for modification of the Bylaws and the 
regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting (as drawn up by the Board of directors on 
25 January 2012 and 17 april 2012). all together, they form a single reform of repsol’s corporate 
governance regulations, corresponding to the following objectives:

i. adapt the company’s corporate governance regulations to the most recent changes in law 
and, in particular, those introduced in the companies act by act 25/2011 of 1 august on the 
partial reform of the companies act and incorporation of directive 2007/36/ecof the european 
parliament and of the council of 11 July 2007 on the exercise of certain rights of shareholders 
in listed companies (“Shareholders’ Rights Act”), by royal decree-law 9/2012 of 16 march 
on simplification of the reporting obligations and documentation of mergers and demergers 
of corporate enterprises (“Royal Decree-Law on Simplification of Reporting Obligations”) 
and by act 2/2011 of 4 march on Sustainable economy (the “Sustainable Economy Act”).

Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 2012 
Reports of the Board of Directors  
on the Resolution Proposals

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related  
 to the first point of the agenda (“revision and approval,  
 if appropriate, of the annual accounts and management report  
 of repsol ypf, S.a., of the consolidated annual accounts  
 and the consolidated management report, corresponding  
 to the fiscal year ending on 31 december 2011, and of the proposal  
 of application of earnings”).

the annual accounts and the different documents which make up said accounts, in accor-
dance with the trading code, the consolidated text of the Stock companies act and other 
applicable provisions, including current sectorial regulations, both the individual repsol ypf, 
S.a. accounts and the consolidated accounts of its group of companies, together with the 
management report of repsol ypf, S.a. and the consolidated management report, have 
been formulated by the Board of directors during their meeting of 28 february 2012, after their 
revision by the audit and control committee and by the internal transparency committee 
of repsol ypf, S.a., and following their certification by the chief executive officer and by the 
chief financial officer. 

the management reports, individual and consolidated, include as an appendix in a separate 
section, the corporate governance annual report for the fiscal year 2011 which also includes 
another annex with the additional information required by article 61 bis of the Securities market 
act pursuant to the wording provided by law 2/2011 of march 4 on Sustainable economy.

these annual accounts and the management reports have been reviewed by the exterbal 
auditors of repsol ypf, S.a. and its consolidated group.

all these documents, together with the auditors’ reports, are available to shareholders at 
our registered office, paseo de la castellana, number 278, 28046 madrid where they can also 
request their free delivery to the address they may indicate. 

likewise, said documents are available through the company’s website (www.repsol.com).

in addition to the approval of the annual accounts, we equally propose, as in previous years, 
the approval of the application of earnings, as indicated in the individual report.

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related  
 to the second point of the agenda (“revision and approval,  
 if appropriate, of the management of the Board of directors of repsol  
 ypf, S.a. corresponding to fiscal year 2011”).

in accordance with article 164 of the companies act, the management developed by the Board 
of directors during fiscal year 2011 is subjected to approval by shareholders, the remuneration 
of the directors is detailed in the annual accounts report, in the corporate governance annual 
report and in the report on directors’ remuneration policy.

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related  
 to the third point of the agenda (“appointment of auditor of repsol  
 ypf, S.a. and its consolidated group for fiscal year 2012.”)

the proposal presented by the Board of directors to the general meeting for this point of 
the agenda has been approved at the request of the audit and control committee, which is 
responsible, in accordance with the regulations of the Board of directors, for selecting the 
external auditor of the company and its consolidated group.
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in addition, the proposed modification improves certain technical aspects of the current 
wording of article 19. 

3 .1 .1 .2 Modification of Article 20 of the Bylaws (“Power and obligation to call”)

the proposal to modify article 20 is intended to adjust its wording to the second paragraph 
of article 168 of the companies act, as amended by the Shareholders’ rights act. this legal 
reform has finally solved the inconsistency with which Spanish company law regulated the 
time within which directors were to call a Shareholders’ meeting requested by shareholders 
representing at least 5% of the capital. under the new provision, incorporated in article 20 of 
the Bylaws, the directors must call the Shareholders’ meeting to be held within two months 
after the date of being so requested through notarial channels. 

3 .1 .1 .3 Modification of Article 28 of the Bylaws (“Right to information”)

the Shareholders’ rights act has introduced certain new features in the right to information 
of shareholders of listed companies: (i) it has extended the scope of application of the right to 
information -both prior to and during the shareholders’ meeting- to include clarifications of the 
auditor’s report; (ii) it has extended the right to request clarifications during the shareholders’ 
meeting to the information that the company has supplied to the cnmv since the holding 
of the last shareholders’ meeting; and (iii) it has qualified the right to information in general, 
indicating that directors will not be obliged to answer specific questions from shareholders 
when, before those questions are asked, the information requested is clearly and directly 
available to all shareholders on the company’s website, in the faQ section. 

the modification introduced in article 28 of the Bylaws aims not only to reflect these new 
features but also to improve and structure the current wording of this article.

3 .1 .1 .4 Addition of a new Article 45bis of the Bylaws (“Report on the Remuneration Policy  
for Directors”)

it is proposed inserting a new article 45bis in the Bylaws to regulate the essential contents of 
the report on the remuneration policy for directors contemplated in article 61ter of the Secu-
rities market act, inserted by the Sustainable economy act, and the obligation to put it to an 
advisory vote by the Shareholders’ meeting under a separate item of the agenda.

3 .1 .1 .5 Modification of Article 47 of the Bylaws (“Website”)

the proposal also affects article 47 of the Bylaws, which regulates the contents of the company’s 
website, because the Shareholders’ rights act has incorporated in articles 518 and 525 of the 
companies act certain mandatory provisions on information prior to shareholders’ meetings 
that must be posted on the corporate website and the publication of the results of votes on 
the resolutions adopted by the shareholders’ meeting, respectively.

thus, in line with the new wording of article 518 of the companies act, the proposal specifies 
that the information on the Shareholders’ meeting shall be permanently available from the 
date of publication of the call to the date of the meeting and reproduces the legal provisions 
on the contents of that information. as regards the results of voting, the proposal introduces 
in the Bylaws the details to be indicated in that information and the time within which it must 
be posted on the website (five days after the meeting), pursuant to the new wording of article 
525 of the companies act.

in addition, the reform indicates the current address of repsol’s website (www.repsol.com) 
and, in line with the new article 11bis of the companies act (introduced by the Shareholders’ 
rights act and amended by the royal decree-law on Simplification of reporting obligations), 
authorizes the Board to modify, move or eliminate the website and to modify the Bylaws accor-
dingly. it is contemplated that the resolution to modify, move or eliminate the website shall 
be entered in the company’s page of the commercial registry and published in the official 
gazette of the commercial registry and on the modified, moved or eliminated website for 
thirty days after insertion of the resolution.

finally, the reform expressly establishes the right of any shareholder to access and download 
information free of charge from the website, pursuant to the new article 11ter of the companies 
act, introduced by the royal decree-law on Simplification of reporting obligations.

3.1.2 Modification of Articles 5, 6, 8 and 14 of the Regulations of the General  
 Shareholders’ Meeting

3 .1 .2 .1 Modification of Article 5 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting  
(“Notice of call”)

the Shareholders’ rights act has reformed certain aspects regarding the notice of call and 
information prior to the Shareholders’ meeting, inter alia modifying articles 174 (contents of 

ii. reinforce the independence and improve the functioning of the Board of directors. it is also 
aims to specify the principle of prohibition of vote trading. all these measures are inspired 
by national and international corporate governance recommendations and the best practices 
applicable in this matter.

iii. Strengthen the measures for protecting the company’s corporate interests in conflicts of 
interest, particularly those deriving from related party transactions and situations of compe-
tition. the measures proposed for this purpose are also inspired by national and international 
corporate governance recommendations and, in the opinion of the Board and its advisers, 
are in keeping with the best practices and comparative law applicable in this matter. 

3. detailed justification of the proposal
the individual justification of the proposals for modificating repsol’s corporate governance 
regulations is set out below. for this purpose, they have been grouped into three blocks (sections 
0, 3.2 and 0) according to the main objective pursued by each one. the same principle was 
applied to arrange them under three different items (forth, fifth and Sixth) on the agenda. 

Some of the proposed modifications correspond to more than one of the objectives listed 
in section 0 above but, for practical reasons and for the sake of clarify, it has been opted to 
include them in just one of the three blocks.

purely for information, the wording of those proposals is included in a table at the end of each 
of these sections of this report, set against and comparing them with the existing wording of the 
corresponding provisions of the Bylaws or regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting.

3.1 Modifications to adjust the Company’s corporate governance regulations  
 to the recent changes in law (Item Four on the Agenda)
the proposals for modification of articles 19, 20, 28 and 47 and addition of a new article 
45bis of the Bylaws and modification of articles 5, 6, 8 and 14 of the regulations of the 
general Shareholders’ meeting are grouped together because they are all intended essentially 
to update the contents of those provisions and adapt them to the most recent changes in 
law. to achieve this, it is necessary to (i) complete the adaptation of those provisions to the 
companies act, begun with the reform approved at the general Shareholders’ meeting on 
15 april 2011; (ii) include certain provisions deriving from the Sustainable economy act; and, 
finally, (iii) incorporate certain new features deriving from the Shareholders’ rights act and 
the royal decree-law on Simplification of reporting obligations.

3.1.1 Modification of Articles 19, 20, 28 and 47 and addition of a new Article  
 45bis of the Bylaws

3 .1 .1 .1 Modification of Article 19 of the Bylaws (“Notice of Call”)

the purpose of the proposed modification of article 19 of the Bylaws is to adapt it to the 
wording set out in the Shareholders’ rights act to articles 174 (contents of the call), 177.3 
(prior warning of the holding of the general meeting on second call), 516 (publication of the 
notice of call), 517 (contents of the notice of call) and 519 (right to supplement the agenda 
and submit new proposed resolutions) of the companies act:

i. the new regulation on publicising the notice of call to shareholders’ meetings is introduced. 
the Shareholders’ rights act has amended article 516 of the companies act, reinforcing the 
publicity of the notice of call, requiring its publication in the official gazette of the commercial 
registry (Borme) or a newspaper having a large circulation, as well as on the websites of the 
company and the national Securities market commission (cnmv).

ii. the provisions of the Bylaws on the contents of notices of call are adapted to articles 174 and 
517 of the companies act, as amended by the Shareholders’ rights act. accordingly, in line with 
the first of these articles, the list of points to be included in the notice of call is completed with 
a reference to the position held by the persons calling the meeting. the special regulation of the 
minimum contents to be included in calls to shareholders’ meetings of listed companies (article 
517 of the companies act) is incorporated in article 19 of the Bylaws, even though the notices 
of call to shareholders’ meetings of repsol already complied in practice with this standard.

iii. the number of days’ notice that must be given for the holding on second call of a Shareholders’ 
meeting originally called only on first call is changed to reflect the new provision of article 
177.3 of the companies act, which sets the minimum notice at ten days. 

iv. finally, it has been considered convenient to add a reference to article 519 (right to supplement 
the agenda and to submit new proposed resolutions) of the companies act as amended by 
the Shareholders’ rights act, this being a special provision for listed companies.
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A . Bylaws

Current wording Proposal of amendment

Article 19 
Notice of call

ordinary and extraordinary shareholders’ 
meetings will be called by the board in a 
notice published in the official gazette of the 
mercantile registry and the company website 
(www.repsol.com) at least one month prior 
to the date of the meeting, other than if longer 
notice is required by law, in which case the 
legal provisions will be heeded. the notice 
of call published on the company’s website 
shall be accessible on the same at least until 
the date of the meeting. 

Article 19 
Notice of call

ordinary and extraordinary shareholders’ 
meetings will be called by the board in a 
notice published in the Official Gazette of 
the Mercantile Registry as stipulated in law 
and the company website (www .repsol .
com) in this Bylaws at least one month 
prior to the date of the meeting, other than 
if longer notice is required by law, in which 
case the legal provisions will be heeded. The 
notice of call shall be published at least in 
the following media: (i) the Official Gazette 
of the Commercial Registry and one of the 
daily newspapers having the largest circula-
tion in Spain; (ii) the website of the National 
Securities Market Commission (CNMV); 
and (iii) the Company’s website . the notice 
of call published on the company’s website 
shall be permanently available will be kept 
accessible on the same at least until the 
date of the meeting. The Board of Directors 
may also publish announcements in other 
media, if considered appropriate to give the 
notice of call greater publicity .

the notice of call shall contain the legally 
required information and, in any case, will 
express the name of the company, the date 
and time of the meeting on first call and the 
agenda of business to be transacted it may 
also mention the date and time on which the 
shareholders’ meeting is to be held on second 
call, if necessary. additionally, the board of 
directors may publish notices in other media, 
if considered appropriate, to give greater 
publicity to the notice of call.

the notice of call shall contain the legally 
required information and, in any case, will 
express the name of the company, the date 
and time of the meeting on first call and the 
agenda of business to be transacted and the 
position of the person or persons calling the 
meeting . it may also mention the date and time 
on which the shareholders’ meeting is to be 
held on second call, if necessary. Additionally, 
the board of directors may publish notices in 
other media, if considered appropriate, to give 
greater publicity to the notice of call . 

In this case, there must be at least twenty-
four hours between the first and second 
calls . The notice of call shall also indicate 
the date as of which shareholders must 
have registered in their name the shares 
entitling them to attend and vote at the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, how and where 
copies of the full wording of the documents 
and proposed resolutions can be obtained 
and the address of the Company’s website 
where the information is available .

In addition, the notice shall contain clear, 
precise details of the procedures for atten-
ding and voting at the General Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting, with particular mention of 
the following:

the call), 168 (time within which a shareholders’ meeting requested by minority shareholders 
is to be held), 177.3 (prior warning of the holding of the general meeting on second call), 
516 (publication of the notice of call), 517 (contents of the notice of call) and 519 (right to 
supplement the agenda and submit new proposed resolutions) of the companies act. 

the modification of article 5 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting is made 
to adapt it to the new wording of the aforesaid legal provisions and, therefore, it corresponds 
to the proposed reform of articles 19 and 20 of the Bylaws:

i. in article 5.1, (i) the new regulation of publication of the notice of call to shareholders’ meetings 
is introduced (article 516 of the companies act); (ii) the list of points to be included in the 
notice of call is completed (articles 174 and 517 of the companies act); and (iii) the number 
of days’ notice that must be given for the holding on second call of a Shareholders’ meeting 
originally called only on first call is also changed, pursuant to art. 177.3 of the companies act, 
now set at ten.

ii. article 5.2 is modified to contemplate the new time (two months from the corresponding 
notarial request) in which a shareholders’ meeting must be called at the request of minority 
shareholders (article 168 of the companies act).

iii. a reference is added in article 5.3 to article 519 (right to supplement the agenda and submit new 
proposed resolutions) of the companies act as amended by the Shareholders’ rights act and the 
reference to the form of publication of the supplement is eliminated, having become obsolete.

3 .1 .2 .2 Modification of Article 6 .2 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(“Shareholders’ right to attend and to information”)

the Shareholders’ rights act has introduced certain new features in the right to information 
of shareholders of listed companies. those new features (described in detail in section 0 of 
this report on modification of article 28 of the Bylaws) have been reflected in article 6.2 of 
the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting. 

3 .1 .2 .3 Modification of Article 8 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(“Proxies”)

the Shareholders’ rights act has also modified the shareholders’ right to be represented at 
shareholders’ meetings (articles 522 to 524 and 526 of the companies act), mainly to reinforce 
the control measures for conflicts of interest. the proposal to modify article 8 of the regula-
tions aims to incorporate these new features in repsol’s internal regulations:

i. in article 8.1 the proposal eliminates the limitations on the number of shareholders that can 
be represented by one proxy and introduces the express recognition that when one proxy 
represents several shareholders, he may vote differently for each shareholder. the wording 
of paragraph four is also improved, specifying that if the voting instruction boxes are not 
marked on the proxy card, the represented shareholder will be deemed to have issued specific 
instructions to vote for the items on the agenda. finally, the obligation is introduced to keep 
the voting instructions for one year. 

ii. article 8.2 substantially reproduces the regulation of conflicts of interest of the proxy set out 
in article 523 of the companies act. it provides that the proxy must inform the shareholder in 
detail of any conflict of interest (including any arising after his appointment) and that if a proxy 
has not advised the shareholder of a conflict of interest, he must abstain from voting unless he 
has received specific instructions from the shareholder. this regulation is completed with the 
definition of a number of cases which will in any case be considered conflicts of interest.

iii. article 8.3., in turn, incorporates the regulation of conflicts of interest if the director files a 
public request for representation under article 526 of the companies act. in particular, and 
inter alia, it is specified that no conflict of interest will be deemed to exist if the represented 
shareholder has issued precise voting instructions for each item.

3 .1 .2 .4 Modification of Article 14(iv) of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(“Voting on proposed resolutions”)

it is proposed substituting in article 14(iv) of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ 
meeting a legal reference that has become out of date as a result of the Shareholders’ rights 
act (which renumbered the former article 514 of the companies act as article 526). 

3.1.3 Comparative tables
to facilitate comparison of the existing wording of the articles for which modifications are 
proposed under item forth on the agenda with the re-drafted wording resulting from the 
proposed modifications, a transcript of both wordings is inserted below in two columns, 
purely for informative purposes.
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Shareholders’ meetings shall also be called 
whenever requested by shareholders repre-
senting at least five per cent of the capital, 
stating in their request the business to be 
transacted. in this case, the board shall call 
the general meeting within fifteen days of 
being so required through notarial channels, 
complying with the minimum notice stipu-
lated in law.

the board shall draw up the agenda, necessa-
rily including the items stated in the request.

Shareholders’ meetings shall also be called 
whenever requested by shareholders repre-
senting at least five per cent (5%) of the 
capital, stating in their request the business 
to be transacted. in this case, the board shall 
call the general meeting within fifteen days 
shall call the shareholders’ meeting to be 
held within two months of being so required 
through notarial channels, complying with 
the minimum notice stipulated in law.

the board shall draw up the agenda, 
necessarily including the items stated in 
the request.

Article 28 
Right to information

Shareholders may request in writing prior to 
the shareholders’ meeting or orally during 
the meeting such reports or explanations as 
they may deem fit regarding the items on 
the agenda. 

Article 28 
Right to information

From the publication of this notice up to the 
seventh calendar day (inclusive) prior to the 
date of the Shareholders’ meeting, share-
holders may request in writing such further 
information or clarifications or submit such 
written questions prior to the shareholders’ 
meeting or orally during the meeting such 
reports or explanations as they may deem 
fit regarding the items on the agenda on 
the information available to the public 
submitted by the Company to the National 
Securities Market Commission since the 
date of the previous General Shareholders’ 
Meeting and the Auditors’ Report . 

the board shall be obliged to provide such 
reports and information, save when, in the 
opinion of the chairman, publicising of the 
information requested could be detrimental 
to corporate interests.

the board shall be obliged to provide such 
reports and information, save when, in the 
opinion of the chairman, publicising of 
the information requested could be detri-
mental to corporate interests provide such 
information in writing up to the date of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting . 

During the Shareholders’ Meeting, share-
holders may orally request such information 
or clarifications as they may deem fit on the 
business included on the agenda or request 
such explanations as they may deem fit on 
the information available to the public 
submitted by the Company to the National 
Securities Market Commission since the 
date of the previous General Shareholders’ 
Meeting and the Auditors’ Report . If it is not 
possible to provide the requested informa-
tion at that time, the board will be obliged 
to provide the information in writing within 
seven days after the end of the Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting .

The Board will be obliged to provide any 
information requested in pursuance of 
this article, unless, in the opinion of the 
chairman, publicising of the information 
requested could be detrimental to corporate 
interests . Information may not be so denied 
when the request is backed by sharehol-
ders representing at least one-quarter of 
the capital .

a) The right to request information, include 
new items on the agenda and submit 
proposals for resolutions, and the time 
within which these rights may be exer-
cised . If it is stated that more detailed infor-
mation on these rights is available on the 
Company’s website, the notice may merely 
indicate the time for exercising them .

b) The procedure for proxy voting, with 
special mention of the forms to be used 
for proxy voting and the means to be used 
for the company to accept electronic noti-
fication of the proxies granted .

c)  The procedures established for distance 
voting, whether postal or electronic .

the general meeting will be held in the 
place indicated in the notice of call, within 
the municipality in which the company has 
its registered office. however, the meeting 
may be held in any other place in the country 
if established by the board of directors in the 
notice of call.

there will be at least twenty-four hours 
between the first and second meetings.

the general meeting will be held in the 
place indicated in the notice of call, within 
the municipality in which the company has 
its registered office. however, the meeting 
may be held in any other place in the country 
if established by the board of directors in the 
notice of call.

There will be at least twenty-four hours 
between the first and second meetings .

if the shareholders’ meeting, duly called, is 
not held on first call and no date has been 
specified in the notice of call for the second, 
this will be announced subject to the same 
requisites of publicising as the meeting on 
first call, within fifteen days after the inquorate 
meeting and at least eight days prior to the 
date of the second meeting.

Shareholders representing at least five per 
cent (5%) of the capital may request the publi-
cation of a supplementary notice of call to add 
one or several items to the agenda. this right 
will be exercised by sending attested notice, 
showing that the aforesaid percentage of the 
capital is held, to be received at the registered 
office within five days after publication of the 
original notice of call. the supplementary 
notice will be published in the official gazette 
of the mercantile registry and the company 
website at least fifteen days prior to the date 
scheduled for the meeting.

if the shareholders’ meeting, duly called, is 
not held on first call and no date has been 
specified in the notice of call for the second, 
this will be announced subject to the same 
requisites of publicising as the meeting on 
first call, within fifteen days after the inquo-
rate meeting and at least ten eight days prior 
to the date of the second meeting.

Pursuant to Article 519 of the Companies 
Act, shareholders representing at least five 
per cent (5%) of the capital may request the 
publication of a supplementary notice of call 
to add one or several items to the agenda, 
provided the new items are accompanied 
by a justification or, where appropriate, a 
justified proposed resolution . this right 
will be exercised by sending attested notice, 
showing that the aforesaid percentage of the 
capital is held, to be received at the registered 
office within five days after publication of 
the original notice of call. the supplemen-
tary notice will be published in the Official 
Gazette of the Mercantile Registry and the 
company website at least fifteen days prior 
to the date scheduled for the meeting.

Article 20 
Power and obligation to call shareholders’ 
meetings

the board may call extraordinary ordinary 
Shareholders’ meetings whenever this is 
considered in the interests of the company.

Article 20 
Power and obligation to call shareholders’ 
meetings

the board may call extraordinary ordinary 
Shareholders’ meetings whenever this is 
considered in the interests of the company.
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7.  the documents for ordinary and extraor-
dinary shareholders’ meetings, with infor-
mation on the agenda, the proposals 
submitted by the board and any relevant 
information that the shareholders may 
need to vote.

8.  From the date of publication of the notice 
of call up to the date of the Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting, the following information 
for the Shareholders’ Meeting shall be 
permanently available: (i) the notice of 
call; (ii) the total number of shares and 
voting rights existing at the date of the 
meeting, by classes of shares, if any; 
(iii) the documents to be submitted 
to the Shareholders’ Meeting, particu-
larly the reports by directors, auditors 
and independent experts; (iv) the full 
wordings of the proposed resolutions 
or, if they are not available, a report by 
the competent bodies, commenting on 
each of the items on the agenda and any 
justified proposed resolutions submitted 
by shareholders, as and when they are 
received; (v) the forms to be used for 
proxy and distance voting, unless the 
Company sends them directly to each 
shareholder; (vi) The documents for 
ordinary and extraordinary sharehol-
ders’ meetings, with information on the 
agenda, the proposals submitted by the 
board and any relevant information that 
the shareholders may need to vote.

8.  information on shareholders’ meetings 
held, particularly regarding the composi-
tion of the shareholders’ meeting when 
declared quorate, resolutions adopted, 
indicating the number of votes cast and 
the votes for and against each of the 
proposals included on the agenda, or 
abstentions as the case may be.

8 .  Information on shareholders’ meetings 
held, particularly regarding the composi-
tion of the shareholders’ meeting when 
declared quorate, resolutions adopted, 
indicating the number of votes cast and 
the votes for and against each of the 
proposals included on the agenda, or 
abstentions as the case may be .

9.  Within five days after each Shareholders’ 
meeting, information on the procedure 
of the Shareholders’ meetings held and, 
in particular, the composition of atten-
dees at the beginning of the Sharehol-
ders’ meeting, resolutions adopted, 
indicating the voting results on each of 
the proposals included on the agenda. 
the following information shall be given 
for each resolution put to the vote: the 
minimum number of shares in respect 
of which valid shares have been cast, the 
proportion of the capital represented by 
those votes, the total number of votes 
cast, the proportion of capital repre-
sented by those votes, the total number 
of valid votes, the number of votes for and 
against each resolution and the number 
of abstentions, if any.

information may not be so denied when the 
request is backed by shareholders represen-
ting at least one-quarter of the capital.

information may not be so denied when the 
request is backed by shareholders represen-
ting at least one-quarter of the capital.

The Board will not be obliged to answer 
specific questions from the shareholders 
when, before those questions are asked, 
the information requested is clearly and 
directly available to all shareholders on the 
Company’s website, in the FAQ section .

Article 45bis 
Report on the Remuneration Policy for 
Directors

The Board will approve each year a Report 
on the Remuneration Policy for Directors, 
which will contain full, clear, comprehen-
sible information including (i) a brief, overall 
account of the application of that policy in 
the previous year, incorporating details of the 
individual remunerations accrued by each of 
the Directors during that year, and references 
to (ii) the policy approved by the board for the 
present year, and (iii) the policy foreseeable 
for future years, if any .

This report shall be made available to 
shareholders as from the date of call to the 
Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting 
and shall be put to an advisory vote under a 
separate item on the agenda

Article 47 
Web site

the company shall have a web site containing 
information for shareholders, including the 
documents and information stipulated in law, 
and at least the following:

1.  the Bylaws.

2. the regulations of the Shareholders’ 
meeting.

3.  the regulations of the Board and the 
regulations of the Board committees, 
if any.

4.  the annual report.

5.  the internal conducts regulations on 
the Securities market.

6.  the corporate governance reports.

Article 47 
Web site

the company shall have a web site containing 
information for shareholders, including the 
documents and information stipulated in 
law, and at least the following:

1.  the Bylaws.

2.  the regulations of the Shareholders’ 
meeting.

3.  the regulations of the Board and the 
regulations of the Board committees, 
if any.

4.  the annual report.

5.  the internal conducts regulations on 
the Securities market.

6.  the corporate governance reports.

7.   The annual reports on the remuneration 
policy for directors of Repsol yPF, S .A . 
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B . Regulations of the Shareholders’ Meeting

Current wording Proposal of amendment

5 . Notice of call 

5.1 ordinary and extraordinary shareholders’ 
meetings will be called by the board in a 
notice published in the official gazette of the 
mercantile registry and the company website 
(www.repsol.com) at least one month prior 
to the date of the meeting, other than when 
longer notice is required by law, in which case 
the legal provisions will be heeded. 

the notice of call published on the company 
website will be maintained accessible at least 
up to date of the Shareholders’ meeting. 
the Board of directors may also publish 
announcements in other media, if considered 
appropriate, to give the notice of call greater 
publicity.

5 . Notice of call 

5.1 ordinary and extraordinary shareholders’ 
meetings will be called by the board in a notice 
published as stipulated by law and in the 
Bylaws in the Official Gazette of the Mercan-
tile Registry and the company website 
(www .repsol .com) at least one month prior 
to the date of the meeting, other than when 
longer notice is required by law, in which 
case the legal provisions will be heeded. The 
notice of call shall be published at least in 
the following media: (i) the Official Gazette 
of the Commercial Registry and one of the 
daily newspapers having the largest circula-
tion in Spain; (ii) the website of the National 
Securities Market Commission (CNMV); 
and (iii) the Company’s website . the notice 
of call published on the company website 
will be maintained permanently accessible 
at least up to the date of the Shareholders’ 
meeting. the Board of directors may also 
publish announcements in other media, if 
considered appropriate, to give the notice 
of call greater publicity.

the general Shareholders’ meeting will be 
held in the place indicated in the notice of 
call, within the city in which the company has 
its registered office. however, the meeting 
may be held anywhere else in Spain if so 
indicated by the Board of directors in the 
notice of call.

the notice of call shall state the name of the 
company, the date and time of the meeting 
on first call and all business to be dispatched 
shall be included in the agenda. it shall also 
contain the date and time for holding the 
meeting on second call, if necessary. there 
must be at least twenty-four hours between 
the first and second calls. the notice of call 
shall also indicate the place and times at 
which shareholders may consult the docu-
ments to be laid before the general meeting 
and such other reports as may be required by 
law or decided by the board, without preju-
dice to the right of shareholders to request 
and receive, free of charge, copies of all the 
above-mentioned documents.

the general Shareholders’ meeting will be 
held in the place indicated in the notice of call, 
within the city in which the company has its 
registered office. however, the meeting may 
be held anywhere else in Spain if so indicated 
by the Board of directors in the notice of call.

the notice of call shall state the name of the 
company, the date and time of the meeting 
on first call and, all business to be dispatched 
and the position of the person or persons 
calling the meeting . shall be included in the 
agenda . it shall also contain the date and 
time for holding the meeting on second call, if 
necessary. there must be at least twenty-four 
hours between the first and second calls. the 
notice of call shall also indicate indication 
of the place and times at which sharehol-
ders may consult the documents to be laid 
before the general meeting and such other 
reports as may be required by law or decided 
by the board, without prejudice to the right 
of shareholders to request and receive, free 
of charge, copies of all the above-mentioned 
documents the date as of which sharehol-
ders must have registered in their name the 
shares entitling them to attend and vote at 
the Shareholders’ Meeting, how and where 
copies of the full wording of the documents 
and proposed resolutions can be obtained 
and the address of the Company’s website 
where the information is available . In addi-
tion, the notice shall contain clear, precise

9. the communication channels existing 
between the company and the share-
holders and, in particular, the pertinent 
instructions for exercising the sharehol-
ders’ right to information, indicating 
the postal and electronic addresses that 
shareholders may contact.

10.the means and procedures for granting 
proxies for shareholders’ meetings.

11. the means and procedures for distance 
voting, including the forms, if any, for 
proving attendance and voting of Share-
holders’ meetings by using electronic 
means.

12. Significant events notified to the national 
Securities market commission (cnmv).

13. the following information on the directors: 
(i) professional and biographic profile, (ii) 
list of other directorships they hold, (iii) 
indication of the type of director, indica-
ting, in the case of proprietary directors, the 
shareholder they represent or with which 
they have ties, (iv) date of first appointment 
as company directors, and subsequent 
appointments, and (v) company shares 
and stock options they hold.

10.the communication channels existing 
between the company and the share-
holders and, in particular, the pertinent 
instructions for exercising the sharehol-
ders’ right to information, indicating 
the postal and electronic addresses that 
shareholders may contact.

11. the means and procedures for granting 
proxies for shareholders’ meetings.

12. the means and procedures for distance 
voting, including the forms, if any, for 
proving attendance and voting of Share-
holders’ meetings by using electronic 
means.

13.Significant events notified to the 
national Securities market commission 
(cnmv).

14. the following information on the directors: 
(i) professional and biographic profile, (ii) 
list of other directorships they hold, (iii) 
indication of the type of director, indica-
ting, in the case of proprietary directors, the 
shareholder they represent or with which 
they have ties, (iv) date of first appointment 
as company directors, and subsequent 
appointments, and (v) company shares 
and stock options they hold. 

Shareholders will be entitled to free access 
to the Company’s website and may down-
load and print the information and docu-
ments posted .

The address of the Company’s website shall 
be www .repsol .com .

The Board of Directors may resolve to 
modify, move or eliminate the website, in 
which case it will be authorized to modify 
the preceding paragraph of this article . The 
resolution to modify, move or eliminate the 
website shall be entered in the Company’s 
page of the Commercial Registry and 
published in the Official Gazette of the 
Commercial Registry and on the modified, 
moved or eliminated website for thirty days 
after insertion of the resolution .
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5.4. in addition to the requirements stipulated 
in law or the bylaws, as from the date of publi-
cation of the notice of call to the shareholders’ 
meeting, the company shall publish on its web 
site the wording of all proposed resolutions 
submitted by the board in connection with 
the items on the agenda, including the infor-
mation contemplated in article 47.13 of the 
bylaws for the appointment of directors. an 
exception may be made to this rule for propo-
sals which the law and bylaws do not require 
to be made available to shareholders as from 
the notice of call, if the board considers there 
are just grounds for not doing so.

if a supplementary notice of call is published, 
the company shall thereafter publish on its 
web site the wording of the proposal for 
resolutions contained in that supplemen-
tary notice, provided they have been sent 
to the company.

5.4. in addition to the requirements stipu-
lated in law or the bylaws, as from the date 
of publication of the notice of call to the 
shareholders’ meeting, the company shall 
publish on its web site the wording of all 
proposed resolutions submitted by the board 
in connection with the items on the agenda, 
including the information contemplated in 
article 47.1314 of the bylaws for the appo-
intment of directors. an exception may be 
made to this rule for proposals which the 
law and bylaws do not require to be made 
available to shareholders as from the notice 
of call, if the board considers there are just 
grounds for not doing so.

 if a supplementary notice of call is published, 
the company shall thereafter publish on its 
web site the wording of the justified proposal 
for resolutions contained in that supplemen-
tary notice, provided they have been sent to 
the company.

6 . Shareholders’ right to participation  
and information

[First paragraph without amendments]

6.2. up to seven days prior to the date on 
which the shareholders’ meeting is to be 
held, shareholders may, through the Share-
holders’ office and after evidencing their 
shareholder status, request the board to 
provide such information or explanations as 
they may consider necessary regarding the 
business included on the agenda, or submit 
such written questions as they may deem 
fit. Shareholders may also request informa-
tion or explanations or submit written ques-
tions regarding the information available to 
the public supplied by the company to the 
national Securities market commission 
since the last shareholders’ meeting. 

6 . Shareholders’ right to participation  
and information

[First paragraph without amendments]

6.2. up to seven days prior to the date on 
which the shareholders’ meeting is to be 
held, shareholders may, through the Share-
holders’ office and after evidencing their 
shareholder status, request the board to 
provide such information or explanations as 
they may consider necessary regarding the 
business included on the agenda, or submit 
such written questions as they may deem fit. 
Shareholders may also request information 
or explanations or submit written questions 
regarding the information available to the 
public supplied by the company to the 
National Securities Market Commission 
since the last shareholders’ meeting . Share-
holders may also request in writing such 
explanations as they may consider neces-
sary regarding the information available to 
the public supplied by the company to the 
National Securities Market Commission 
since the last Shareholders’ Meeting and 
on the Auditors’ Report .

details of the procedures for attending 
and voting at the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting, with particular mention of the 
following:

a) The right to request information, include 
new items on the agenda and submit propo-
sals for resolutions, and the time within 
which these rights may be exercised . If it is 
stated that more detailed information on 
these rights is available on the Company’s 
website, the notice may merely indicate the 
time for exercising them .

b) The procedure for proxy voting, with 
special mention of the forms to be used 
for proxy voting and the means to be used 
for the company to accept electronic noti-
fication of the proxies granted .

c) The procedures established for distance 
voting, whether postal or electronic .

if the duly called Shareholders’ meeting is not 
held on first call and no date has been speci-
fied for second call, the second meeting shall 
be called subject to the same publicity requi-
rements within fifteen days after the inquorate 
meeting and at least eight days prior to the 
date of the meeting on second call.

the notice of call will be sent to the Spanish 
Securities market commission and a copy of 
the same will be sent to the stock exchanges 
on which the shares are listed and the entities 
at which the shares are deposited, so that they 
can issue the attendance cards. 

if the duly called Shareholders’ meeting is 
not held on first call and no date has been 
specified for second call, the second meeting 
shall be called subject to the same publi-
city requirements within fifteen days after 
the inquorate meeting and at least eight 
ten days prior to the date of the meeting on 
second call.

A copy of the notice of call will be sent to 
the Spanish Securities Market Commission 
and a copy of the same will be sent to the 
stock exchanges on which the shares are 
listed and the entities at which the shares 
are deposited, so that they can issue the 
attendance cards. 

5.2. the board shall call an extraordinary 
shareholders’ meeting whenever so requested 
by shareholders holding at least five per cent 
of the capital, stating the business to be 
discussed in the request. in this case, the 
board shall call the shareholders’ meeting 
within fifteen days of being so required 
through notarial channels, complying with 
the minimum notice stipulated in law.

5.2. the board shall call an extraordinary share-
holders’ meeting whenever so requested by 
shareholders holding at least five per cent 
(5%) of the capital, stating the business to 
be discussed in the request. in this case, the 
board shall call the shareholders’ meeting 
within two months within fifteen days of 
being so required through notarial channels. 
complying with the minimum notice stipu-
lated in law

5.3. Shareholders representing at least five 
per cent (5%) of the capital may request 
the publication of a supplementary notice 
of call to add one or several items to the 
agenda. this right will be exercised by 
sending attested notice, showing that the 
aforesaid percentage of the capital is held, 
to be received at the registered office within 
five days after publication of the original 
notice of call. the supplementary notice 
will be published in the official gazette of 
the mercantile registry and the company 
website at least fifteen days prior to the date 
scheduled for the meeting.

5.3. Pursuant to Article 519 of the Companies 
Act, shareholders representing at least five 
per cent (5%) of the capital may request the 
publication of a supplementary notice of call 
to add one or several items to the agenda, 
provided the new items are accompanied 
by a justification or, where appropriate, a 
justified proposed resolution . this right 
will be exercised by sending attested notice, 
showing that the aforesaid percentage of the 
capital is held, to be received at the registered 
office within five days after publication of 
the original notice of call. the supplemen-
tary notice will be published in the Official 
Gazette of the Mercantile Registry and the 
company website at least fifteen days prior 
to the date scheduled for the meeting.
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the documents containing the proxies or 
voting delegations for the Shareholders’ 
meeting shall also indicate the voting instruc-
tions. if the corresponding boxes are not 
marked, the proxy shall vote in favour of the 
proposed resolutions submitted by the board 
on the items on the agenda. When the name 
of the proxy is left blank in the document deli-
vered to the company, the chairman of the 
board shall be deemed appointed to represent 
the shareholder in question. the shareholder’s 
proxy may appoint a substitute to exercise the 
voting right in any conflict of interest.

 
 
if the voting instructions issued make no 
mention of business which, although not 
included on the agenda, is transacted at the 
shareholders’ meeting, being so permitted 
by law, the proxy shall vote on such matters 
howsoever he may consider most favourable 
to the interests of his principal.

the documents containing the proxies or 
voting delegations for the Shareholders’ 
meeting shall also indicate the voting instruc-
tions. if the corresponding boxes are not 
marked, the represented shareholder will be 
deemed to have issued specific instructions 
to vote for proposed resolutions submitted 
by the board on the items on the agenda. 
When the name of the proxy is left blank in 
the document delivered to the company, 
the chairman of the board shall be deemed 
appointed to represent the shareholder 
in question. the shareholder’s proxy may 
appoint a substitute to exercise the voting 
right in any conflict of interest.

 if the voting instructions issued make no 
mention of business which, although not 
included on the agenda, is transacted at the 
shareholders’ meeting, being so permitted 
by law, the proxy shall vote on such matters 
howsoever he may consider most favourable 
to the interests of his principal.

The proxy shall keep the voting instructions 
and proxy document for one year after the 
date of the corresponding Shareholders’ 
Meeting .

8 .2 . Prior to his appointment, the proxy 
shall inform the shareholder in detail of 
any conflict of interest . If the conflict 
arises after his appointment and he has 
not advised the represented shareholder of 
its possible existence, he shall inform the 
shareholder immediately . In both cases, if 
no new instructions are issued for each of 
the items on which the proxy is to vote on 
behalf of the shareholder, he shall abstain 
from voting .
There may be a conflict of interest for the 
purposes of this article, in particular, when the 
proxy is in any of the following situations:

a) If he is a controlling shareholder of the 
Company or of an undertaking controlled 
by that controlling shareholder .

b) If he is member of the board, manage-
ment or supervisory bodies of the company, 
controlling shareholder or an undertaking 
controlled by the latter . If he is a director, the 
provisions of Article 8 .3 will be applicable .

c) If he is an employee or auditor of the 
company, controlling shareholder or an 
undertaking controlled by the latter .

d) If he is an individual related party to 
the foregoing . Related individuals shall 
be: the spouse or someone who has been 
the spouse in the previous two years, or 
common-law partner or someone who has 
been living with the proxy in the previous 
two years, and the ascendants, descen-
dants, peers and their respective spouses .

the Board shall provide such information in 
writing up to the date of the Shareholders’ 
meeting. 

during the shareholders’ meeting, the 
company’s shareholders may orally request 
such information or explanations as they 
may deem fit on the business included on 
the agenda, and if it is not possible to provide 
the requested information at that time, the 
Board will be obliged to provide the informa-
tion in writing within seven days after the end 
of the Shareholders’ meeting.

the Board shall provide such information in 
writing up to the date of the Shareholders’ 
meeting.

during the shareholders’ meeting, the 
company’s shareholders may orally request 
such information or explanations as they may 
deem fit on the business included on the 
agenda, or request such explanations as they 
may deem fit on the information available 
to the public submitted by the Company to 
the National Securities Market Commis-
sion since the date of the previous General 
Shareholders’ Meeting and the Auditors’ 
Report . if it is not possible to provide the 
requested information at that time, the Board 
will be obliged to provide the information in 
writing within seven days after the end of the 
Shareholders’ meeting.

the Board will be obliged to provide any infor-
mation requested in pursuance of this article 
6.2, unless, in the opinion of the chairman, 
publicising of the information requested 
could be detrimental to corporate interests.

 information may not be so denied when the 
request is backed by shareholders represen-
ting at least one-quarter of the capital.

the Board will be obliged to provide any infor-
mation requested in pursuance of this article 
6.2, unless, in the opinion of the chairman, 
publicising of the information requested 
could be detrimental to corporate interests.

information may not be so denied when the 
request is backed by shareholders represen-
ting at least one-quarter of the capital.

The Board will not be obliged to answer 
specific questions from the shareholders 
when, before those questions are asked, 
the information requested is clearly and 
directly available to all shareholders on the 
Company’s website, in the FAQ section .

8 . Proxies 

8.1. any shareholder entitled to attend a share-
holders’ meeting may be represented by a 
proxy, who need not be a shareholder.

8 . Proxies 

8.1. any shareholder entitled to attend a 
shareholders’ meeting may be represented 
by a proxy, who need not be a shareholder.

One proxy may represent more than one 
shareholder, without any limitation on the 
number of shareholders represented . When 
one proxy represents several shareholders, 
he may vote differently according to the 
instructions issued by each one .

proxies shall be made in writing or by any 
form of distance communication, provided 
that the identity of the parties is duly guaran-
teed and subject to whatever procedures may 
be established in law for this purpose. proxies 
shall be granted specially for each Sharehol-
ders’ meeting, save as provided in section 
187 of the companies act. 

 the board shall establish the most adequate 
procedure for each shareholders’ meeting for 
granting proxies through distance communi-
cation means, in view of the legal provisions 
in force from time to time and the current 
state of technology. this procedure shall be 
described in detail in the notice of call. 

proxies shall be made in writing or by any 
form of distance communication, provided 
that the identity of the parties is duly guaran-
teed and subject to whatever procedures may 
be established in law for this purpose. proxies 
shall be granted specially for each Sharehol-
ders’ meeting, save as provided in section 
187 of the companies act. 

 the board shall establish the most adequate 
procedure for each shareholders’ meeting for 
granting proxies through distance communi-
cation means, in view of the legal provisions 
in force from time to time and the current 
state of technology. this procedure shall be 
described in detail in the notice of call.
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3.2.1 Modification of Articles 27, 32, 37, 39 and addition of a new Article 45ter  
 of the Bylaws
the individual justification of the proposals for modification of the Bylaws is set out below:

3 .2 .1 .1 Modification of Article 27 of the Bylaws (“Discussion and adoption of resolutions”)

it is proposed eliminating the current final paragraph of article 27 of the Bylaws and substituting 
a new rule stipulating that voting rights may not be transferred or assigned, not even through 
the granting of a proxy, in exchange for any financial benefit or consideration. 

the purpose of this modification of the Bylaws is to state explicitly a principle generally accepted 
in company law whereby “vote trading” is prohibited. the reform seeks to establish certainty and 
transparency regarding an unlawful practice that must be considered reprehensible from the point 
of view of good governance. this rule is also in line with the precautions usually recommended 
to mitigate the risks associated with “empty voting” (see, for example, Statement from the Euro-
pean Corporate Governance Forum on empty voting and transparency of shareholder positions of 
20 february 2010) and, in general, any dissociation of the political and economic aspects of the 
share. recent Spanish case law has confirmed the validity of this type of clauses, declaring that 
they can by no means be considered a limitation of the shareholders’ right to be represented.

furthermore, by eliminating the existing fourth paragraph, the reform of article 27 of the 
Bylaws completes the adaptation of that article to the companies act, begun and largely 
completed at the last ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting. consequently, the limitation 
on the maximum number of votes that may b e cast by one shareholder or companies in its 
group to 10% of the capital is eliminated. as from 1 July2011, this paragraph must be deemed 
tacitly repealed by article 527 of the companies act. it is considered convenient, therefore, to 
eliminate it entirely from the Bylaws.

3 .2 .1 .2 Modification of Article 32 of the Bylaws (“Qualitative composition of the Board”)

the modification of article 32 affects indent c) and the last paragraph:

i. in indent c), it is proposed incorporating recommendation no. 29 of the good governance 
code to limit the term of office of independent directors to twelve years. although the company 
already complies with this recommendation (none of its independent directors has been in 
office for twelve years), it has been considered convenient to crystallize this rule in the Bylaws. 
the company’s commitment to scrupulously heeding the independence criteria that have been 
widely proposed in the different corporate governance forums is thus made clear and patent.

ii. the last paragraph of article 32 includes a modification containing an express reference to 
the application of diversity policies in the selection of candidates for the position of director. 
this provision is directly inspired by point 1.1 of the european commission green paper, 
Board composition, which places special emphasis on professional, international and gender 
diversity in the selection of board members. the recommendation is based on the principle, 
shared by the Board, that “diversity in the members’ profiles and backgrounds gives the board 
a range of values, views and sets of competencies”, corresponding to an increasingly more 
widely extended principle in international practice and in line with recommendation 15 of the 
unified code. recommendation B.1.2 of the UK Corporate Governance Code, is illustrative in 
this regard, taking account of the benefits of diversity when nominating new directors.

3 .2 .1 .3 Modification of Article 37 of the Bylaws (“Committees of the Board”) and modification of 
the first paragraph of Article 39 of the Bylaws (“Audit and Control Committee”)

the duties of the nomination and compensation committee and the audit and control 
committee refer to three areas in which the possibility of conflicts of interest in management 
or majority shareholders is particularly large, i.e. the appointment of directors, their remune-
ration, auditing and awareness of related party transactions. therefore, the good corporate 
governance guidelines and recommendations and current laws and regulations stress that 
the composition of these committees must offer sufficient guarantees of independence in the 
face of potential conflicts of interests. examples of this can be found in recommendation 44 
of the unified code (which recommends that all their members should be non-executives and 
their chairmen independent), section vi.e.1 of the oecd principles of corporate governance 
2004 (which mentions “sufficient number of non-executive board members”), the commission 
recommendation 2005/162/ec of 15 february 2005 (on the role of non-executive or supervisory 
directors of listed companies and on the committees of the (supervisory) board, applicable 
to listed companies), sections 303a.04 and 303a.05 of the Corporate Governance Listing 
Standards of the New York Stock Exchange (regarding the nomination and compensation 
committees), and the recent reform of additional provision eighteen of the Securities market 
act regulating the audit committee (which requires the majority of the committee members 
to be non-executive directors and at least one of them to be independent).

8 .3 . In addition to fulfilling the duties contem-
plated in 8 .2 above, if the Company direc-
tors or any other person acting on behalf or 
in the interests of any one of the directors 
has filed a public request for representa-
tion, the director who obtains such repre-
sentation may not exercise the voting right 
corresponding to the shares represented in 
respect of any items on the agenda in which 
he is in conflict of interest, unless he has 
received precise voting instructions from 
the represented shareholder for each of 
those items . Directors shall be considered 
in conflict of interest in respect of at least 
the following decisions:

a) Their appointment, re-election or ratifi-
cation as director .

b) Their removal as director .

c) Bringing a corporate liability action 
against them .

d) The approval or ratification, where appro-
priate, of the Company’s transactions 
with the relevant director, companies 
he controls or those represented by the 
director or persons acting on his behalf .

e) Release of the director from the obliga-
tion of no competition .

The proxy form may also include any points 
which, although not included on the agenda 
for the meeting, are lawfully transacted at the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, the provisions of this 
section also being applicable in those cases

14 . Voting on proposed resolutions

[Sections (i) to (iii) without amendment]

(iv) the shares of shareholders who have 
participated in the shareholders’ meeting by 
distance voting prior to the date thereof will 
not be considered present or represented 
at the shareholders’ meeting in question 
for voting on resolutions concerning busi-
ness not included on the agenda. moreover, 
shares in respect of which voting rights 
cannot be exercised pursuant to article 514 
of the companies act will not be considered 
represented or present for voting on any of 
the resolutions contemplated therein.

14 . Voting on proposed resolutions

[Sections (i) to (iii) without amendment]

(iv) the shares of shareholders who have 
participated in the shareholders’ meeting by 
distance voting prior to the date thereof will 
not be considered present or represented 
at the shareholders’ meeting in question for 
voting on resolutions concerning business 
not included on the agenda. moreover, shares 
in respect of which voting rights cannot be 
exercised pursuant to article 514 526 of the 
companies act will not be considered repre-
sented or present for voting on any of the 
resolutions contemplated therein.

3.2 Modifications to improve the functioning of the Board of Directors  
 and other aspects of the Company’s corporate governance (Item Five  
 on the Agenda)
the common factor of the second block of reforms (concerning the modification of articles 
27, 32, 37, 39 and addition of a new article 45ter of the Bylaws) is the aim of reinforcing the 
independence of the Board and improving its functioning in accordance with the best practices 
and the national and international corporate governance recommendations. Within this block 
it is also proposed introducing another improvement in corporate governance, consisting of 
an explicit recognition in the Bylaws of the prohibition of vote trading.
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no single shareholder or the companies of 
any one group may cast votes at shareholders’ 
meetings in excess of 10% of the total voting 
capital. for this purpose, the companies 
controlled by another company as defined 
in article 4 of the current Securities market 
act of 28 July 1988 shall be deemed to belong 
to the same group. irrespective of the voting 
constraint established in this article, all shares 
attending the shareholders’ meeting shall be 
counted for the purpose of quorum.

No single shareholder or the companies 
of any one group may cast votes at share-
holders’ meetings in excess of 10% of the 
total voting capital . For this purpose, the 
companies controlled by another company 
as defined in article 4 of the current Secu-
rities Market Act of 28 July 1988 shall be 
deemed to belong to the same group . Irres-
pective of the voting constraint established 
in this article, all shares attending the share-
holders’ meeting shall be counted for the 
purpose of quorum .

Voting rights may not be transferred or 
assigned, not even through the granting of 
a proxy, in exchange for any financial benefit 
or consideration

Article 32 
Qualitative composition of the board

the board shall consist of the following types 
of director:

a. executive directors: those performing 
executive or senior management duties 
within the company. any directors who 
have permanently been delegated general 
powers of the board and/or are bound by 
top management or service contracts to 
provide full-time executive services shall 
be considered executive directors.

b.  non-executive proprietary directors: those 
proposed by holders of significant stable 
interests in the capital of the company, repre-
senting a strategic value for the latter.

c.  non-executive independent directors: 
those not included in the other two cate-
gories, appointed on the strength of their 
recognised personal and professional 
standing and their experience and exper-
tise in the corresponding duties, having 
no connection with the management or 
majority shareholders.

Article 32 
Qualitative composition of the board

the board shall consist of the following types 
of director:

a. executive directors: those performing 
executive or senior management duties 
within the company. any directors who 
have permanently been delegated general 
powers of the board and/or are bound by 
top management or service contracts to 
provide full-time executive services shall 
be considered executive directors.

b.  non-executive proprietary directors: those 
proposed by holders of significant stable 
interests in the capital of the company, repre-
senting a strategic value for the latter.

c. non-executive independent directors: 
those not included in the other two cate-
gories, appointed on the strength of their 
recognised personal and professional 
standing and their experience and exper-
tise in the corresponding duties, having 
no connection with the management or 
majority shareholders. Non-executive 
independent directors may not remain 
in office as such for a period of more 
than twelve years

notwithstanding the sovereignty of the 
general meeting and efficiency of the propor-
tional system, which is compulsory in any 
cases of share-pooling contemplated in the 
companies act, the shareholders’ meeting, 
and the board when proposing appointments 
to the shareholders’ meeting and exercising 
its powers of cooptation to fill vacancies, will 
ensure that the number of non-executive 
board members considerably outweighs the 
number of executive directors.

notwithstanding the sovereignty of the 
general meeting and efficiency of the propor-
tional system, which is compulsory in any 
cases of share-pooling contemplated in the 
companies act, the shareholders’ meeting, 
and the board when proposing appointments 
to the shareholders’ meeting and exercising 
its powers of cooptation to fill vacancies, will 
ensure that (i) that the number of non-execu-
tive board members considerably outweighs 
the number of executive directors; and (ii) 
that such professional, international and 
gender diversity policies as may be adequate 
for the company’s business from time to 
time are applied .

the repsol internal regulations already comply with these provisions and, in fact, in early 
2011 they were appropriately adapted to the reform of the Securities market act. at present 
they provide that all members of both committees will be non-executive directors and that 
on the audit and control committee at least one of them must be independent and on the 
nomination and compensation committee the majority must be independent. in practice, 
all the present members of the audit and control committee are independent.

however, owing to the importance and sensitivity of the duties of these committees, the Board 
considers it positive to introduce additional guarantees of independence in their composition, 
providing that all the members of the audit and control committee must be non-executive 
independent directors. this will guarantee that the members of this committee are not only 
non-executives and, as such, independent from management, but that they are also free 
from any other influences that could give rise to conflicts of interest (e.g. deriving from 
their relationships with the shareholders at whose request they were appointed). the reform 
proposed will include this rule in the articles of association. With regard to the nomination 
and compensation committee, although it is expressly stipulated that all the members 
must be non-executive directors and most of them independent, it has not been considered 
appropriate to establish a similar regime, since it does not seem necessary to remove or set 
aside some of the most distinctive powers of this committee -selection and/or assessment of 
candidates for the board or remuneration of executive directors and senior management- from 
the business criteria of the majority shareholders, who have especially powerful incentives to 
ensure that the candidates and remunerations are adequate. 

the purpose of modifying articles 37 and 39 is to specifically reflect these new rules in the 
composition of the nomination and compensation committee and the audit and control 
committee of the company.

3 .2 .1 .4 Addition of a new Article 45ter of the Bylaws (“External Board assessment”)

the reform proposes adding a new article 45ter of the Bylaws to institutionalize at the highest 
level of internal regulation the regular external assessment of the Board. this measure is inspired 
by the european commission green paper (paragraph 1.3) and recommendation B.6.2 of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code, which will contribute towards constant improvement of the 
performance of the Board, its committees and the dedication of their members. the provision 
contemplates the basic aspects to which assessment would generally be limited.

3.2.2 Comparative table
to facilitate comparison of the existing wording of the articles for which modifications are 
proposed under item five on the agenda with the re-drafted wording resulting from the 
proposed modifications, a transcript of both wordings is inserted below in two columns, 
purely for informative purposes.

A . Bylaws

Current wording Proposal of amendment

Article 27 
Discussion and adoption of resolutions

once the meeting has been declared open, 
the secretary shall read out the items on 
the agenda.

following the report by the chairman of the 
Board and any persons he may have autho-
rized to speak, the chairman will give the floor 
to any shareholders who so request, directing 
the debate and confining it to the agenda, 
save as provided in articles 223.1 and 238 of 
the companies act. the chairman will close 
the debate when he considers the subject 
sufficiently discussed, and will then put the 
proposed resolutions to the vote.

resolutions shall be adopted by the majo-
rity of the voting capital present and repre-
sented at the Shareholders’ meeting, save as 
otherwise provided in law or these Bylaws.

Article 27 
Discussion and adoption of resolutions

once the meeting has been declared open, 
the secretary shall read out the items on 
the agenda.

following the report by the chairman of the 
Board and any persons he may have autho-
rized to speak, the chairman will give the 
floor to any shareholders who so request, 
directing the debate and confining it to the 
agenda, save as provided in articles 223.1 
and 238 of the companies act. the chairman 
will close the debate when he considers the 
subject sufficiently discussed, and will then 
put the proposed resolutions to the vote.

resolutions shall be adopted by the majo-
rity of the voting capital present and repre-
sented at the Shareholders’ meeting, save as 
otherwise provided in law or these Bylaws.



386

ordinary general ShareholderS’ meeting 2012 reportS of the Board of directorS

387

3 .3 .1 .1 . Modification of Article 22 of the Bylaws (“Special resolutions, quorums and voting majorities”)

the proposed modification of article 22, apart from responding to the third objective of 
the reform (strengthening of the guarantees applicable in related party transactions and 
conflicts of interest), adjusts that provision to the companies act, in line with the first objec-
tive (introduction of new aspects in law), completing the adaptation to that act begun at the 
general Shareholders’ meeting of 15 april 2011:

i. firstly, the requirement of a special resolution to alter the limitation of the maximum number 
of votes that may be cast by a single shareholder at the Shareholders’ meeting, contemplated 
in the existing article 27 of the Bylaws, in consideration of the fact that, following the entry 
into force of article 515 of the companies act (1 July 2011) (now renumbered as article 527 of 
the same act), the corresponding clause has been rendered null and void.

ii. Secondly, for systematic reasons, it has been considered appropriate to include a reference in 
the provision to the new special resolutions introduced by this reform, namely: (i) the modi-
fications of articles 22bis and 44bis of the Bylaws; (ii) the authorization of significant related 
party transactions; and (iii) the releasing of directors by the shareholders’ meeting from the 
prohibition of competition. 

3 .3 .1 .2  Addition of a new Article 22bis of the Bylaws (“Related party transactions”)

one of the measures to increase the control of conflicts of interest is the clause contained 
in article 22bis intended to reinforce the guarantees applicable to related party transactions 
between the company and its majority shareholders or its directors which are particularly 
important by virtue of the large amounts of the transactions or the strategic nature of the 
objects. this clause is inspired by the amended article 22 of the regulations of the Board of 
directors, which was modified on 25 January 2012 to adapt it to certain minor or technical 
innovations in the planned regulatory provision. 

the risk for corporate interests and, by extension, the interests of its minority shareholders may 
involve certain related party transactions between a company and its majority shareholders or 
its directors that has been discussed repeatedly in the most important corporate governance 
forums. in fact, many of the guidelines of prestigious international institutions contain some 
recommendation on this matter. this is the case of the recent recommendation by the Euro-
pean Corporate Governance Forum (body that counsels the european commission on the 
best corporate governance practices) of 10 march 2011 and the european commission green 
paper “The EU corporate governance framework” of 5 april 2011 (the “European Commission 
Green Paper”), but also the older Principles of Corporate Governance of the American Law 
Institute. the laws and regulations applicable to listed companies in some of our neighbouring 
countries have also echoed this concerned. the case of the united Kingdom is significant, for 
example, where the Listing Rules –issued by the Financial Services Authority– contain an entire 
chapter on related party transactions (Chapter 11) or italy, where the Commissione Nazionale 
per le Società e la Borsa approved and reformed regulations on this matter in 2010 (Regola-
mento recante disposizioni in materia di operazioni con parti correlate, adottato dalla Consob 
con delibera n. 17221 del 12 marzo 2010 e successivamente modificato con delibera n. 17389 del 
23 giugno 2010). the proposed article on related party transactions is inspired precisely by 
those publications.

the new article 22bis addresses only certain particularly important related party transactions, 
which it submits to a special regime of analysis and approval by the shareholders’ meeting, 
while other cases are subject to the ordinary rules on authorization or exemption by the Board 
established in the current regulations of the Board of directors. in fact, after limiting its scope 
of application to certain transactions that exceed a threshold of 5% of the consolidated assets 
of the group (except actions or resolutions that merely develop or execute strategic alliances 
previously approved by the shareholders’ meeting) or with a strategic object, the proposal 
requires those significant related party transactions firstly to meet an essential requirement: 
they must be fair and efficient for the company’s interests. 

Secondly, following recommendation 2.7.2 of the european commission green paper, a 
previous report must be issued on those related party transactions by an independent expert 
of good standing in the financial community indicating that the related party transaction is 
made on reasonable, arm’s length terms. the proposal also requires a report by the nomi-
nation and compensation committee on fulfilment of the requirement mentioned in the 
previous paragraph. 

thirdly, also following the recommendations of the european commission green paper, the 
proposal requires the related party transactions in question to be authorized by the general 
Shareholders’ meeting (with the exception indicated herein below) and that beforehand, 
to ensure that the Shareholders’ meeting called to authorize the transaction, has sufficient 

Article 37 
Committees of the Board

the board may create such executive and 
advisory committees as it may deem fit to 
deal with the matters within their compe-
tence, appointing the directors who are to 
sit on such committees.

the board shall in any case appoint an audit 
and control committee and a nomination 
and compensation committee.

Article 37 
Committees of the Board

the board may create such executive and 
advisory committees as it may deem fit to 
deal with the matters within their compe-
tence, appointing the directors who are to 
sit on such committees.

the board shall in any case appoint an audit 
and control committee, on the terms set out 
in Article 39 of these Bylaws, and a nomina-
tion and compensation committee, all the 
members of which shall be non-executive 
directors and the majority shall be non-
executive independent directors.

Article 39 
Audit and Control Committee

the company will have an audit and control 
committee, consisting of at least three direc-
tors appointed by the board, who will have 
sufficient capacity, experience and dedication 
to perform the corresponding duties. all the 
members of this committee will be outside 
or non-executive directors. at least one of its 
members will be an external, independent 
member and will be appointed taking into 
consideration their knowledge and experience 
in matters of accounting, auditing or both. 
one of such members will be appointed 
chairman of the committee, who will be 
replaced every four years, becoming eligible 
for re-election one year after retirement from 
the position. 

[Other sections without amendment]

Article 39 
Audit and Control Committee

the company will have an audit and control 
committee, consisting of at least three direc-
tors appointed by the board, who will have 
sufficient capacity, experience and dedication 
to perform the corresponding duties. all the 
members of this committee will be outside 
or non executive independent directors. at 
least one of its members will be an external, 
independent member and will be appointed 
taking into consideration their knowledge 
and experience in matters of accounting, 
auditing or both. one of such members will 
be appointed chairman of the committee, 
who will be replaced every four years, beco-
ming eligible for re-election one year after 
retirement from the position. 

[Other sections without amendment]

Article 45ter 
External Board assessment 

With the frequency it shall determine and 
at least once every three years, the Board 
shall commission an external assessment 
of its performance to an independent 
specialised firm . This assessment shall 
include an analysis of the composition, 
organization and functioning of the Board 
as a body corporate and an evaluation of 
the competence and efficiency of each of 
its committees and members, particularly 
including the Chairman

3.3 Modifications designed to reinforce the protection of the Company  
 against conflicts of interest (Item Six on the Agenda)
this section includes the modifications designed essentially to strengthen the measures for 
protecting the company’s corporate interests in conflicts of interest, deriving in particular 
from related party transactions and situations of competition. it consists of modification of 
article 22 and the addition of new articles 22bis and 44bis of the Bylaws and modification of 
articles 3, 9 and 13 of the regulations of the general Shareholders’ meeting.

3.3.1 Modification of Article 22 and addition of new Articles 22bis and 44bis of  
 the Bylaws
the individual justification of the proposals for modification of the articles of association is 
set out below:
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the essence of the proposal is the prohibition for directors to engage, for their own or third 
party account, in activities competing with the company, as now expressly stipulated in article 
230 of the companies act. By exception, situations of competition by directors will be accep-
table or exempted if they meet certain conditions that guarantee they will not be detrimental 
to corporate interests, particularly those set out below:

i. the benefits that the company expects to obtain from that situation outweigh the damage it 
may foreseeably suffer. the formulation of this rule, with elementary logic, is inspired by the 
Principles of Corporate Governance of the American Law Institute.

ii. a report is issued by the nomination and compensation committee on the situation of compe-
tition and, particularly, fulfilment of the fundamental condition mentioned in the preceding 
paragraph, after said committee has (a) heard the interested party; and (b) requested a report 
from an independent external consultant of good standing in the financial community. to ensure 
that the Shareholders’ meeting has sufficient information to form an opinion when it adopts the 
resolution on this exemption, both reports (together with an additional report by the Board, as 
the case may be) must be made available to shareholders. the director involved will be entitled 
to explain at the Shareholders’ meeting the reasons backing his request for the exemption.

iii. the Shareholders’ meeting expressly exempts the situation of competition. it should be noted 
that this rule is binding on the company, since article 230.1 of the companies act extended its 
application (formerly affecting only limited liability companies) to all kinds of corporate enter-
prises, so also to stock companies. to guarantee the compatibility of the exemption resolution 
with corporate interests, it must be adopted with a qualified majority of 75% of the capital 
present and represented. it is thus practically guaranteed that the resolution will be approved 
by the majority of disinterested capital, just as under the system for authorization of significant 
related party transactions contemplated in the proposal for the new article 22bis (see section 
3.3.1.2 above of this report). once again, it has been preferred to apply this indirect technique 
or raising the voting majorities than to use the direct technique of prohibiting voting by the 
shareholder involved, which is applied, for example, by the companies act when regulating this 
matter in limited liability companies. resolutions lifting the prohibition on competition are also 
required to be laid before the shareholders’ meeting under a separate item on the agenda.

iv Similarly, the provision defines a number of cases which, according to a reasonable, purpose-
based interpretation of article 230 of the companies act, already backed by some legal prece-
dents in Spanish case law, should be excluded from the prohibition of competition. these are 
circumstances in which there is not really a situation of permanent opposition of interests. 
for this reason, the following cases are excluded from the general regime of prohibition and 
authorization by the Shareholders’ meeting: 

a. holding positions of authority in companies of the repsol group because by definition, there 
cannot be competition within a group of companies submitted to a single management 
unit, although the companies normally have identical, similar or complementary objects;

b. appointment of proprietary directors in other enterprises at the request of the company, 
since it would go against all logic to consider a director of the company to have breached 
the prohibition of competition because he has been appointed director of a rival company 
by order of the company (if any, the problem could arise in the other company, but not in 
the director’s company); and

c. holding of directorships in companies with which repsol has established a strategic alliance 
because, and insofar as, under the terms of that alliance it will be possible to reasonably 
ensure that the strategic plans and interests of both companies are sufficiently aligned 
and the very existence of the alliance is subject to neither company performing effective 
competition in the different core businesses of the allies.

finally, the obligation is also introduced for directors to step down if they subsequently incur 
in a situation of competition, this being merely a specification of the general duty to step down 
when the director’s continuation on the Board may be detrimental to corporate interests, as 
contemplated in the unified code of good governance and in article 16 of the regulations 
of the Board.

3.3.2 Modification of Articles 3, 9 and 13 of the Regulations of the General  
 Shareholders’ Meeting

3 .3 .2 .1 Modification of Article 3 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
(“Powers of the Shareholders’ Meeting”)

it is proposed including two new sections 3.8 and 3.9 in the regulations of the general Share-
holders’ meeting (changing the number of the current section 3.8 to 3.10) to incorporate in 
the list of powers of the Shareholders’ meeting two new matters attributed to it under the new 

information to form an opinion and in view of the complexity normally encountered for asses-
sing this type of situation, the reports contemplated in the preceding section (together with an 
additional report by the Board, as the case may be) must be made available to shareholders.

fourthly, the reform addresses one of the classical problems of related party transactions 
contemplated in doctrine and dealt with by some international recommendations on corpo-
rate governance: guaranteeing that the significant related party transaction is approved by the 
majority of the disinterested capital, as established in the Principles of Corporate Governance 
of the American Law Institute in section 5.10 and in the declaration by the European Corporate 
Governance Forum on related party transactions of 10 march 2011 (proposing that certain 
significant related party transactions be put to the vote at the Shareholders’ meeting but 
excluding the related party from voting). in the same sense, lr 11.1.7 of the Listing Rules of 
the Financial Services Authority prohibits the related party from voting on the relevant reso-
lution. in turn, the italian regulation (article 11.3 of the Regolamento recante disposizioni in 
materia di operazioni con parti correlate) provides that if, even though an unfavourable report 
has been passed on the significant related party transaction by a committee of independent 
directors, the general meeting approves that transaction with the votes against of the majority 
of disinterested capital, the transaction cannot be concluded (although the transaction may 
go ahead if the disinterested shareholders present at the meeting represent at least 10% of 
the total voting rights or such lower percentage as may be determined by the company in its 
internal regulations).

the condition that the transaction be approved by the majority of disinterested capital is 
justified by the high risk that the decision adopted by the shareholders’ meeting may benefit 
one shareholder to the detriment of the corporate interests when the resolution has been 
adopted with the decisive votes of the shareholder or shareholders in conflict of interest and 
has been rejected by most of the remaining capital. for this purpose, it has been considered 
appropriate to include in the proposal an qualified majority of 75% of the capital present and 
represented, in the belief that, owing to the company’s ownership structure, it will thus be 
possible to ensure that if the related party transaction in question is approved, it is backed by 
the shareholders having no interest in the transaction. instead of using the direct technique of 
prohibiting exercise of the right to vote (as in the rules governing limited liability companies 
in Spain and proposed by the above-mentioned authority documents), it has been preferred 
to use the equivalent indirect technique of raising the required voting majorities, which is 
more common practice in Spain.

finally, in order to avoid an excessively unyielding system in an environment requiring at all 
times an adequate capacity to react, an exception has been included to the general rule of 
submitting significant related party transactions to the Shareholders’ meeting. the replies 
by governments, supervisory authorities, issuers and other bodies received by the european 
commission to the questions raised in the green paper have revealed that the Shareholders’ 
meeting is not always the most adequate forum for deciding on related party transactions 
(see the document “Feedback Statement Summary of Responses to the Commission Green 
Paper” of 15 november 2011). the calling and preparation of a shareholders’ meeting of a 
listed company is an arduous process entailing certain time and the investment of conside-
rable resources. Since it is not possible to rule out a priori that in certain cases there may be 
reasons of opportunity making it advisable not to wait for the next shareholders’ meeting to 
approve certain related party transactions, the planned reform provides that in those cases 
the transaction in question may be approved by the board, provided that (i) the report by the 
nomination and compensation committee, which the proposal contemplated in this report 
establishes as mandatory, is favourable, and (ii) the resolution is adopted with the favourable 
votes of at least two-thirds of the Board members who are not affected by the conflict of 
interest. the Board shall in any case be obliged to report on the terms and conditions of the 
transaction at the next Shareholders’ meeting held thereafter.

3 .3 .1 .3 Addition of a new Article 44bis of the Bylaws (“Prohibition of competition”)

the purpose of inserting in the Bylaws of a new article 44bis is to regulate the directors’ obli-
gation not to compete with the company. the Bylaws did not previously contain any specific 
indication of this obligation, merely mentioning in article 44 the general duty of loyalty, the 
aforesaid obligation being a specific aspect of that general duty. in the internal regulations of 
repsol, article 19 of the regulations of the Board of directors was, and is, the only provision 
that addresses this matter and offers the existing regulation of these cases. although this is 
adequate –and, in fact, the wording of the new article 44bis of the Bylaws is very similar to 
that of the amended article 19 of the regulations- the Board considers that in the present 
circumstances its consolidation in the articles is highly recommendable to guarantee due 
protection of the corporate interests. 
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articles 22bis and 44bis of the Bylaws (authorization of significant related party transactions 
and the releasing of a director from the prohibition of competition). in addition, in the exis-
ting section 3.8 (which would become 3.10) it is proposed extending the referral to any other 
decision attributed to it by law or the Bylaws.

3 .3 .2 .2 Modification of Article 9 .2 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’  
Meeting (“Quorum”)

the purpose of the amendment of article 9.2 of the regulations of the Shareholders’ meeting 
is to eliminate the requirement of a special resolution to modify article 27 of the Bylaws, which 
imposed certain limitations on the number of votes that may be cast by one shareholder; 
and replace it with a mention of the new cases requiring special resolutions proposed for 
inclusion in the Bylaws. 

this modification is corollary to the amendment of article 22 of the Bylaws (see section 0of 
this report), deriving from the entry into force as of 1 July 2011 of article 515 of the companies 
act (following the reform by the Shareholders’ rights act, article 527), which provides that 
any clauses limiting shareholders’ voting rights shall be null and void. 

3 .3 .2 .3 Modification of Article 13 of the Regulations of the General Shareholders’ Meeting  
(“Discussion and adoption of resolutions”)

the purpose of the modification of sections 13.6 and 13.7 of the regulations is to reflect the 
incorporation in the Bylaws of new cases requiring special resolutions by the Shareholders’ 
meeting contemplated in section 0 of this report, i.e. (i) the modifications of articles 22bis and 
44bis of the Bylaws; (ii) the authorization of significant related party transactions; and (iii) the 
releasing by the shareholders’ meeting of directors from the prohibition of competition. 

it is also proposed adding a new section 13.8 to include in the regulations of the Shareholders’ 
meeting the prohibition of “vote trading” proposed for inclusion in article 27 of the Bylaws. 
the inclusion of this prohibition in the company’s corporate governance regulations has been 
justified in detail in section 0 above, on the proposed modification of the Bylaws put to the 
Shareholders’ meeting under item five on the agenda.

consequently, the numbering of the sections of article 13 is reorganized. a section 13.11 is 
also added, establishing the details to be indicated in respect of the results of voting and 
the obligation to publish those results on the company’s website within five days after the 
Shareholders’ meeting (article 525 of the companies act). 

3.3.3 Comparative tables
to facilitate comparison of the existing wording of the articles for which modifications are 
proposed under item Six on the agenda with the re-drafted wording resulting from the proposed 
modifications, a transcript of both wordings is inserted below in two columns, purely for 
informative purposes.

A . Bylaws

Current wording Proposal of amendment

Article 22 
Special resolutions, quorums  
and voting majorities

in order for a Shareholders’ meeting, ordi-
nary or extraordinary, to validly resolve on 
an increase or reduction of capital and any 
amendment of the Bylaws, issue of deben-
tures, cancellation or limitation of share-
holders’ preferential subscription right over 
new shares, the transformation, merger, 
demerger, global assignment of assets and 
liabilities, moving the registered office abroad 
or winding-up of the company, it must be 
attended on first call, in person or by proxy, by 
shareholders representing at least fifty per cent 
(50%) of the subscribed voting capital. on 
second call, the attendance of twenty-five per 
cent (25%) of that capital will be sufficient.

Article 22 
Special resolutions, quorums  
and voting majorities

in order for a Shareholders’ meeting, ordi-
nary or extraordinary, to validly resolve on 
an increase or reduction of capital and any 
amendment of the Bylaws, issue of deben-
tures, cancellation or limitation of share-
holders’ preferential subscription right over 
new shares, the transformation, merger, 
demerger, global assignment of assets and 
liabilities, moving the registered office abroad 
or winding-up of the company, it must be 
attended on first call, in person or by proxy, by 
shareholders representing at least fifty per cent 
(50%) of the subscribed voting capital. on 
second call, the attendance of twenty-five per 
cent (25%) of that capital will be sufficient.

When the shareholders’ meeting is attended 
by shareholders representing less than fifty per 
cent (50%) of the subscribed voting capital, 
the resolutions contemplated in the preceding 
paragraph shall be validly adopted only with 
the favourable votes of two-thirds of the capital 
present or represented at the meeting.

Special resolutions to amend the last 
paragraph of article 27 of the Bylaws concer-
ning the maximum number of votes that may 
be cast at a shareholders’ meeting by any one 
shareholder or by companies belonging to the 
same group or to amend this special rule shall 
require a favourable vote of 75% of the voting 
capital attending the shareholders’ meeting, 
on both first and second call.

When the shareholders’ meeting is attended 
by shareholders representing less than fifty per 
cent (50%) of the subscribed voting capital, 
the resolutions contemplated in the preceding 
paragraph shall be validly adopted only with 
the favourable votes of two-thirds of the capital 
present or represented at the meeting.

Special resolutions to amend the last 
paragraph of Article 27 of the Bylaws concer-
ning the maximum number of votes that 
may be cast at a shareholders’ meeting by 
any one shareholder or by companies belon-
ging to the same group or to amend this 
special rule shall require a favourable vote of 
seventy five (75%) of the voting capital atten-
ding the shareholders’ meeting, on both first 
and second call, to validly adopt resolutions 
on the following matters:

a .   modification of Articles 22bis and 44bis 
of the Bylaws concerning related party 
transaction and the prohibition of compe-
tition by directors, or this special rule;

b . authorization of related party transac-
tions in the cases contemplated in 
Article 22bis of the Bylaws; and

c . releasing of a director from his no 
competition obligation pursuant to 
Article 44bis of the Bylaws .

Article 22bis 
Related party transactions

Transactions made directly or indirectly 
by the Company with directors, majority 
shareholders represented on the Board or 
persons related to them (i) for an amount 
exceeding 5% of the Group’s assets accor-
ding to the latest consolidated annual finan-
cial statements approved by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting; (ii) in respect of 
strategic assets of the Company; (iii) invol-
ving a transfer of significant technology of 
the Company; or (iv) intended to establish 
strategic alliances and are not merely agre-
ements for actions under or execution of 
previously established alliances; may only 
be concluded if they meet the following 
conditions:

a .  the transaction is fair and efficient for 
the company’s interests;

b .  after obtaining the corresponding report 
from an independent expert of good 
standing in the financial community 
indicating that the related party transac-
tion is made on reasonable, arm’s length 
terms, the Nomination and Compensa-
tion Committee issues a report on its 
fulfilment of the requirement stipulated 
in paragraph (a) above; and
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c . the Shareholders’ Meeting authorizes 
the related party transaction with the 
favourable votes of seventy-five per cent 
(75%) of the capital present and repre-
sented at the Shareholders’ Meeting . 
This notwithstanding, whenever it is 
considered advisable, for reasons of 
opportunity, not to wait for the next 
General Shareholders’ Meeting, the tran-
saction may be approved by the Board 
of Directors, provided that (i) the report 
by the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee contemplated in paragraph 
(b) above is favourable for the transaction, 
and (ii) the resolution is adopted with the 
favourable votes of at least two-thirds of 
the Board members who are not affected 
by a conflict of interest . In this case, the 
Board shall report on the terms and condi-
tions of the transaction at the next Share-
holders’ Meeting held thereafter .

When calling a Shareholders’ Meeting at 
which authorization of a related party tran-
saction is to be discussed or reported on, the 
Board shall make available to the sharehol-
ders the reports issued by the Nomination 
and Compensation Committee and the inde-
pendent expert contemplated in paragraph 
(b) above and, should it so deem fit, its own 
report on the issue .

All other related party transactions shall be 
submitted to the relevant provisions of the 
Regulations of the Board of Directors .

Article 44bis 
Prohibition of competition

Directors may not engage, for their own or 
third party account, in activities competing 
with the Company, except in the following 
circumstances:

a .  it is reasonably foreseeable that the 
situation of competition will not cause 
any damage to the Company or that the 
damage that might foreseeable be caused 
is offset by the benefit that the Company 
can reasonably expect to obtain for permit-
ting that situation of competition; 

b .  after receiving advice from an indepen-
dent external consultant of good stan-
ding in the financial community and 
after hearing the shareholder or director 
involved, the Nomination and Compen-
sation Committee issues a report on fulfil-
ment of the requirement contemplated in 
paragraph (a) above; and

c . the Shareholders’ Meeting expressly 
resolves to lift the prohibition of compe-
tition with the favourable votes of seventy-
five per cent (75%) of the capital present 
and represented at the General Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting .

When calling a Shareholders’ Meeting at 
which lifting of the prohibition of compe-
tition is to be discussed, the Board shall 
make available to the shareholders the 
reports issued by the Nomination and 
Compensation Committee and the indepen-
dent external consultant contemplated in 
paragraph (b) above and, should it so deem 
fit, its own report on the issue . The director 
involved will be entitled to explain at the 
Shareholders’ Meeting the reasons backing 
his request for lifting of the prohibition .

The resolutions that the Shareholders’ 
Meeting is called to adopt under this article 
shall be submitted in a separate item on 
the agenda .

If the situation of competition arises after 
the appointment of a director, that director 
shall immediately step down from office .

For the purposes of this Article:

a .  a person shall be deemed to be engaged 
for his own account in activities compe-
ting with the Company when he performs 
those activities directly or indirectly through 
controlled companies as defined in Article 
42 of the Commercial Code;

b .   a person shall be deemed to be engaged for 
third-party account in activities competing 
with the Company when he has a significant 
holding or an executive position in a rival 
company or in another acting in concert 
with the rival to develop a common policy, 
and in any case of he has been appointed 
proprietary director of the company at the 
request of one of those companies; and

c .  no situation of competition with the Company 
will be deemed to exist in respect of (i) 
companies controlled by the Company (as 
defined in Article 42 of the Commercial 
Code); and (ii) companies with which Repsol 
yPF, S .A . has established a strategic alliance, 
even if they have identical, similar or comple-
mentary objects and during such time as the 
alliance is maintained . Directors or share-
holders will not be considered affected by 
the prohibition of competition for the sole 
reason of their being proprietary directors in 
rival companies appointed at the request of 
the Company or by virtue of the interest held 
by the Company in their capital .

Nor may directors provide counselling or 
representation services for rivals of the 
Company, unless the Board of Directors, 
after receiving a favourable report from the 
Nomination and Compensation Committee, 
authorizes them with the favourable votes of 
two-thirds of the members not affected by any 
conflict of interest . If these requirements are 
not met, the authorization must be granted 
by the General Shareholders’ Meeting .
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B .  Regulations of the Shareholders’ Meeting

Current wording Proposal of amendment

3 . Powers of the General Meeting

the shareholders, assembled in a duly called 
shareholders’ meeting, shall decide by majo-
rity vote on the following matters: 

3.1.  approval, if appropriate, of the annual 
accounts of repSol ypf, S.a. and the conso-
lidated annual accounts of repSol ypf, S.a. 
and its subsidiaries, the management of 
corporate affairs by the board and the appli-
cation of profits/loss. 

3.2.  appointment and removal of directors and 
ratification or revocation of provisional appo-
intments of directors made by the board. 

3.3. appointment and reappointment of 
auditors.

3.4. acquisition of treasury stock.

3.5. the increase or reduction of capital and 
any amendment of the articles of association, 
the issuance of debentures, to suppress, in full 
or in part, the preferential subscription right 
of new shares, as well as the transformation, 
merger, demerger, the assignment of assets 
and liabilities, change of the registered office 
abroad or winding-up of the company. 

3.6. authorisation of the board to increase 
capital, in pursuance of article 297.1.b of the 
Stock companies act.

3.7. decision on matters submitted by the 
board for authorisation.

3.8. any other decisions attributed to it by law.

3 . Powers of the General Meeting

the shareholders, assembled in a duly called 
shareholders’ meeting, shall decide by majo-
rity vote on the following matters: 

3.1.  approval, if appropriate, of the annual 
accounts of repSol ypf, S.a. and the 
consolidated annual accounts of repSol 
ypf, S.a. and its subsidiaries, the manage-
ment of corporate affairs by the board and 
the application of profits/loss. 

3.2.  appointment and removal of directors and 
ratification or revocation of provisional appo-
intments of directors made by the board. 

3.3. appointment and reappointment of 
auditors.

3.4. acquisition of treasury stock.

3.5. the increase or reduction of capital and 
any amendment of the articles of association, 
the issuance of debentures, to suppress, in full 
or in part, the preferential subscription right 
of new shares, as well as the transformation, 
merger, demerger, the assignment of assets 
and liabilities, change of the registered office 
abroad or winding-up of the company. 

3.6. authorisation of the board to increase 
capital, in pursuance of article 297.1.b of the 
Stock companies act.

3.7. decision on matters submitted by the 
board for authorisation.

3.8. Any other decisions attributed to it by law . 
Authorization of the related party transactions 
contemplated in Article 22bis of the Bylaws .

3 .9 . Releasing of a director from his no compe-
tition obligation pursuant to Article 44bis of 
the Bylaws .

3 .10 Any other decision attributed to it by law 
or the Bylaws

9 . Quorum

[First paragraph without amendment]

9.2 in order for a Shareholders’ meeting, 
ordinary or extraordinary, to validly resolve 
on an increase or reduction of capital and 
any amendment of the Bylaws, issue of 
debentures, cancellation or limitation of 
shareholders’ preferential subscription right 
over new shares, the transformation, merger, 
demerger, global assignment of assets and 
liabilities, moving the registered office abroad 
or winding-up of the company, it must be 
attended on first call, in person or by proxy, by 
shareholders representing at least fifty per cent 
(50%) of the subscribed voting capital. on 
second call, the attendance of twenty-five per 
cent (25%) of that capital will be sufficient.

9 . Quorum

[First paragraph without amendment]

9.2 in order for a Shareholders’ meeting, 
ordinary or extraordinary, to validly resolve 
on an increase or reduction of capital and 
any amendment of the Bylaws, issue of 
debentures, cancellation or limitation of 
shareholders’ preferential subscription right 
over new shares, the transformation, merger, 
demerger, global assignment of assets and 
liabilities, moving the registered office abroad 
or winding-up of the company, it must be 
attended on first call, in person or by proxy, by 
shareholders representing at least fifty per cent 
(50%) of the subscribed voting capital. on 
second call, the attendance of twenty-five per 
cent (25%) of that capital will be sufficient.

When the shareholders’ meeting is attended 
by shareholders representing less than fifty per 
cent (50%) of the subscribed voting capital, 
the resolutions contemplated in the preceding 
paragraph shall be validly adopted only with 
the favourable votes of two-thirds of the capital 
present or represented at the meeting.

By exception, special resolutions to amend 
the last paragraph of article 27 of the Bylaws 
concerning the maximum number of votes 
that may be cast at the general meeting by any 
one shareholder or by companies belonging 
to the same group or to amend this special 
rule, shall require a favourable vote of 75% of 
the voting capital attending the shareholders’ 
meeting on both first and second call.

When the shareholders’ meeting is attended 
by shareholders representing less than fifty per 
cent (50%) of the subscribed voting capital, 
the resolutions contemplated in the preceding 
paragraph shall be validly adopted only with 
the favourable votes of two-thirds of the capital 
present or represented at the meeting.

By exception, special resolutions to amend 
the last paragraph of Article 27 of the Bylaws 
concerning the maximum number of votes 
that may be cast at the general meeting 
by any one shareholder or by companies 
belonging to the same group or to amend 
this special rule, shall require a favourable 
vote of 75% of the voting capital attending 
the shareholders’ meeting on both first and 
second call .

Special resolutions shall be required, adopted 
with the favourable votes of seventy-five per 
cent (75%) of the voting capital attending 
the shareholders’ meeting, on both first 
and second call, to validly adopt resolutions 
on the matters contemplated in the third 
paragraph of Article 22 of the Bylaws and 
Article 13 .7 of these Regulations

13 . Debate and adoption of resolutions

13.1  once the meeting has been declared 
open, the secretary shall read out the details 
of the notice of call and attendance, based on 
the attendance list prepared by the presiding 
Board, which shall indicate the nature or repre-
sentation of each shareholder present and the 
number of shares they hold or represent.

the attendance list may also be drawn up 
using a file or incorporated in a magnetic data 
support, in which case the means used shall 
be stated in the minutes and the appropriate 
identification details, signed by the Secretary 
and countersigned by the chairman, shall 
be affixed to the sealed case of the file or 
magnetic data carrier.

13.2. the summary of the attendance list shall 
specify the number of shareholders present 
or represented and the amount of capital 
they hold, specifying the capital correspon-
ding to shareholders with voting rights. the 
vice-Secretary of the Board shall provide 
the presiding board with two copies of the 
summary, signed by the vice-Secretary and 
one scrutineer.

13 . Debate and adoption of resolutions

13.1  once the meeting has been declared 
open, the secretary shall read out the details 
of the notice of call and attendance, based on 
the attendance list prepared by the presiding 
Board, which shall indicate the nature or repre-
sentation of each shareholder present and the 
number of shares they hold or represent.

the attendance list may also be drawn up 
using a file or incorporated in a magnetic data 
support, in which case the means used shall 
be stated in the minutes and the appropriate 
identification details, signed by the Secretary 
and countersigned by the chairman, shall 
be affixed to the sealed case of the file or 
magnetic data carrier.

13.2. the summary of the attendance list shall 
specify the number of shareholders present 
or represented and the amount of capital 
they hold, specifying the capital correspon-
ding to shareholders with voting rights. the 
vice-Secretary of the Board shall provide 
the presiding board with two copies of the 
summary, signed by the vice-Secretary and 
one scrutineer.
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13.3. in the light of the attendance list, the 
chairman shall, if appropriate, declare the 
shareholders’ meeting quorate. if the notary 
required by the company to issue the minutes 
of the shareholders’ meeting is present, he 
shall ask the attendees whether or not they 
have any reservations or protests regarding 
the chairman’s declarations on attendance 
by shareholders and capital. any shareholder 
expressing reservations shall show the assis-
tants of the presiding board his attendance 
card and the presiding board shall check and 
correct the error, if appropriate.

13.4. in an effort to expedite the meeting, 
before commencing his report on the year 
and the proposals put to the shareholders’ 
meeting, the chairman shall request any 
shareholders who wish to speak to show 
their attendance cards to the assistants of 
the presiding board, in order to organise their 
turns for participation. 

13.5. the chairman shall then inform the 
Shareholders’ meeting on the highlights of 
the year and the proposals submitted by the 
board. his report may be supplemented by any 
persons he may authorize. the chairman of 
the audit and control committee will be avai-
lable at the shareholders’ meeting to answer, 
on behalf of the committee, any questions 
that the shareholders may raise on matters 
within the committee’s competence. after his 
report, the chairman shall grant the floor to 
those shareholders who have so requested, 
directing the debate and seeing that it keeps 
within the confines of the agenda, except 
as provided in articles 223.1 and 238 of the 
companies act. the chairman will end the 
debate when, in his opinion, the matter has 
been sufficiently discussed and will then put 
the different proposed resolutions to the vote, 
the results of which will be read out by the 
secretary. the reading of the proposals may 
be abridged at the decision of the chairman, 
provided that shareholders representing the 
majority of subscribed voting capital present 
at the shareholders’ meeting do not object. 

13.3. in the light of the attendance list, the 
chairman shall, if appropriate, declare the 
shareholders’ meeting quorate. if the notary 
required by the company to issue the minutes 
of the shareholders’ meeting is present, he 
shall ask the attendees whether or not they 
have any reservations or protests regarding 
the chairman’s declarations on attendance 
by shareholders and capital. any shareholder 
expressing reservations shall show the assis-
tants of the presiding board his attendance 
card and the presiding board shall check and 
correct the error, if appropriate.

13.4. in an effort to expedite the meeting, 
before commencing his report on the year 
and the proposals put to the shareholders’ 
meeting, the chairman shall request any 
shareholders who wish to speak to show 
their attendance cards to the assistants of 
the presiding board, in order to organise their 
turns for participation. 

13.5. the chairman shall then inform the 
Shareholders’ meeting on the highlights of 
the year and the proposals submitted by the 
board. his report may be supplemented by any 
persons he may authorize. the chairman of 
the audit and control committee will be avai-
lable at the shareholders’ meeting to answer, 
on behalf of the committee, any questions 
that the shareholders may raise on matters 
within the committee’s competence. after his 
report, the chairman shall grant the floor to 
those shareholders who have so requested, 
directing the debate and seeing that it keeps 
within the confines of the agenda, except 
as provided in articles 223.1 and 238 of the 
companies act. the chairman will end the 
debate when, in his opinion, the matter has 
been sufficiently discussed and will then put 
the different proposed resolutions to the vote, 
the results of which will be read out by the 
secretary. the reading of the proposals may 
be abridged at the decision of the chairman, 
provided that shareholders representing the 
majority of subscribed voting capital present 
at the shareholders’ meeting do not object. 

13.6. resolutions shall be adopted with the 
favourable votes of the majority of voting capital 
present and represented at the shareholders’ 
meeting, with the exceptions established in 
the law and bylaws. the maximum number 
of votes that may be cast at a shareholders’ 
meeting by any one shareholder or companies 
in the same group shall be equivalent to 10% 
of the total voting capital. for this purpose 
companies shall be considered to be in the 
same group if they are controlled by another in 
the situation defined in section 4 of the current 
Stock market act of 28 July 1988.

13.6. resolutions shall be adopted with the 
favourable votes of the majority of voting 
capital present and represented at the share-
holders’ meeting, with the exceptions, esta-
blished in the following section and any 
others contemplated in the law, the Bylaws 
and these Regulations . The maximum 
number of votes that may be cast at a share-
holders’ meeting by any one shareholder or 
companies in the same group shall be equi-
valent to 10% of the total voting capital . For 
this purpose companies shall be considered 
to be in the same group if they are contro-
lled by another in the situation defined in 
section 4 of the current Stock Market Act 
of 28 July 1988 .

 notwithstanding this limitation on voting, 
all the shares attending the shareholders’ 
meeting shall be counted when calculating 
the quorum.

 Notwithstanding this limitation on voting, 
all the shares attending the shareholders’ 
meeting shall be counted when calculating 
the quorum . 

13 .7 Notwithstanding the special reso-
lutions contemplated in the law and the 
Bylaws, the favourable votes of 75% of the 
voting capital present and represented at 
the Shareholders’ Meeting will be required 
on both first and second call to validly adopt 
resolutions on the following matters:

a .  modification of Articles 22bis and 44bis 
of the Bylaws concerning related party 
transaction and the prohibition of compe-
tition by directors, or this special rule;

b . authorization of related party transac-
tions in the cases contemplated in 
Article 22bis of the Bylaws; and

c .  releasing of a director from his no compe-
tition obligation pursuant to Article 
44bis of the Bylaws .

13 .8 . Voting rights may not be transferred or 
assigned, not even through the granting of 
a proxy, in exchange for any financial benefit 
or consideration .

individual voting shall not be necessary if 
the sense of the voting is clear from a vote 
by acclamation or show of hands and the 
latter systems favour expedition of the general 
meeting. this notwithstanding, any sharehol-
ders so wishing may have their votes against 
put on record, for the purpose of challenging 
decisions or whatsoever other reason.

13.7. When all the motions have been voted 
on, the secretary of the shareholders’ meeting 
shall hand the notary, if any, the note issued 
by the scrutineers containing the voting 
details for each proposal, whereupon the 
chairman shall close the meeting.

13 .9 individual voting will not be necessary 
if the sense of voting is sufficiently obvious 
by acclamation or show of hands and this 
helps to expedite the meeting. this will not 
prevent shareholders so requesting from 
having their votes against put on record for 
the purposes of challenging a resolution or 
any other reason.

13 .10 When all the motions have been 
voted on, the secretary of the shareholders’ 
meeting shall hand the notary, if any, the 
note issued by the scrutineers containing the 
voting details for each proposal, whereupon 
the chairman shall close the meeting.

13 .11 . The following information shall be 
given for each resolution put to the vote 
at the General Shareholders’ Meeting: the 
number of shares in respect of which valid 
shares have been cast, the proportion of 
the capital represented by those votes, the 
total number of valid votes, the number 
of votes for and against each resolution 
and the number of abstentions, if any . The 
resolutions approved and the voting results 
shall be published in full on the Company’s 
website within five days after the date of the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting .
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 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related  
 to the seventh point of the agenda: (“re-election as director of  
 mr. isidro fainé casas”).

the seventh point of the agenda is to re-elect mr. isidro fainé casas, as director, for a further 
period of four years.

the proposal consisting in re-electing mr. isidro fainé casas as director, which the Board of 
directors presents to the general meeting, has been agreed following a favourable report by 
the nomination and compensation committee held on 17 april 2012, which equally ratified 
the concurrence and subsistence, at the time of re-election, of the conditions of full eligibility 
of mr. fainé to hold the position of director. 

mr. fainé was appointed director of repsol ypf, S.a. by resolution of the Board of directors 
on december 19, 2007, later ratified and appointed by the general Shareholders’ meeting 
on may 14, 2008. 

according to in the provisions included in the Bylaws and regulations of the Board of directors, 
mr. fainé is considered to be a “Proprietary External Director”.

herein below it is included additional information about the professional history of mr. fainé, 
other Boards of directors to which he belongs, the number of shares of the company that he 
holds and the number of Board meeting he has attended personally during 2011. 

mr. fainé (manresa (Barcelona), 1942) holds a doctorate in economic Sciences, an iSmp in 
Business administration from harvard university and a diploma in Senior management from 
the ieSe Business School. likewise, he is a member of the royal academy of economics and 
finance and of the royal academy of doctors. 

he began his professional banking career as investment manager for Banco atlántico in 1964, 
later becoming general manager of Banco de asunción in paraguay in 1969. on his return 
to Barcelona, he held various managerial posts in financial entities: head of personnel at 
Banca riva y garcía (1973), director and general manager of Banca Jover (1974) and general 
manager of Banco unión, S. a. (1978). in 1982 he joined ”la caixa”, and was appointed deputy 
executive general manager and in 1999 general manager of the entity. 

currently he is chairman of “la caixa”, vice chairman of abertis infraestructuras, S.a., vice chairman 
of telefónica, S.a., chairman of caixabank, S.a., chairman of ceca (Confederación Española de Cajas 
de Ahorros) and chairman of foundation “la caixa”. he is also vicechairman of Sociedad general 
de aguas de Barcelona, director of the Bank of east asia limited and criteria caixaholding, S.a.

mr. fainé holds, whether directly or indirectly, 242 shares of repsol ypf, S.a. 

mr. fainé has attended to 10 out of the 12 meetings of the Board of directors held during 2011. 

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related  
 to the eighth point of the agenda: (“re-election as director of  
 mr. Juan maría nin génova”).

the eighth point of the agenda is to re-elect as director, for a further period of four years, 
mr. Juan maría nin génova.

the proposal consisting in re-electing mr. Juan maría nin génova as director, which the 
Board of directors presents to the general meeting, has been agreed following a favourable 
report by the nomination and compensation committee held on 17 april 2012, which equally 
ratified the concurrence and subsistence, at the time of re-election, of the conditions of full 
eligibility of mr. nin to hold the position of director. 

mr. nin was appointed as director of repsol ypf, S.a. by resolution of the Board of directors 
on 19th december, 2007 and subsequently ratified and appointed by the annual Shareholders 
meeting on may 14th, 2008.

according to in the provisions included in the Bylaws and regulations of the Board of directors, 
mr. nin is considered to be a “Proprietary External Director”.

herein below it is included additional information about the professional history of mr. nin, 
other Boards of directors to which he belongs, the number of shares of the company that he 
holds and the number of Board meeting he has attended personally during 2011. 

mr. nin (Barcelona, 1953) holds a degree in economics and law from the university of deusto 
and a masters in law from the london School of economics and political Sciences. 

he began his career in the financial sector in 1980 when he became international director of Banco 
hispano americano. in 1992, he moved to Banco central hispano, where he was appointed general 
manager for catalonia and, two years later, worked as general manager of commercial Banking, 
where he also served on the management committee. after the merger with Banco Santander, 
Juan maría nin took over the post of general manager of commercial Banking and was later 
appointed general manager of the companies division of Santander central hispano, on whose 
management committee he also served. he was appointed ceo of Banco Sabadell in 2002, a 
position that he doesn’t hold now. he has a longstanding career in commercial, international and 
corporate banking, as well as a great deal of experience in managing mergers and acquisitions of 
banks. he has served on the Board of directors of various industrial and services companies. 

currently he is president and ceo of “la caixa”, vice-chairman of foundation “la caixa”, 
vice chairman of caixaBank, S.a., vice-chairman of criteria caixaholding, S.a., director of 
vidacaixa grupo, S.a., gas natural Sdg, S.a., Banco Bpi, S.a., erste group Bank, a.g. and 
grupo financiero inbursa, S.a.B. de c.v., member of the Board of directors of deusto univer-
sity and deusto Business School,, member of the Board of directors of círculo ecuestre and 
member of the academic Board of apd (association for the advancement of management), 
member of foundation esade Business School, foundation federico garcía lorca, foundation 
consejo españa-estados unidos, cede foundation (Spanish confederation of directors and 
executives) and aspen institute Spain foundation, member of the global Strategy council 
of fuoc (foundation for the open university of catalonia) deputy chairman of foundation 
consejo españa-india, member of the economic group of foro españa-china.

mr. nin holds, whether directly or indirectly, 242 shares of repsol ypf, S.a. 

mr. nin has attended to all the meetings of the Board of directors held during 2011. 

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal  
 to the ninth point of the agenda (“Share acquisition plan 2013-2015”)

the company Board of directors has approved, prior report of the nomination and compen-
sation committee held on 17 april 2012, the following remuneration plan linked or referenced 
to the value of company shares for the years 2013, 2014 and 2015, aimed at employees and 
executives of repsol ypf group (the “plan”), whose implementation is submitted to consi-
deration by the annual Shareholders meeting.

the plan referred in this report is presented as a continuation of the plan for the years 2011 and 
2012, approved by the annual Shareholders meeting held on april 15, 2011, under the fifteenth 
item of the agenda. the company reported to the national Securities market commission 
(cnmv) about the implementation of that plan on 14 october 2011 and 16 January 2012. 
under the plan 2011, repsol ypf group acquired 298,117 treasury shares in 2011, representing 
0.024% of share capital, at a cost of 6.6 million euros, for delivery to repsol ypf group’s 
employees. the maximum monetary amount requested by all plan 2012 participants to receive 
in shares is, at the date of preparation of this proposal, 9.2 million euros.

as well as the plan for the years 2011 and 2012, the “Share acquisition plan 2013-2015” proposes 
the annual Shareholders meeting, is aimed at executives and employees of repsol ypf group in 
Spain, and its purpose is to allow those who wish to do so to receive part of their remuneration 
corresponding to some or all the years 2013, 2014 y 2015 in repsol ypf shares, with an annual limit 
equal to the maximum monetary amount in shares that, pursuant to the applicable tax laws in force 
each year and for each territory, has the treatment as income exempt of tax. currently, pursuant to 
the tax laws in force, this amount is 12,000 euros in the Spanish common territory, 6,000 euros 
in the provinces of vizcaya and Álava, and 3,500 euros in the province of guipúzcoa.

the plan aim to favour employee and executive participation in company capital, increasing 
their motivation and loyalty, and contributing to the structuring of a common group culture 
in terms of compensation and benefits. 

it is therefore a plan that does not involve additional remuneration, but it simply allows its 
beneficiaries to structure their remuneration in a different payment form —in shares—, at 
their own discretion.

the plan is equally designed taking into consideration the treatment as income exempt of tax 
that giving company shares to employees of repsol ypf group in Spain has on personal income 
tax, as long as it does not exceed the maximum annual monetary amount in shares maximum 
monetary amount in shares determined by the applicable laws in force each year and for each 
territory, that the offer is made as part of the general compensation policy of the company or its 
groups —as is the case—, that employees, together with their partners and their immediate family 
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do not own, directly or indirectly, more than 5 per cent of the shares in the company or in other 
companies of the group and that these maintain the shares received for at least three years. 

the proposal contemplates the maximum amount that can be dedicated to investment in 
shares, and the formula to determine the maximum number of shares to be given, and it is 
completed with the usual powers of development of the regulations of the plan and interpre-
tation in favour of the Board of directors and, by delegation, of the delegate committee.

 report by the Board of directors on the proposed capital increases  
 to be made by issuing new ordinary shares against reserves, offering  
 shareholders the possibility of selling their free-of-charge allocation  
 rights to the company or on the market, to be submitted to the  
 ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting for approval under the tenth  
 and eleventh points of the agenda.

this report is issued by the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. (the “Company”) to justify the 
two proposals to increase the capital in order to implement a shareholder remuneration program 
by means of a flexible dividend program, which will be submitted for approval under the tenth and 
eleventh points of the agenda, respectively, at the ordinary general Shareholder’s meeting called 
at 12:00 on 30 may 2012, on first call and at the same time on 31 may 2012, on second call.

this report is issued in compliance with articles 286 and 296 of the recast companies act 
(the “Companies Act”), approved by legislative royal decree 1/2010 of 2 July, by virtue of 
which the Board of directors must issue a report justifying the proposals to be submitted 
to the general Shareholders’ meeting, insofar as the approval of those resolutions and their 
implementation necessarily require a modification of articles 5 and 6 of the company’s articles 
of association, on the capital and shares, respectively.

in order to enable a clearer understanding of the operations behind the proposals to increase the capital 
submitted to the general Shareholders’ meeting, shareholders are provided firstly with a description of 
the purpose of and grounds justifying those capital increases, and secondly with a description of the 
main terms and conditions of the capital increases against reserves contemplated in this report.

1. purpose and justification of the proposals

1.1 Purpose and justification of the proposals
the company has traditionally remunerated its shareholders through the payment of cash 
dividends.

however, in keeping with the latest trends in this matter among other companies in iBex-35, the 
company wants to offer its shareholders an alternative which, without affecting their right to receive 
the entire remuneration in cash if they so wish, gives them the possibility of receiving shares in 
the company, with the tax benefits applicable to free-of-charge shares, as described below.

the purpose of the capital increase proposals submitted to the Shareholders’ meeting is to offer 
all the company’s shareholders the option, at their free choice, of receiving new free-of-charge 
shares in the company, without altering the company’s policy of remunerating its shareholders 
in cash, since they may opt, as an alternative, to receive an amount in cash by selling their scrip 
dividend rights to the company (if they do not sell on the market), as explained herein below.

1.2 Structure of the operations and options available to shareholders
the two proposals laid before the general Shareholders’ meeting under the tenth and eleventh 
points of the agenda contemplate offering the company’s shareholders the option to receive, 
at their choice, either free-of-charge shares of the company or a remuneration in cash. 

these offers are structured in two capital increases against reserves (each on an “Increase” 
or a “Capital Increase” and jointly the “capital increases”). however, although they both 
correspond to the purpose described in section 1.1 above, each capital increase is indepen-
dent, so they would be made on different dates and repsol ypf, S.a. could even decide not 
to make one or both, in which case the corresponding increase would have no effect pursuant 
to section 2.7 below.

When the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee decides to implement 
one of the capital increases:

a. the company’s shareholders will receive a free-of-charge allocation right for each share in the 
company that they hold at that time. these rights will be tradable so may be traded, on the same 

conditions as the shares in respect of which they are issued, on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and 
valencia stock exchanges for a period of at least fifteen (15) calendar days, after which the rights 
will automatically become new shares in the company, which will be allocated to the holders of 
the free-of-charge allocation rights at that date. the specific number of shares to be issued and, 
therefore, the number of rights needed for the allocation of one new share will depend on the 
price of the company’s share on the date of implementation of the capital increase (the “Share 
Price”), calculated by the procedure described herein below. however, as will be explained later 
(i) the total number of shares to be issued in the first capital increase will be determined so that 
their market value calculated at the Share price will be approximately 705 million euro; and (ii) 
the maximum number of shares to be issued in the Second capital increase will be determined 
so that their market value calculated at the Share price will be the amount fix by the Board or, 
by substitution, the delegate committee, with the limit established in section 1.4 below.

b. the company will irrevocably undertake to purchase the aforesaid free-of-charge allocation rights at a 
fixed price from the shareholders recognized as such in the accounting registers of Sociedad de Gestión 
de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación and Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) at 
23:59, madrid time, on the date on which the announcement of the corresponding capital increase 
is published in the official gazette of the commercial registry (the “Purchase Commitment”). 
the purchase commitment will only cover the rights received by the shareholders free of charge, not 
those purchased on the market. the fixed purchase price of the free-of-charge allocation rights will 
be calculated before trading of the rights commences, based on the Share price (such that the price 
per right will be the result of dividing the Share price by the number of rights needed to receive one 
new share, plus one). the company thus guarantees that all shareholders will be able to monetize 
their rights and thus receive the cash if they do not wish to receive new shares.

therefore, when each capital increase is made, the company’s shareholders may choose 
freely between the following options(1):

a. not to sell their free-of-charge allocation rights. in this case, at the end of the trading period 
the shareholder will receive the corresponding number of new free-of-charge shares.

b. to sell all or part of their free-of-charge allocation rights to the company under the purchase 
commitment at a guaranteed fixed price. Shareholders choosing this option would monetize their 
rights and receive a remuneration in cash dividend, as in previous years, instead of shares.

c. to sell all or part of their free-of-charge allocation rights on the market. Shareholders choosing this 
option would also monetize their rights, although in this case they would not receive a guaranteed 
fixed price, as in option (b) above, but instead the consideration payable for the rights would 
depend on market conditions in general and the quotation price of those rights in particular.

the company’s shareholders may combine any or all of the alternatives mentioned in 
paragraphs (a) to (c) above. it should be noted in this regard that the alternatives receive 
different tax treatment.

the gross amount received by shareholders choosing options (a) and (b) will be equivalent, as the 
Share price will be used to determine both the fixed price of the purchase commitment and the 
number of free-of-charge allocation rights needed for the allocation of one new share. in other words, 
the gross price received by a shareholder selling all his free-of-charge allocation rights to the company 
under the purchase commitment will be approximately equal to the value of the new shares he will 
receive if he does not sell his rights, calculated at the market price of the company’s share at the 
date of the capital increase (i.e. the Share price). however, the tax treatment of each alternative is 
different. the tax treatment of the sales contemplated in options (b) and (c) is also different (see 
section 2.6 below for a summary of the tax regime applicable to this operation in Spain). 

1.3 Coordination with the traditional dividend policy
the company plans to replace what would have been the traditional final dividend of 2011 and 
the interim dividend of 2012 with two issues of free-of-charge shares, although preserving its 
shareholders’ right to receive a cash remuneration if they prefer.

1.4 Amount of the Alternative Option and price of the Purchase Commitment
the structure of the proposals consists of offering shareholders free-of-charge shares, the 
value of which, determined according to the Share price, will be:

(1) the options available to holders of American Depositary Shares/American Depositary Receipts and ordinary shares 
listed on the Buenos aires stock exchange may be subject to certain variations in respect of the options described here, 
due to the terms and conditions applicable to the programs in which those holders participate and the regulations  
of the stock markets on which those securities are traded.
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a. in the first increase, a total of 705,048,650 euro gross; and

b. in the second increase, the amount determined by the Board of directors or, by substitution, 
the delegate committee, with the limit of 775,553,515 euro gross. 

Since, as mentioned earlier, the purpose of the purchase commitment is to enable shareholders 
to monetize the amount of the alternative option of each increase, and bearing in mind that 
shareholders will be assigned one free-of-charge allocation right for each outstanding share, 
the gross price per right at which the purchase commitment will be made in each increase 
would be approximately equal, subject to the provisions of sections 2.1 and 2.3 below, to the 
amount per share of the amount of the alternative option. 

the final purchase price (and, in relation to the second increase, the amount of the alternative 
option, if appropriate) will be determined and announced pursuant to section 2.3. 

2. main terms and conditions of the capital increase

2.1 Amount of each Capital Increase, number of shares to be issued  
 and number of scrip dividend rights needed for the allocation  
 of one new share
the maximum number of shares to be issued in each capital increase will be the result of divi-
ding the amount of the alternative option of the corresponding increase between the value of 
the company’s share when the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, 
decides to implement each capital increase (i.e. the Share price). the number thus calculated 
will be rounded off to obtain a whole number of shares and a rights-shares conversion rate, also 
in a whole number. in addition and for the same purpose, the company will waive the free-of-
charge allocation rights corresponding to it, for the sole purpose of ensuring that the number 
of new shares to be issued in each capital increase is a whole number and not a fraction.

to determine the number of shares to be issued, it will be considered only the outstanding 
free-of-charge allocation rights at the end of the trading period, excluding those that were sold to 
the company under the purchase commitment at a guaranteed fixed price (alternative b).

When it is decided to implement a capital increase, the Board of directors or, by substitution, 
the delegate committee will determine the maximum number of shares to be issued in each 
increase and, therefore, the maximum amount of the capital increase and the number of free-
of-charge allocation rights need for the allocation of one new share by applying the following 
formula (rounding the result down to the nearest whole number):

MNNS = NES / No. Rights per share
where, 
“mnnS” = maximum number of new Shares to be issued in the capital increase; 
“neS” = number of outstanding shares in the company at the date on which the Board of 
directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee resolves to implement the capital 
increase; and
“no. rights per share” = number of free-of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation 
of one new Share in the capital increase, which will be the result of applying the following 
formula, rounded up to the nearest whole number:
No. Rights per Share = NES /Provisional no. shares
where, 

“provisional no. shares” = amount of the alternative option / Share price

for this purpose, “Share price” will be the arithmetic mean of the weighted average prices of 
the company’s share on the madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock exchanges over the 
five (5) trading sessions prior to the date of the resolution adopted by the Board of directors 
or, by substitution, the delegate committee to implement the capital increase, rounded up 
or down to the nearest thousandth of a euro and, in the event of half a thousandth of a euro, 
rounded up to the nearest thousandth of a euro. 

the final number of shares to be issued will be the ratio of the number of outstanding rights at 
the end of the negotiation period and the number of rights per share, and if this figure is not a 
whole number, the company will waive the free-of-charge allocation rights necessary to do so.

once determined the final number of shares to be issued, the amount of each capital increase will be 
the result of multiplying the number of the new shares by the par value of the company’s shares -one 
euro per share (1 €) -. the capital increases will be made, therefore, at par, with no share premium.

Example of the calculation of the number of new shares to be issued, the amount of a Capital Increase 
and the number of free-of-charge allocation rights needed for the allocation of one new share: 

for the sole purpose of helping shareholders to understand its application, a sample calculation 
is set out below using the formula contemplated in this section. the results of these calculations 
are not representative of the possible real results in the event of making the capital increases, 
which will depend on the different variables used in the formula (essentially the Share price 
of the company’s share at that time) and the rounding off to be made. 

for the sole purpose of this example:

the amount of the alternative option of the increase to be made is 705,048,650 euro. 

a Share price of 18.00 euro is assumed. 

the neS is 1,220,863,463 (number of company shares at the date of this report). 

therefore: 

provisional no. shares = amount of the alternative option / Share price = 705,048,650 / 
18.00 = 39,169,370

no. rights per share = neS / provisional no. shares = 1,220,863,463 / 39,169,370 = 31.169 = 
32 (rounded up) 

mnnS = neS / no. rights per share = 1,220,863,463 / 32 = 38,151,983 (rounded down) 

the free-of-charge allocation rights sold to the company under the purchase commitment at a 
guaranteed fixed price (alternative b), are excluded from the computation of shares to be issued. 
in the example, if the company had purchase 220,863,463 free-of-charge allocation rights, would 
be 1,000,000,000 of outstanding free-of-charge allocation rights at the end of the trading period. 
the calculation of the final number of new shares to be issued (nnS) would be:

NNS = Number of outstanding free-of-charge allocation rights / No. Rights per share = 
1,000,000,000 / 32 = 31,250,000

consequently, in this example, (i) the final number of new shares to be issued in the capital 
increase would be 31,250,000, (ii) the amount of the capital increase would be 31,250,000 euros, 
and (iii) 32 free-of-charge allocation rights (or old shares) would be needed for the allocation 
of one new share in that increase.

2.2 Free-of-charge allocation rights
in each capital increase each share of the company in circulation will entitle its holder to one 
free-of-charge allocation right. 

the number of free-of-charge allocation rights needed to receive one new share in each capital increase 
will be determined automatically according to the ratio of the number of new shares to the number of 
outstanding shares at that time, calculated using the formula established in section 2.1 above. in parti-
cular, shareholders will be entitled to receive one new Share for a number of free-of-charge allocation 
rights determined according to section 2.1 above, that they hold in the corresponding increase.

if the number of free-of-charge allocation rights required for the allocation of one share (32 in the 
example set out above) multiplied by the maximum number of new shares to be issued (38,151,983 
in the example) is lower than the number of shares in circulation (1,220,863,463), the company will 
waive a number of free-of-charge allocation rights equal to the difference between the two figures 
(7 rights in the example) for the sole purpose of ensuring that the number of new shares is a whole 
number and not a fraction. in that case, there would be an incomplete allocation of the capital 
increase and the capital would be increased only by the amount corresponding to the free-of-charge 
allocation rights in respect of which no waiver has been made (for which the provisions of section 
2.3 below must also be taken into consideration), pursuant to article 311 of the companies act.

free-of-charge allocation rights will be allocated to the company’s shareholders who are recognized as 
such in the accounting registers of Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación and 
Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) at 23:59 on the date on which the announcement 
of the capital increase is published in the official gazette of the commercial registry. Such rights 
may be traded on the same conditions as the shares in respect of which they are granted and may 
be traded on the market for such time as may be determined by the Board of directors or, by substi-
tution, the delegate committee, at least fifteen (15) calendar days, commencing on the day after the 
date on which the announcement of the corresponding capital increase is published in the official 
gazette of the commercial registry. during that period, sufficient free-of-charge allocation rights 
may be acquired on the market in the necessary proportion to receive new shares.

2.3 Purchase Commitment of the free-of-charge allocation rights
as mentioned earlier, irrevocably undertakes to purchase the free-of-charge allocation rights 
assigned in each capital increase (as defined, the “Purchase Commitment”), thus guaranteeing 
the company’s shareholders at the date of the capital increase the possibility of selling their 
rights to the company and receiving, at their choice, all or part of their remuneration in cash. 
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the purchase commitment will only cover the rights received by the shareholders free of charge, 
not those purchased on the market, and will be in force and may be accepted during such time, 
within the trading period of the rights, as may be determined by the Board of directors or, by 
substitution, the delegate committee. the purchase price under the purchase commitment 
will be fixed, calculated prior to opening of the trading period for the free-of-charge allocation 
rights applying the following formula (applying the definitions set out in section 2.1 above), 
rounded up or down to the nearest thousandth of a euro and, in the event of half a thousandth 
of a euro, rounded up to the nearest thousandth of a euro (the “Purchase Price”): purchase 
price = Share price / (no. rights per share +1). 

the final purchase price thus calculated will be determined and announced on the date of 
implementation of each capital increase. 

the company will foreseeably waive the new shares corresponding to the free-of-charge 
allocation rights acquired under the purchase commitment. in that case there would be an 
incomplete allocation of each capital increase and the capital would be increased only by the 
amount corresponding to the free-of-charge allocation rights in respect of which no waiver 
has been made, pursuant to article 311 of the companies act.

2.4 Rights of the new shares
the new shares issued in each capital increase will be ordinary shares with a par value of 
one euro (1 €) each, of the same class and series as those currently in circulation, issued in 
book-entry form, the accounting register of which will be assigned to Sociedad de Gestión de 
los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación and Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) 
and its members. the new shares will confer upon their holders the same voting and economic 
rights as the company’s ordinary shares currently in circulation as from the date on which 
the capital increase is declared subscribed and paid up. 

the capital increases will be made free of charges and commissions for the allocation of new 
shares issued. the company will bear the costs of issue, subscription, putting into circulation, 
listing and any others related with each capital increase.

nevertheless, the company’s shareholders should bear in mind that the members of Sociedad 
de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación and Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal 
(iberclear) at which they have deposited their shares may, under prevailing laws, establish such 
administration charges and commissions as they may freely determine for maintaining the 
securities in the accounting registers. moreover, these members may, under prevailing laws, 
establish such charges and commissions as they may freely determine for handling purchase 
and sale orders in respect of free-of-charge allocation rights.

2.5 Balance sheet and reserve against which the Capital Increases are made
the balance sheet on which the capital increases are based is the balance sheet for the year 
ended 31 december 2011, audited by deloitte, S.l. on 28 february 2012 and laid before the 
ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting for approval under the first point of the agenda. 

the capital increases will be made entirely against the voluntary reserves from retained earnings. 
When making the capital increase, the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate 
committee, will specify the reserve to be used and the amount of that reserve according to 
the balance sheet used as the basis for the capital increases.

2.6 Taxation

 General comments

the principal tax implications deriving from the capital increase are set out below, based on 
the tax laws in place in the common territory and the interpretation made by the Spanish tax 
authorities (Dirección General de Tributos) in answers to several binding consultations.

although the tax regime applicable to shareholders resident in the Basque country & navarre, ceuta and 
melilla is similar to that of the common territory, certain differences may arise in the tax treatment.

Shareholders not resident in Spain, the holders of American Depositary Shares/American 
Depositary Receipts representing shares in the company and the holders of company shares 
listed on the Buenos aires stock exchange should consult their tax advisers on the effects 
deriving from the different options for the capital increase, including the right to apply the 
provisions of double taxation treaties signed by Spain.

it should be borne in mind that the taxation of the different options for the capital increase 
set out herein does not cover all possible tax consequences. consequently, shareholders 
are recommended to consult their tax advisers on the specific tax impact of the proposed 

operation and to pay attention to any changes or amendments that may be made in both the 
laws in place at the date of this operation and the interpretation criteria, as well as the specific 
circumstances of each shareholder or holder of free-of-charge allocation rights.

 Specific comments

the new shares delivered in each capital increase will, for tax purposes, be considered bonus 
shares and, as such, will not be considered income for personal income tax (irpf), corporate 
income tax (iS) or non-resident income tax (irnr), regardless of whether or not the recipients of 
those shares operate through a permanent establishment in Spain. in line with the foregoing, the 
delivery of new shares is not subject to withholding tax or payment on account (advance tax).

the acquisition value of both the new shares and the shares in respect of which they are 
issued will be determined by dividing the total cost by the number of shares, both old shares 
and bonus shares. the bonus shares will be considered to have the same age as the shares 
in respect of which they are issued.

consequently, in the event of a subsequent sale, the income obtained will be calculated with 
reference to this new value.

if shareholders sell their free-of-charge allocation rights on the market, the proceeds obtained 
from trading those rights on the market will not be subject to withholding tax or payment on 
account and will be given the tax treatment described below:

a. for personal income tax and income tax of non-residents with no permanent establishment 
in Spain, the proceeds obtained from the sale of free-of-charge allocation rights on the market 
will be given the same tax treatment as preferential subscription rights. consequently, the 
proceeds from selling the free-of-charge allocation rights reduce the acquisition value for tax 
purposes of the shares giving rise to those rights, pursuant to article 37.1.a) of the personal 
income tax act 35/2006 of 28 november.

 therefore, if the amount obtained from that sale is greater than the acquisition value of the 
shares in respect of which the rights are granted, the difference will be considered a capital 
gain for the seller in the tax period in which the sale is made, without prejudice to the possible 
application to non-resident taxpayers with no permanent establishment in Spain of the double 
taxation treaties signed by Spain to which they may be entitled.

b.  for corporate income tax and income tax of non-residents with a permanent establishment 
in Spain, since a full commercial cycle is closed, it will be taxed according to the applicable 
accounting standards and, where appropriate, any special tax regimes applicable to the share-
holders subject to the taxes indicated.

finally, if holders of the free-of-charge allocation rights decide to take up the repsol ypf 
purchase commitment, the proceeds from sale to repsol ypf of such rights received as 
shareholders will be given the same tax treatment as a cash dividend and, therefore, they will 
be subject to withholding tax and the corresponding taxation.

2.7 Authorization to make each Capital Increase
pursuant to article 297.1.a) of the companies act, it is proposed authorizing the Board of direc-
tors, with express power to delegate to the delegate committee, to determine the date on which 
each capital increase resolution adopted by the ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting is to be 
implemented and to establish the conditions of each capital increase in any aspects not stipulated 
by the Shareholders’ meeting, within a period not exceeding one year from the date on which the 
resolutions are adopted by the Shareholders’ meeting in respect of the capital increases.

this notwithstanding, if the Board of directors, with express powers of substitution, does not 
consider it convenient to make any of the capital increases, it may submit a proposal to the 
Shareholders’ meeting for revocation, in which case it will not be obliged to make the capital 
increase in question. in particular, the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate 
committee, will analyse and take account of the market conditions, circumstances of the 
company and any deriving from a socially or economically important event or circumstance, 
as well as the level of acceptance of the first capital increase and, if in the opinion of the Board 
of directors those or other considerations make it unadvisable to make the corresponding 
increase, it may submit a proposal to the Shareholders’ meeting to revoke any of the capital 
increases. moreover, the capital increases will have no effect if the Board of directors or, by 
delegation, the delegate committee, does not exercise the powers delegated to it within the 
period of one year indicated by the Shareholders’ meeting for making the capital increase, in 
which case it will report on that at the first Shareholders’ meeting held thereafter.

When the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee decides to make 
capital increase, defining the final terms thereof in any aspects not already specified by the 
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Shareholders’ meeting, the company will publish those terms. in particular, prior to commen-
cement of the period for free allocation of the corresponding increase, the company will publish 
a document containing information on the number and nature of the shares and the reasons 
for the capital increase, in pursuance of articles 26.1.e) and 41.1.d) of royal decree 1310/2005 
of 4 november, partly developing the Securities market act 24/1988 of 28 July.

after the end of the trading period for free-of-charge allocation rights in respect of each 
capital increase: 

a. the new shares will be allocated to those shareholders who hold the free-of-charge allocation rights 
according to the registers kept by Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de Registro, Compensación y 
Liquidación de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal (iberclear) and its members in the necessary proportions.

b. the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee will declare the free-of-charge 
allocation rights trading period over and will apply the reserves in the company’s accounts in the 
amount of the corresponding capital increase, which will be deemed paid up by that application.

finally, the Board of directors or, by substitution, the delegate committee, will adopt the 
corresponding resolution to modify the articles of association in order to reflect the new amount 
of the capital following each capital increase and apply for listing of the new shares.

2.8 Listing of the new shares
the company will apply for listing of the new shares issued in each capital increase on the 
madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao and valencia stock exchanges through the automated Quotation 
System (Sistema de Interconexión Bursátil) and complete whatever formalities and actions may be 
necessary and file such documents as may be required with the competent authorities for listing 
of the new shares issued in each capital increase on the Buenos aires stock exchange, expressly 
putting on record that the company submits to existing or future laws and regulations governing 
the stock market, particularly regarding trading, minimum time frames and delisting.

 report by the Board of directors on the proposed resolution  
 corresponding to item twelfth on the agenda (“modify the corporate  
 name of the company and subsequent modification of article  
 1 of the Bylaws”)

the proposal to modify article 1 of the Bylaws, to substitute the current corporate name of 
“repSol ypf, S.a.” for the corporate name of “repSol, S.a.”, arises from the announcement 
made by the argentinean government of the proposed measures to expropriate 51% share 
capital of ypf, S.a., held by the company and/or by its affiliates.

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related to  
 the thirteenth point of the agenda (“delegation to the Board of  
 directors of the power to issue fixed rate, convertible and/or  
 exchangeable securities for company shares or exchangeable for  
 shares in other companies, as well as warrants (options to subscribe  
 new shares or to acquire shares in circulation of the company or other  
 companies). fixing the criteria to determine the bases and modes of  
 conversion and/or exchange and attribution to the Board of directors  
 of the powers to increase capital by the amount necessary, as well  
 as to totally or partially exclude the pre-emptive subscription rights  
 of the shareholders of said issues. authorisation for the company to  
 guarantee securities issued by its subsidiaries. to leave without effect,  
 in the portion not used, the sixteenth B) resolution of the general  
 Shareholders’ meeting held on 15 april 2011.”):

the object of this report is to justify the proposal of the general Shareholders’ meeting that, 
under the thirteenth point of the agenda, grants powers to the Board of directors of repsol 
ypf, S.a. (the “company”), with the express power of delegation in favour of the delegate 
committee, to issue, on one or several occasions, debentures, bonds and other fixed rate 
securities of a similar nature, exchangeable and/or convertible in company shares or exchan-
geable for shares of other companies, as well as warrants convertible and/or exchangeable 
for shares in the company or other companies. 

the Board of directors considers that it highly recommendable to have the delegated powers 
allowed in current regulations to be, at all times, in conditions to capture in the primary secu-
rities markets those funds that are necessary to adequately manage the company interests. 
from this perspective, the delegation proposed aims to grant the company administration 
body the leeway and response capacity required by the competitive environment in which the 
company moves; in which the success of a strategic initiative or a financial operation often 
depends on the possibility of carrying it out quickly, without the hesitation and cost entailed 
in calling and holding a general Shareholder’s meeting. 

With this purpose, according to in articles 511 of the companies act and 319 of the regula-
tions of the commercial registry, applying by analogy article 297.1.b) of the companies act, 
we propose to the general meeting adopting the resolution formulated under the thirteenth 
point of its agenda. 

the proposal establishes a maximum amount appointed to the issues under the delegation 
of 8,400,000,000 euro or its equivalent in another currency, distributed among issues of 
debentures that are convertible and/or exchangeable for company shares, or warrants on 
newly issued shares in which, under section B)7 of the proposal formulated, the pre-emptive 
subscription right is excluded (whose maximum amount will in turn be 4,400,000,000 euro, 
and the issues of debentures that are convertible and/or exchangeable or warrants, or deben-
tures exchangeable for other companies shares, in which the pre-emptive subscription right 
is not excluded (whose maximum amount will in turn be 4,000,000,000 euro) .

the proposal also contemplates authorising the Board of directors to issue convertible and/or 
exchangeable debentures or bonds or warrants and to agree, when appropriate, the necessary 
capital increase to attend the conversion or exercising of the subscription option, as long 
as this increase by delegation does not exceed half of the company capital, as stipulated in 
article 297.1.b) of the companies act, or the lower limit established in the general meeting 
authorisation for the case in which the issue excludes the pre-emptive subscription right. 

additionally, also in the case of issuing convertible and/or exchangeable securities, the resolu-
tion proposed includes the criteria to determine the bases and forms of the conversion and/or 
exchange, although it does allow the Board of directors to specify some of these bases and forms 
for each issue, always within the limits and in accordance with the criteria set by the general 
meeting. consequentially, it will be the Board of directors who determines the specific ratio of 
conversion and/or exchange for which it will issue, at the time of approving an issue of conver-
tible and/or exchangeable securities, under this delegation, a report developing and specifying 
the specific bases and forms of conversion, exchange or exercising that will also be object of the 
corresponding auditors’ report, as established in article 414.2 of the companies act. 

in particular, the resolution proposal submitted to approval by the general meeting establishes that 
the securities issued will be evaluated by their par amount, and the shares at a fixed (determined or to 
be determined) or variable exchange rate, determined by the resolution of the Board of directors.

thus, to the effects of conversion and/or exchange, the fixed rate securities will be evaluated 
for their par amount, and the shares at the exchange rate established by the Board of direc-
tors in the resolution in which it makes use of this delegation, or at the exchange rate to be 
determined on the date or dates indicated in said resolution, according to the listing value 
on the stock market of company shares on the date/s or in the period/s taken as a reference 
in the same resolution, with or without discount and, in any case, with a minimum of the 
highest of the following two (the “minimum value”): (a) the average exchange rate of the 
shares in the continuous market of Spanish Stock markets, according to closing rates, 
the average listing value or other listing reference, during a period to be determined by 
the Board of directors; no more than three (3) months nor less than three (3) days, which 
must end no later the day before the date of adopting the resolution to issue securities by 
the Board of directors, and (b) the exchange rate of the shares on the continuous market 
according to the closing rate on the day prior to adopting said issue resolution. in this way, 
the board considers that it is granted sufficient margin of flexibility to set the value of shares 
for the purpose of conversion, exchange or exercising according to market conditions and 
other applicable considerations, although this must be, in general and at the time of the 
issuance is implemented, substantially equivalent to, at least, their market value. if the 
issue is convertible and/or exchange mandatory, the Board of directors, in the event that 
the listing closing price, the average listing value or another reference listing value on the 
date prior to conversion or a period not exceeding three (3) months prior to that conversion 
will be lower or higher than the minimum value by a percentage to be determined by the 
Board of directors but, in any case, not less than 20%, the Board may establish one or 
more of the following measures: eliminate the possibility of conversion and/or exchange; or 
adapt the value of the shares for the conversion and/or exchange; or postpone the time of 
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that conversion and/or exchange; or further include the possibility of pay cash to securities 
holders by reason of its redemption, conversion and/or exchange. 

it may also be agreed to issue convertible and/or exchangeable fixed rate securities with a variable 
ratio of conversion and/or exchange. in this case, the price of the shares for the purpose of 
conversion and/or exchange, will be the arithmetical average of the closing prices, average prices 
or other listing reference of the company shares in the continuous market during a period to 
be determined by the Board of directors; no more than three (3) months or less than three (3) 
days, which must end no later the day before the date of conversion and/or exchange, with a 
premium or, where appropriate, a discount on said price per share. the premium or discount 
can be different for each date of conversion and/or exchange of each issue (or, when appropriate, 
each stage of an issue), although in the case of setting a discount on the price per share, this 
may not be greater than 30%. additionally, under the terms approved by the Board of directors, 
a minimum and/or maximum reference price of the shares for the purpose of their conversion 
and/or exchange may be established as limits. again, the board considers that this provides it 
with sufficient leeway to set the variable conversion and/or exchange ratio according to market 
circumstances and the remaining considerations that the board must attend to, by establishing 
a maximum discount in order to ensure that the type of issue of new shares in the case of 
conversion, should the discount be granted, does not deviate more than 30% in relation to the 
market value of the shares at the time of conversion or reference provided by the Board. 

Similar criteria will be used, mutatis mutandi and insofar as they are applicable, to issue 
debentures (or warrants) exchangeable for shares in other companies (in this case, the refe-
rences to the Spanish stock markets will be made, if appropriate, to the markets where said 
shares are listed).

in the case of warrants on newly issued shares, inasmuch as they are compatible with their 
nature, the rules on convertible debentures assigned in the proposal shall be applied.

in addition, and in accordance with that stipulated in article 415.2 of the companies act, 
convertible debentures may not be converted into shares when the par value of the shares is 
less than the value of the debentures. neither may convertible debentures be issued for an 
amount lower than their par value.

on the other hand, it is stated that the authorisation to issue fixed rate securities includes, in 
accordance with that established in article 511 of the companies act and in the case that the 
object of the issue is convertible debentures, attributing the Board of directors the power to 
exclude, totally or partially, the pre-emptive subscription right of shareholders when this is required 
to capture financial resources on the markets or in other ways justified by company interests. 
the Board of directors considers that this additional possibility, that considerably extends the 
leeway and capacity of response offered by a simple delegation of the power to issue convertible 
debentures, is justified by the flexibility and agility with which it is necessary to act in current 
financial markets in which the market conditions are more propitious. this justification also 
exists when capturing financial resources is intended to be made on international markets or 
by techniques of demand prospecting or bookbuilding or when otherwise justified by company 
interests. finally, the withdrawal of the pre-emptive subscription right allows a relative reduction 
of the financial cost of the loan and the costs associated to the operation -including, in particular, 
the commissions of the financial entities that participate in the issue- in comparison with an 
issue in which pre-emptive subscription right are given, and at the same time it has a lesser 
effect of distortion in the negotiation of company shares during the issue period. 

in the preparing this proposal the Board has considered the recommendations and interna-
tional trends in this area. thus, consistent with these recommendations and trends, considering 
the total amount of convertible bonds that, in the implementation of this authorization and 
during its period term (5 years), could be issued with exclusion of pre-emptive subscription 
right (4,400,000,000 euro), and a hypothetical conversion into shares at the average prices 
of listing for the last 30 and/or 90 days prior to the issuance of this report, increases in share 
capital needed to cover the conversion of the obligations would be lower than 20% of current 
company’s share capital. 

With all this, note that the exclusion of the pre-emptive subscription right is a power that the 
general meeting delegates in the Board of directors and it corresponds to the latter, taking 
into account the specific circumstances and in relation to legal requirements, to decide in each 
case whether excluding such a right is appropriate or not. additionally, in the case that in an 
issue the board resolves the exclusion of the pre-emptive subscription right, it must issue at 
the same time a report explaining the reasons of company interest that justify said exclusion, 
which will be object of the compulsory auditors’ report established in articles 417.2 and 511.3 
of the companies act, and they will be available to shareholders and communicated in the 
first general meeting held after adopting the issue resolution.

the proposal is completed with the request that, when appropriate, the securities issued 
under this authorisation are admitted to negotiation in any secondary market, organised or 
not, national or foreign, authorising the board to carry out the appropriate procedures for 
such purposes, with the express possibility that the powers of any kind granted to the Board 
of directors may in turn be delegated by the board to the delegate committee. 

likewise, the proposal includes authorising the board to guarantee the issue of fixed rate 
securities referred to in this resolution that may be made by companies belonging to repsol 
ypf group. 

finally, it must be specified that the proposal includes leaving without effect, in the portion 
not used, the sixteenth B) resolution of the general Shareholders’ meeting of 15 april 2011, 
due to identity in the matter regulated. 

 report by the Board of directors on the proposed resolution  
 corresponding to item fourteenth on the agenda (“ratification  
 of the creation of the company’s corporate website  
 www.repsol.com”)

article 11 bis of the companies act, introduced by act 25/2011 of 1 august on the partial reform 
of the companies act and incorporation of directive 2007/36/ec of the european parliament 
and of the council of 11 July 2007 on the exercise of certain rights of shareholders in listed 
companies, establishes that the creation of the corporate website must be resolved by the 
Shareholders’ meeting of the company, expressly included on the agenda for the meeting, 
entered in the corresponding commercial register and published in the official gazette of 
the commercial registry.

prior to approval of that provision, the company had already created its corporate website 
www.repsol.com, which may be consulted by any shareholder or third party and was also 
entered in the madrid commercial register as of 27 april 2011, put on record in a marginal 
note to entry no. 63 in volume 3,893, folio 178, section 8, page m-65289.

consequently, since the company’s corporate website had already been created and entered in 
the commercial register prior to the entry into force of the new article 11 bis of the companies 
act, it is proposed that the Shareholders’ meeting resolve to ratify the company’s corporate 
websitewww.repsol.com.

 report by the Board of directors on the proposed resolution  
 corresponding to item fifteenth on the agenda (“advisory vote  
 on the report on the remuneration policy for directors of repsol  
 ypf, S.a. for 2011”)

pursuant to article 61 ter of the Securities market act 24/1988 of 28 July, as amended by the 
Sustainable economy act 2/2011 of 4 march, the annual report on the remuneration policy 
for directors of repsol ypf, S.a. for the fiscal year 2011is put to the advisory vote by the 
shareholders as a separate item on the agenda.

this report was approved by the Board of directors at its meeting of april 17, 2012, upon 
recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee, and is available for 
consultation by shareholders on the company’s website (www.repsol.com) and at its registered 
office, paseo de la castellana 278, madrid, where shareholders may also request its delivery 
or remittance free of charge to such address as they may indicate.

 report of the Board of directors on the resolution proposal related  
 to the Sixteenth point of the agenda (“delegation of powers to  
 complement, develop, execute, correct and formalise the resolutions  
 adopted by the general meeting”)

this is the usual resolution that grants the Board of directors the ordinary powers for 
the appropriate execution of the resolutions of the general meeting itself, including the 
powers to formalise the deposit of the annual accounts and to register the resolutions 
subject to the same. 
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1. introduction 

this report (the “Report”) sets out the remuneration policy of repsol ypf, S.a. (hereinafter 
“Repsol yPF” or the “Company”) for the members of its Board of directors and has been 
drawn up according to the principles of maximum transparency and information on remune-
rations applied by this company in its public reporting documents.

the report contains a description of the basic principles of the company’s remuneration 
policy regarding the members of the Board of directors, addressing the remuneration of 
executive and non-executive directors separately, and a detailed disclosure of the different 
items comprising their remuneration, based on the relevant provisions of the articles of 
association and the regulations of the Board of directors, including also a description of the 
basic principles of the group remuneration policy.

this report will be put to an advisory vote by at the ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting 2012.

2. regulatory framework

repsol ypf has been publishing information on the remuneration of its directors since 2003. 
as far as the applicable legal framework is concerned, the Sustainable economy act 2/2011 of 
4 march entered into force as of 6 march 2011, amending the Securities market act 24/1988 
of 28 July to establish the obligation for listed companies to publish an annual report on their 
directors’ remuneration, to be distributed and put to an advisory vote, under a separate item 
on the agenda, at the ordinary general Shareholders’ meeting (agm).

in addition, with regard to the reference framework on corporate governance, the national Secu-
rities market commission (cnmv) approved the unified code of good governance on 22 may 
2006, as the only document on corporate governance recommendations, the main purpose 
of which was to recast the recommendations existing in Spain up to 2003, the harmonisation 
thereof made with those published later (oecd principles and european union recommenda-
tions, inter alia)and taking into consideration the points of view of experts in the private sector, 
the Secretary of State for economy, the ministry of Justice and the Bank of Spain.

one of the basic principles of the code is its voluntary nature, subject to the “comply or 
explain” principle recognised internationally and expressly contemplated in the current article 
116 of the Securities market act.

one of the recommendations made in the unified code of good governance is for the Board 
to approve a detailed remuneration policy, to be put to an advisory vote under a separate item 
on the agenda at the general Shareholders’ meeting.

finally, with regard to internal regulations, the articles of association and the regulations of 
the Board of directors of the company lay down the basic principles of the remuneration policy 
for directors and the duties of the Board of directors and the nomination and compensation 
committee in respect of that policy.

With this report repsol ypf complies with article 61 ter of the Securities market act, the 
recommendations of the unified code of good governance and its internal regulations, 
continuing in its line of reporting transparency as regards remuneration. 

3. duties of the Board of directors and the nomination  
 and compensation committee

as indicated in the preceding point, the duties of the Board of directors of repsol ypf and 
its nomination and compensation committee regarding remuneration are regulated in the 
articles of association and the regulations of the Board of directors.

according to article 5 of those regulations, the Board of Directors shall approve the remu-
neration of the directors and, in the case of executive directors, the additional remuneration 
for the performance of executive duties and other conditions of their contracts. it shall also 
approve the remuneration policy for Senior executives. 

as established in article 33 of the regulations, the Nomination and Compensation Committee 
has the duty of submitting to the Board proposals on its remuneration policy, assessing in 
its proposal the responsibility, dedication and incompatibilities required of directors. in the 
case of executive directors, the committee proposes the additional remuneration payable for 
performing their executive duties and for the other conditions of their contracts.

Report on the Remuneration Policy 
for Directors of Repsol yPF, S .A .
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notwithstanding the above, after the dismissal presented by mr. luis del rivero asensio on 
december 20, 2012, the Board of directors of the company is made up of fifteen (15) members, 
being the majority of them independent. in particular, two (2) of the directors are executive, 
five (5) are proprietary and eight (8) are independent, as follows:

Name Position Status

Antonio Brufau Niubó Chairman Executive

Isidro Fainé Casas Vice-Chairman Proprietary

Juan Abelló Gallo Vice-Chairman Proprietary

Paulina Beato Blanco Member Independent

Artur Carulla Font Member Independent

Luis Carlos Croissier Batista Member Independent

Ángel Durández Adeva Member Independent

Javier Echenique Landiríbar Member Independent

Mario Fernández Peláez Member Independent

María Isabel Gabarró Miquel Member Independent

José Manuel Loureda Mantiñán Member Proprietary

Juan María Nin Génova Member Proprietary

Pemex Internacional España, s.a. represented  
by Marco Antonio de la Peña Sánchez (1)

Member Proprietary

Henri Philippe Reichstul Member Independent

Luis Suárez de Lezo Mantilla Member and Secretary Executive

(1) on december 31, 2011 the director pemex internacional españa, S.a. was represented by mr. Jose manuel carrera panizzo.

the Board of directors held twelve (12) meetings in 2011, with a 99.48% attendance, only one 
of its meetings being held without the attendance of all of its members(1). the chairman of 
the Board of directors and the Secretary have attended all the meetings held.

5. remuneration policy for directors

5 .1 General principles of the remuneration policy for Directors
the principles and criteria applicable for determining the directors’ remuneration, for both 
their collegiate supervisory and decision-making duties and for the performance of other duties 
by the executive directors, are defined below.

the principles applicable to the remuneration of Directors for their collegiate supervisory and 
decision-making duties are as follows:

the remuneration must be sufficient and adequate for the dedication, qualification and respon-• 
sibilities of the directors, but not to the extent of compromising their independence.

their remuneration shall also be set on arm’s length terms, taking into consideration the remuneration • 
established for directors in other Spanish groups of listed companies having a similar size, business 
and operating complexity and geographical distribution of assets to those of repsol ypf.

the remuneration policy for Executive Directors, for the performance of their executive duties other 
than the collegiate supervisory and decision-making duties corresponding to all Board members, is in 
line with the general remuneration policy for executives in the repsol ypf group, described below.

the company aims to be a benchmark enterprise in all the areas in which it acts, by virtue of its 
high value added, outstanding business management, organizational and business values and 
culture and the quality of its management, and for creating value for its shareholders. to achieve 
those goals, the remuneration policy is based on the following premises:

moreover, as contemplated in article 33, the nomination and compensation committee also 
has a duty to submit to the Board of directors a proposal regarding the remuneration policy 
for Senior executives. 

the nomination and compensation committee is also responsible for the selection, appo-
intment, re-election and removal of directors. in this regard, it assesses the competence, 
expertise and experience required on the Board, defining the duties and skills sought in the 
candidates for any vacancy and assessing the time and dedication required to be able to 
perform their duties well. it also proposes the appointment, re-election or ratification of non-
executive independent directors and informs on the appointment, re-election or ratification 
of other directors, and on proposals for the appointment and removal of the chairman, 
vice-chairmen, Secretary and vice-Secretary of the Board of directors and the directors who 
are to sit on the different committees.

4. composition of the nomination and compensation committee  
 and the Board of directors

according to the regulations of the Board of directors, all the members of the nomination 
and compensation committee are non-executive directors, most of whom, i.e. three (3), are 
independent and the other two (2) proprietary. all the committee members have extensive 
experience and expertise in the duties to be performed.

the Board appoints the committee members for terms of four years. although eligible for 
re-election on one or several occasions, committee members shall step down on expiry of 
their term of office, when they step down as directors or when so resolved by the Board of 
directors, subject to a report by the audit and control committee. 

as of 31 december 2011, the composition of the nomination and compensation committee 
was as follows.

Name Position Status

Artur Carulla Font Chairman Independent

Mario Fernández Peláez Member Independent

María Isabel Gabarró Miquel Member Independent

José Manuel Loureda Mantiñán Member Proprietary

Juan María Nin Génova Member Proprietary

the nomination and compensation committee held five (5) meetings in 2011, with 100% 
attendance by its members.

as regards the Board of directors, the general Shareholders meeting agreed, on may 9, 2007, 
to establish in 16 the number of directors, within the limits provided under article 31 of the 
articles of association.

(1) the rules established in the current model of annual report on corporate governance approved by the national 
Securities market commission circular 4/2007 of 27 december have been followed to calculate non-attendance.
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have a competitive overall pay level in respect of other comparable enterprises, to attract, • 
retain and motivate the best professionals. repsol ypf considers compensation to generate 
value, through which it assumes a commitment to its executives and makes them feel part 
of the organization.

establish a non-variable remuneration taking account of the references of other comparable • 
enterprises by market and size and the sustained contribution of each executive so that it is 
competitive with the rest of the market.

maintain an annual variable component linked to the achievement of specific, quantifiable • 
objectives aligned with corporate interests, with control and measurement systems to determine 
the receipt of the variable remuneration according to individual performance assessments 
and evaluation of the personal contribution to meeting the set objectives.

incorporate multi-year medium and long-term variable remuneration systems to encourage • 
the sustained achievement of objectives over time and retain the key executives linked to 
those objectives. 

Based on the foregoing, the company’s remuneration policy was designed taking into account 
comparative details of the remuneration schemes in other Spanish large business groups of 
listed companies with a size and importance similar to those of de repsol ypf. the remune-
ration of the executive chairman has also been determined taking into account the evolution 
of remuneration trends in the european energy market.

the total compensation, considered the entire pay package, is made up of different items with 
a view to achieving a balance between them. these pay items are essentially: (i) non-variable 
monetary remuneration; (ii) annual variable remuneration; and (iii) multi-year variable remu-
neration; and (iv) welfare schemes.

5 .2 Remuneration policy applied in 2011
this section describes the remuneration outline deriving from the policies applied in 2011 
to determine:

the remuneration of the directors for performance of the collegiate supervisory and decision-• 
making duties corresponding to them as directors: and

the remuneration of the executive directors for performance of their executive duties.• 

5 .2 .1 Remuneration policy for Directors for performance of duties inherent  
 in the status of Director of Repsol yPF
pursuant to art. 45 of the articles of association, the company may set aside each year a sum 
equivalent to 1.5% of the total net profit, after funding the legal and any other compulsory 
reserves and recognising a dividend of at least 4% for shareholders, for remuneration of the 
members of the Board, as compensation for the collegiate supervisory and decision-making 
duties corresponding to this body.

the nomination and compensation committee recommends to the Board of directors the 
criteria it considers adequate to comply with this provision of the articles and the Board of 
directors then sets the exact amount payable within that limit and its distribution among the 
different directors, according to the positions held and duties performed by each one within 
the Board and its committees.

the directors receive a non-variable remuneration for their collegiate supervisory and decision-
making duties. this remuneration is calculated by assigning points for being on the Board of 
directors and/or its different committees.

at the Board meeting held on 23 february 2011, the Board of directors resolved, upon recom-
mendation by the nomination and compensation committee, to increase the value of the 
point by 2.5% for 2011, bringing that value to euros 88,297.11 gross a year. this increase was 
resolved after analyzing the information on remuneration policies for the directors of other 
listed companies having a size, complexity of business and operations and geographical 
distribution of assets similar to those of repsol ypf, with a view to keeping the remuneration 
policy competitive as this amount had not varied since 2008.

the points table is set out below: 

Body Points

Board of Directors 2

Executive Committee (CD) 2

Audit and Control Committee (CAC) 1

Nomination and Compensation Committee (CNR) 0.5

Strategy, Investment and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (CEIRSC) 0.5

the amounts received in 2011 by each of the directors for being on the Board of directors 
and its different committees are indicated below:

Director 2011

Board Committees Total

CD CAC CNR CEIRSC

Antonio Brufau Niubó 176,594 176,594 – – – 353,188

Isidro Fainé Casas 176,594 176,594 – – – 353,188

Juan Abelló Gallo (1) 176,594 29,432 – – 44,149 250,175

Luis del Rivero Asensio (2) 161,878 132,446 – – – 294,324

Paulina Beato Blanco 176,594 – 88,297 – – 264,891

Artur Carulla Font 176,594 176,594 – 44,149 – 397,337

Luis Carlos Croissier Batista 176,594 – – – 44,149 220,743

Ángel Durández Adeva 176,594 – 88,297 – – 264,891

Javier Echenique Landiríbar 176,594 176,594 88,297 – – 441,486

Mario Fernández Pelaz (3) 117,729 – – 29,432 – 147,162

Ma Isabel Gabarró Miquel 176,594 – – 44,149 44,149 264,891

Jose Manuel Loureda Mantiñán 176,594 – – 44,149 44,149 264,891

Carmelo de las Morenas López (4) 58,865 – 29,432 – – 88,297

Juan María Nin Génova 176,594 – – 44,149 44,149 264,891

Pemex Internacional España s.a. 176,594 176,594 – – 44,149 397,337

Henri Philippe Reichstul 176,594 176,594 – – – 353,188

Luis Suárez de Lezo Mantilla 176,594 176,594 – – – 353,188

(1) Juan abelló gallo was appointed vicechairman and member of the executive committee on 26 october 2011, substituting luis del rivero asensio
(2) luis del rivero asensio resigned from the Board on 20 december 2011 and was substituted by Juan abelló as vicechairman and member of the executive committee  
on 26 october 2011.
(3) mario fernández pelaz was appointed director on 15 april 2011.
(4) carmelo de las morenas lópez resigned from the Board on 15 april 2011.

5 .2 .2 Remuneration policy for Executive Directors for performance  
 of executive duties
as indicated in point 5.1 above, the remuneration policy for executive directors for performance 
of their executive duties is in line with the general remuneration policy for executives in the 
repsol ypf group and contemplates, inter alia, the following items:

a non-variable remuneration taking account of the level of responsibility of those duties, • 
making sure it is competitive in respect of the remuneration payable for equivalent duties in 
enterprises comparable with repsol ypf.

a variable remuneration which represents a significant proportion of the total remuneration • 
and is linked to the achievement of predetermined, specific, quantifiable objectives directly 
aligned with the shareholders’ interests and linked, in particular, to the objectives established 
in the Strategic plan horizon 2014. the variable remuneration is not based on the general 
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evolution of the markets or the sector, but on achievement of the objectives set and the 
company’s earnings in the economic environment.

the non-variable and variable (annual, multi-annual and one-off extraordinary bonus) remu-
neration accrued for each of the executive directors in 2011 for their executive work have 
represented, in relation to their total monetary remuneration, the following percentages: 

Non-variable  
Remuneration

Variable  
Remuneration

Antonio Brufau 31% 69%

Luis Suárez de Lezo 27% 73%

5 .2 .2 .1 Non-variable remuneration

this remuneration includes the non-variable remuneration of executive directors as compen-
sation for their executive positions and duties.

the nomination and compensation committee submits a proposal to the Board of directors 
each year regarding the amount of the non-variable remuneration of the executive chairman 
and the director-Secretary, and the Board of directors approves it, if appropriate.

accordingly, at a Board meeting on 23 february 2011, the Board of directors resolved, upon 
recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee, to increase the non-
variable remuneration of the executive chairman and the director-Secretary by 2.5% in 2011, 
since those amounts had not varied since 2008. 

the non-variable remunerations received by the executive chairman and the director-Secretary 
in 2011 are indicated below:

Non-variable remuneration 2011 thousand euros

Antonio Brufau 2,368

Luis Suárez de Lezo 983

5 .2 .2 .2 . Annual variable remuneration

this refers to the short-term variable remuneration. the annual variable remuneration is 
intended to motivate the executive’s performance and assesses on an annual basis his contri-
bution towards achievement of predetermined, specific, quantifiable objectives and develo-
pment of the organization’s values. in particular, these objectives refer to the key indicators 
for fulfilment of the Strategic plan in force from time to time.

Based on the foregoing, the annual variable remuneration of the executive directors is calcu-
lated and received according to the overall assessment of their management.

to calculate the annual variable remuneration of the executive chairman for 2011, at its meeting 
of 23 february 2011 the Board of directors, upon recommendation by the nomination and 
compensation committee, previously established some objective, measurable criteria, which 
were taken into consideration to assess the amount. 

the objectives set for the executive chairman are linked to the Strategic plan horizon 2014 
approved by the company in may 2010 and include the following variables:

application of the Strategic plan 2010-2014.• 

maintenance of the financial and efficiency standards and reduction of costs.• 

earnings of the company.• 

promotion of policies: (1) reputational: (2) good governance; (3) corporate social responsibility; • 
and (4) environmental.

the nomination and compensation committee assessed the degree of achievement of these objec-
tives at its meeting on 28 february 2012, considering objective, verifiable, quantitative information. 

the indicators used for this assessment included objective fulfilment parameters established 
in the Strategic plan, which include both commercially sensitive information and other infor-
mation that the company announced in its earnings slideshow presented on 29 february 
2012, registered with the cnmv, otcQx and the argentine national Securities commission 
(http://www.repsol.com/imagenes/es_en/WeBcaSt_resultados_4t11_tcm11-618975.pdf), 
economic and financial details and the tangible results of promotion of the corporate policies 

described above, including the naming of repsol ypf leader of the oil & gas sector in the 
prestigious international sustainability index Dow Jones Sustainability Index World, numerous 
other external recognitions of the company management(1), the improvement of corporate 
governance practices, by virtue of which the company no longer entirely fails to comply with 
any recommendation of the unified code of corporate governance, execution of the corporate 
Social responsibility model, review and update of the carbon Strategy 2012-2020, and the 21% 
reduction of the rate of accidents with work absence (own and contractors’ employees).

the annual variable remuneration of the director-Secretary is also calculated according to 
predetermined, measurable criteria. the amount is approved by the Board of directors, upon 
recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee. 

the objectives set for the director-Secretary, apart from being generally related to the Strategic 
plan 2010-2014, are especially linked to each of the management departments under his charge 
and the control of the company. in particular, they take into account variables related with: (i) 
control of reserves; (ii) internal audit and control duties; (iii) corporate governance; (iv) institu-
tional relations; (v) corporate responsibility; (v) legal services; and (vi) asset management.

Based on the foregoing and after analyzing the degrees of fulfilment of their respective objec-
tives by the executive chairman and the director-Secretary, the Board of directors resolved on 
28 february 2012, upon recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee, 
to establish and settle the amounts indicated below as the annual variable remuneration for 
2011 to be received by each one.

 

Annual variable remuneration 2011 thousand euros

Antonio Brufau 337(*)

Luis Suárez de Lezo 442

(*) as regards the executive chairman, although he has accrued an annual variable remuneration of 1,065,487.50€, 
under his terms of contract the amounts corresponding to him according to the articles of association for being on 
the boards of the repsol ypf group and its subsidiaries, which amounted to 728,268.86€ in 2011, must be deducted 
from this amount, so the sum finally received by the executive chairman ass annual variable remuneration is the 
amount set out in the above table.

5 .2 .2 .3 One-off extraordinary bonus 2011

as an exception in 2011, implementing the resolution passed by the Board of directors on 
23 february 2011, following a favourable report issued by the nomination and compensation 
committee, the executive directors and other senior executives earned a one-off extraordinary 
bonus in 2011 associated with the achievement of certain strategic landmarks for the company, 
such as the execution of the agreements with china petroleum & chemical corporation 
(“Sinopec”) to develop jointly exploration and production projects in Brazil. Said execution 
was carried out by means of the capital increase of 7,111 uSd millions in repsol Brasil S.a. 

(1) repsol is still included, for the sixth year in succession, in the european index Dow Jones Sustainability Index Europe 
(only20 Spanish companies have passed the rigorous selection for inclusion in these indexes and 12 companies in the 
oil&gas sector form part of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index World). moreover, for the eighth year in succession, repsol 
is included in the indexes FTSE4Good Global y Europe; and it has been in the Spanish sustainability index ftSe4 good 
ibex since its creation in 2008. repsol has once again been awarded the Gold Class Company rating according to the 
Anuario de Sostenibilidad 2011 (Sustainability yearbook 2011) in recognition of the companies with the best performance 
in sustainability and corporate responsibility in the world. repsol ypf has also received recognition from the magazine 
Newsweek as the company with the best environmental performance in the energy sector in the Green Ranking 2011.  
the company has been recognized as Best European Energy Company for its executive leadership according to a study 
made by the international consultancy Hay Group (repsol is the only energy company in the top 10 of the ranking drawn 
up in this analysis). in addition, it has been granted the award for the Spanish company with the Best Financial Reporting 
on Internet, Transparency and Reliability, in the section of companies listed in the iBex 35. this is the x edition of these 
annual awards, granted by the Spanish Accounting and Business Administration Association(AECA) and it was awarded 
the “Llotja” Prize for the Best Information provided by Companies for their shareholders and the market, a recognition 
awarded each year by the chamber of commerce of Barcelona. repsol was also awarded the “El Diamante de la Compra” 
(purchase diamond) prize by the Spanish Association of Procurement, Contracting and Purchase Professionals (AERCE), 
in the innovation category for its new procurements model. repsol received the emblem “Equality within the Company” 
awarded by the Ministry of Health, Welfare Policy and Equality. it has also received the Ability Award for the “Best private 
enterprise”. furthermore, repsol and its foundation have received the Discapnet of Fundación Once Prize. the chairman 
del Board has also been awarded the prize for the “Best Entrepreneur 2010” by the Federation of Spanish Chambers of 
Commerce (FEDECOM) and was invested doctor honoris causa in 2011 by the University of Ramón Llull .
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(now repsol Sinopec Brasil, S.a.), subscribed up entirely by Sinopec on december 28, 2010 
that motivated a significant earnings growth in 2010. it is, therefore, a one-off, extraordinary 
remuneration associated with 2010 and is consequently not expected to be a recurring payment 
in the future.

the amount of the extraordinary bonus awarded to the executive chairman and the director-
Secretary is as follows:

Extraordinary bonus 2011 thousand euros

Antonio Brufau 2,772

Luis Suárez de Lezo 1,678

5 .2 .2 .4 Multi-year variable remuneration

Since 2000, the company has implemented four-year monetary incentive programs linked to 
the achievement of medium-term objectives, with a view to retaining and motivating the key 
executives related with those objectives and securing a sustained maximization of the value of 
repsol. those programs have been approved by the Board of directors of repsol ypf, upon 
recommendation by the nomination and compensation committee. the beneficiaries of 
these programs are the executives and, selectively, other employees with a high qualification 
and potential for the company.

at year-end 2011 the medium-term remuneration programs 2008-2011, 2009-2012, 2010-2013 
and 2011-2014 were in force, although the first of them (2008-2011) was closed, in accordance 
with its terms, as of 31 december 2011 and its beneficiaries will receive the corresponding 
variable remuneration in the first quarter of 2012, after assessing the degree of achievement 
of its objectives.

the aforesaid programs are independent of one another but their main features are the same. 
in all cases they are specific multi-year remuneration schemes for the years contemplated 
in each one. each scheme is linked to the fulfilment of a number of objectives and strategic 
commitments established in the group’s Strategic plan in force from time to time and are 
directly aligned with the shareholders’ interests, in that they contribute to the generation of 
value for the company. Both the objectives and the variables used to measure their achie-
vement are previously established by the Board, following a report by the nomination and 
compensation committee.

if they meet their respective objectives, the beneficiaries of each scheme are entitled to a 
medium-term variable remuneration in the first quarter of the year after the end of the scheme. 
the nomination and compensation committee assesses the level of achievement of the 
predetermined objectives and submits its proposal to the Board of directors. however, in 
each case receipt of the incentive is conditional upon the beneficiary remaining in the group 
up to 31 december of the last year of the program, save in the special cases contemplated in 
the regulations of each program.

the sum receivable under each of the incentive programs is calculated by applying two variable 
coefficients: one according to the degree of achievement of the set objectives and the other linked 
to the personal performance of the beneficiary during the period contemplated in the program.

Several variables have been taken to determine the degree of fulfilment of the objectives in the 
medium-term remuneration program 2008-2011, within the different business, corporate and 
financial objectives, those variables being weighted to establish the final value of the objective.

Within the business objectives, the committee took particularly into account the core growth 
variables in the downstream area and focused growth in the upstream area. Within the 
corporate and financial objectives, the variables used are those of optimization and financial 
discipline, value creation and safety and environment.

to be able to assess the level of fulfilment of each variable, coefficients have been established accor-
ding to certain indicators within each of the variables mentioned. the degree of individual fulfilment 
is calculated by comparing the real values and the reference values of those indicators.

the indicators used to determine the degree of fulfilment of the (imp) 2008-2011, in respect 
of the upstream area, include, inter alia, the reserve replenishment ratio, prospecting success 
rate, increase in production and volume of lng put on the market. in downstream, the degree 
of execution of the two major projects in Spain (cartagena and Bilbao) and the integrated 
refining and marketing margin were taken as reference; and for the safety and environment 
objective, the rate of accidents with work absence and the reduction of greenhouse gas emis-
sions were taken as reference. 

according to the executive chairman’s terms of contract, he receives a multi-year variable 
remuneration based on the degree of achievement of the objectives approved for the variable 
remuneration programs for executives of the repsol ypf group. consequently, although the 
executive chairman does not currently participate in any of the medium-term remuneration 
programs open, the degree of achievement of the objectives approved for the corresponding 
incentive scheme ending in each year is taken as reference to determine the amount of his 
multi-year variable remuneration, paid in the following year.

the director-Secretary is a beneficiary of the medium-term remuneration programs 2008-
2011, 2009-2012, 2010-2013 and 2011-2014.

the nomination and compensation committee agreed at its meeting on 28 february 2012 
to set the degree of fulfilment of the objectives of the medium-term remuneration program 
2008-2011 at 86.3% and, accordingly, to submit a proposal to the Board of directors proposing 
the amounts of multi-year variable remuneration for the executive chairman and the director-
Secretary, as indicated in the following table. the Board of directors resolved on 28 february 
2012 to approve the proposal of the nomination and compensation committee to pay the 
amount of the multi-year variable remuneration of the executive chairman and the director-
Secretary for 2011.

Multi-year variable remuneration 2011 thousand euros

Antonio Brufau 1,553

Luis Suárez de Lezo 586

5 .2 .3 Other payments
in addition, the expense for 2011 corresponding to payments in kind received by the executive 
directors amounts to 52 thousand euros for the executive chairman and 4 thousand euros 
for the director-Secretary.

5 .2 .4 Non-variable remuneration as members of the Board of Directors  
 of other Group companies
the executive directors may receive an additional non-variable remuneration for being on the 
boards of directors of other group, multigroup or associated companies.

in this regard, in 2011 the executive chairman and the director-Secretary received the amounts 
indicated below for being on the boards of directors of other group, multigroup or associated 
companies. as indicated in point 5.2.2.b) above, these amounts corresponding to the executive 
chairman are deducted from his annual variable remuneration.

Remuneration 2011

thousand euros Gas Natural SDG, s.a. YPF, s.a. Total

Antonio Brufau 290 85 375

Luis Suárez de Lezo 152 84 235

the non-executive directors have not received any other remuneration for being on the boards 
of other group, multigroup or associated companies.

5 .2 .5 Welfare Schemes
repsol ypf considers that the pay package of the executive directors should have a compo-
sition in line with market trends, so the emoluments described above are supplemented 
with a welfare scheme. the non-executive directors are not beneficiaries of any repsol ypf 
welfare scheme.

the executive chairman has an insurance policy covering retirement, disability and death, 
in which repsol ypf is named policyholder. the beneficiary for retirement and disability is 
the executive chairman himself, and in the event of his death, the beneficiaries shall be the 
persons designated by the executive chairman.

the director-Secretary is a beneficiary of the “permanence reward”, a deferred compensation 
rewarding his permanence in the repsol ypf group. this compensation is structured in an 
investment fund called “permanence fund, fi”. 
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each year repsol ypf contributes an amount equal to 20% of the annual non-variable remu-
neration of the director-Secretary to the permanence fund, fi, receiving in exchange units in 
the fund. those units are owned by repsol ypf until the director-Secretary retires, whereupon 
the vested right will be transferred to him, together with the title over the units. he will also 
be entitled to the cumulative amount of the permanence reward upon termination of his 
contract, in cases entitling him to compensation, and on reaching the age of 62.

the director-Secretary is also unit-holder of a defined contribution company pension scheme of 
repsol ypf, the maximum contribution to which is set by collective agreement at 7,212€ a year.

he is also the beneficiary of an insurance policy covering disability and death, in which repsol 
ypf is named policyholder.

the cost of the insurance policies taken out by the company for the executive directors, 
covering retirement, disability and death, and the contributions to pension schemes and 
welfare schemes, including the corresponding payments on account, where appropriate, 
totalled 2,768 thousand euros in 2011, corresponding to the following items: for the execu-
tive chairman, 228 thousand euros correspond to life insurance and 2,443 thousand euros 
to contributions to the pension scheme and cost of retirement insurance. for the director-
Secretary, 91 thousand euros correspond to life insurance, 7 thousand euros to contributions 
to pension schemes and cost of retirement insurance and 197 thousand euros to contributions 
to the permanence reward.

5 .3 Stock Plans
on 15 april 2011, the general Shareholders’ meeting of repsol approved a proposal submitted 
by the Board of directors after a favourable report by the nomination and compensation 
committee to create two stock plans: (i) the Stock acquisition plan 2011-2012; and (ii) the 
Stock acquisition plan by the Beneficiaries of the medium-term remuneration programs 
and Subsequent additional Shares delivery. the implementation of said plans is the most 
relevant change in the remuneration policy corresponding to year 2011 in respect of the one 
applied in 2010. 

the purpose of the first plan, i.e. the Stock acquisition plan 2011-2012 is to enable executives 
and employees of the repsol ypf group in Spain who so wish to receive up to 12,000 € of 
their annual remuneration in company shares. this plan does not, therefore, entail any addi-
tional remuneration, but merely enables payment of the compensation of its beneficiaries to 
be structured differently, in shares, at their choice. the executive directors do not participate 
in this plan since they do not have an employment relationship with the company.

the purpose of the second stock plan, that is, the Stock acquisition plan by the Beneficiaries 
of the medium-term remuneration programs and Subsequent additional Shares delivery is 
to enable the executive directors and the beneficiaries of the current multi-year remuneration 
programs to invest up to 50% of the gross assessment of the medium-term incentive to be 
received on an annual basis, such that if the beneficiary holds the shares for a period of three 
years and meets the other conditions of the plan, the company will give them, at the end of that 
period, one additional share for every three initially acquired. consequently, the Stock acquisi-
tion plan by the Beneficiaries of the medium-term remuneration programs and Subsequent 
additional Shares delivery is not linked to the fulfilment of objectives of the multi-year variable 
remuneration programs or their results; these programs are only taken as reference to deter-
mine who the beneficiaries of the plan are and the maximum amount that these can assign 
to such plan. this plan is not designed to reward its beneficiaries for their performance, as in 
the performance-based share plans, but to foster alignment of the long-term interests of those 
individuals with the interests of the company’s shareholders, so it is a fidelity programme. 

according to regulatory announcement no. 145028 published by the company on 3 June 
2011, the process for voluntary joining by beneficiaries of the first cycle of the plan (i.e. the 
beneficiaries of the multi-year variable remuneration program imp 2007-2010, liquidated in 
2011) was conducted in may 2011 and culminated in the initial acquisition of shares on 30 may 
2011. this cycle will end on the date of delivery of the additional shares to the participants, 
which will be in June 2014. there are 350 participants, which is 58.47% of the total number of 
potential beneficiaries and the total number of shares initially acquired by the participants was 
227,498 shares at a price of 23.5357 euros per share, so the maximum total number of additional 
shares to be delivered at the end of the cycle is 75,710 shares, although the final number of 
shares will depend on the fulfilment by participants of all the conditions of the plan.

as a demonstration of their commitment to the company and the shareholders’ interests, both 
the executive chairman and the director-Secretary have joined the first cycle of the aforesaid 
Stock acquisition plan by the Beneficiaries of the medium-term remuneration programs and 
Subsequent additional Shares delivery.

the director-Secretary has assigned 150 thousand euros of his multi-year variable remunera-
tion 2011 for acquiring company’s shares. the chairman has assigned the maximum amount 
permitted, i.e. 753 thousand euros which represent 50% of the amount assessed as his multi-
year variable remuneration for 2011 to the purchase of shares in the company. at present, 
the executive chairman is the second largest individual shareholder of repsol ypf, which 
demonstrates the extent of his commitment to the company and its evolution.

5 .4 Civil liability insurance
all the directorsare covered by the same civil liability policy, which covers all the directors and 
executives of the repsol ypf group.

5 .5 Other features of the Executive Directors’ contracts
the contracts with the executive chairman and the director-Secretary were signed in 2004 
and 2005, respectively. Both contracts were approved by the Board of directors following a 
favourable report by the nomination and compensation committee, which, after analyzing 
prevailing market practices at that time and obtaining external advice from independent 
experts, submitted the proposed terms of contract to the Board. 

a deferred economic compensation is contemplated for both executive directors in the event 
of termination of contract, equivalent to three years’ total annual monetary remuneration, plus 
one year’s remuneration in an identical amount as compensation for the post-contractual no 
competition clause for the year after termination of contract.

the deferred economic compensation will be paid if their contracts are terminated on grounds 
attributable to repsol ypf, by mutual accord or, in the case of the director-Secretary, in the 
event of objective circumstances such as a significant change in the shareholding structure 
of the company.

as a result of the evolution of corporate governance practices and the financial crisis that began 
in 2007, greater attention is now paid to issues related with the terms and conditions of the 
contracts of executive directors and senior officers of companies, which has in turn caused an 
evolution in both the voting policies of investors on those matters and the recommendations. 
in particular, the recommendation of the european commission 2009/385/ec of 30 april 
2009 proposes that termination payments should not exceed a fixed amount or fixed number 
of years of annual remuneration, which should, in general, not be higher than two years of the 
non-variable component of remuneration or the equivalent thereof.

the nomination and compensation committee and the Board of directors are aware and 
sensitive to this evolution and are analyzing the actions and position to be taken by repsol 
ypf in this regard, taking into account not only the relevant recommendations, but also market 
practices in the markets in which the company is to operate.

5 .6 Remuneration Policy 2012
certain issues of the remuneration policy applicable for directors of repsol ypf during 2012 
are explained below.

With regard to the remuneration of directors for performing collegiate supervisory and decision-
making duties, the Board of directors resolved on 28 february 2011, upon recommendation 
by the nomination and compensation committee, not to raise for 2012 the value of the point 
assigned for being on the Board of directors or the different committees. consequently, this 
is maintained at 88,297.11 euros gross a year.

With regard to the non-variable remuneration of the executive directors for the performance of 
their executive duties in addition to their collegiate supervisory and decision-making duties as 
directors, the Board resolved on 28 february 2001, upon recommendation by the nomination 
and compensation committee, not to increase for 2012 the amount of the non-variable remu-
neration of the executive chairman and director-Secretary, maintaining it at the 2011 level.
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Appendix: Calendar of meetings held in the 2011 fiscal year

1 Background
the audit and control committee of the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. was constituted 
by the Board at its meeting held on february 27, 1995. 

although recognised by a number of “codes of good corporate governance” published in 
Spain, such as the “olivencia” report (1998) and the “aldama” report (2003), the constitution 
of this type of committees in the Board of directors of listed companies, was not obligatory 
in this country until november 23 date in which the financial System reform measures act 
44/2002, of 22 november, came into effect.

article 32 of the regulations of the Board of directors of repsol ypf, S.a. establishes the 
structure, the operation and the field of activity of the audit and control committee.

in accordance with the provisions of these regulations, the committee is an internal body 
of the Board of directors with duties of supervision, reporting, advice and proposal, as well 
as the other duties attributed to it by law, the articles of association or the regulations of 
the Board of directors.

the essential function of the committee is to act as support for the Board of directors in 
its tasks of supervising, through the regular checking of the preparation of economic and 
financial information, of the effectiveness of its executive controls, supervision of the internal 
audit and of the independence of the external auditor, as well as reviewing compliance with 
all the legal provisions and internal regulations applicable to the company. Similarly, the 
committee has the power to submit the agreement proposal for the Board of directors, for 
its subsequent submission to the general Shareholders’ meeting, on the appointment of the 
external accounts auditors, the renewal or cessation of its appointment, and the terms under 
which it is to be retained.

Since its creation, and until 31 december 2011, the Board of directors’ audit and control 
committee has met on one hundred thirty one occasions (the last – in this period – was on 
12 december 2011).

2  Composition
Both the articles of association and the regulations of the Board of directors establish that 
the audit and control committee will comprise at least three members. Similarly, these rules 
stipulate that all the members of the committee should be outside or non-executive directors, 
and at least one of them shall be an independent outside director.

likewise, and with the aim of ensuring the best fulfilment of its duties, the regulations of the 
Board of directors establish that the members of this committee will be appointed by the 
Board, taking into account (in particular, in the case of the independent outside director) their 
knowledge and experience in terms of accountancy, auditing or in both, and the chairman 
must also have experience in business or risk management and knowledge of accounting 
procedures and, in any event, some of its members must have the financial experience that 
may be required by the market regulatory bodies of the stock markets in which the shares or 
titles of the company are listed.

the committee appoints its chairman from among its members, who must, in any event, 
have the status of independent outside director, while the Secretary of the committee will 
be the Secretary of the Board of directors. 

the members of the audit and control committee serve for a term of four years as of their 
appointment, and they may be re-elected after this term, with the exception of its chairman, 
who may not be re-elected until one year has elapsed after their resigning from the post, without 
prejudice to their continuance or re-election as member of the committee.

during the 2011 fiscal year, the composition of the audit and control committee underwent 
the following changes:
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at 1 January 2011, the following members of the Board of directors comprised this committee:• 

Position Members Type

Chairman Mr . Ángel Durández Adeva Independent Outside

Member Mrs . Paulina Beato Blanco Independent Outside

Member Mr . Carmelo de las Morenas López Independent Outside

Member Mr . Javier Echenique Landiríbar Independent Outside

on april 15, 2011, mr. carmelo de las morenas resigned as director of repsol ypf. from this • 
date and until december 31, 2011, the audit and control committee has been composed of the 
following members (this composition is maintained at the date of approval of this report):

Position Members Type

Chairman Mr . Ángel Durández Adeva Independent Outside

Member Mrs . Paulina Beato Blanco Independent Outside

Member Mr . Javier Echenique Landiríbar Independent Outside

consequently, during the 2011 fiscal year all the members of the audit and control committee 
have held the status of “independent outside directors”, in accordance with the requirements 
set out in article 3.5 of the regulations of the Board of directors, having been appointed due 
to their recognised personal and professional prestige and to their experience and expertise 
for the exercise of their duties. Similarly, they are not connected with the executive team and 
the significant shareholders of the company and they incur none of the situations described in 
article 13.2 of the regulations of the Board of directors.

the professional profiles of the current members of the committee are the following:

Mr . Ángel Durández Adeva: Ba economics, profesor of commerce, chartered accountant 
and founding member of the registry of economic auditors. he joined arthur andersen in 
1965 where he was partner from 1976 to 2000. up to march, 2004 he headed the euroamerica 
foundation, of which he was founder, entity dedicated to the development of business, political 
and cultural relationships between the european union and the different latin american coun-
tries. currently he is director of mediaset comunicación espña, S.a., Quantica producciones, 
S.l. and member of the advisory Board of fride (foundation for the international relations 
and the foreign development), chairman of arcadia capital, S.l. and información y control 
de publicaciones, S.a., member of foundation germán Sánchez ruipérez and foundation 
independiente and vicepresident of foundation euroamérica

Mrs . Paulina Beato Blanco: phd economics, university of minnesota, professor of economic 
analysis, commercial expert and economist of the State. former executive chairperson of 
red eléctrica de españa, director of campSa and major financial institutions. formerly chief 
economist in the Sustainable development department of inter-american development Bank 
and consultant in the Banking Supervision and regulation division of the international mone-
tary fund. currently she is advisor to the iberoamerican Secretary general (Secretaría general 
iberoamericana), professor for economic analysis and member of a special Board for promoting 
Knowledge Society in andalusia.

Mr . Javier Echenique Landiribar: Ba economics and actuarial Science. former director-general 
manager of allianz-ercos and general manager of BBva group. currently chairman of Banco 
guipuzcoano, director of telefónica móviles méxico, actividades de construcción y Servi-
cios (acS), S.a., grupo empresarial ence, S.a. and celistics, l.l.c., delegate of the Board of 
telefónica, S.a. in the Basque region, member of the advisory Board of telefónica europe, 
member of foundation novia Salcedo and foundation altuna, and member of the círculo de 
empresarios vascos.

.

3 Regulation of the Audit  
 and Control Committee 

the internal regulation of the audit and control committee is included in article 39 (“audit 
and control committee”) of the articles of association and in article 32 (“the audit and 
control committee”) of the regulations of the Board of directors.

the articles of association and the regulations of the Board of directors are registered 
in the madrid trade registry and are accessible to the public on the company’s website 
(www.repsol.com).

4 Operation 
in accordance with the provisions of the regulations of the Board of directors, the audit and 
control committee meets as many times as is necessary in order to fulfil the duties with which 
it has been entrusted and whenever its chairman calls it or when so requested by two of its 
members. the calls to meeting are communicated, with a minimum advance notice of 48 hours, 
by letter, telex, telegram, fax or e-mail, and will include the agenda of the meeting. the minutes 
of the previous meeting will be included with the call to meeting, whether they have been 
approved or not, as will the information that is deemed necessary and that is available.

the meetings are normally held at the registered office of the company, but they may also be 
held at any other address determined by the chairman and stated in the call to meeting.

for the committee to be validly constituted, it is required that more than half of its members 
attend the meeting, in person or represented, except in the event of a lack of call to meeting, 
which requires the attendance of all of them. members of the committee who do not attend the 
meeting in person may confer their representation on another member of the committee.

agreements must be adopted with the vote in favour of the majority of the members present 
in person or by representation. in the event of a tie, the chairman or the person acting in their 
place at the meeting will have the casting vote.

the Secretary to the committee draws up the minutes of the agreements adopted at each 
meeting, which will be available to the members of the Board.

the chairman of the committee regularly informs the Board of directors of the progress of 
its actions. 

the committee drafts an annual calendar of meetings and an action plan for each fiscal year, 
including an annual report on its actions, informing the Board of this.

Similarly, at least once a year the committee assesses its operation and the quality and effi-
ciency of its work, informing the Board of the result of this evaluation.

5 Resources of the Committee
for the best fulfilment of its duties, the committee may use the advice of lawyers or other 
external professionals, in which case the Secretary of the Board of directors, on requirement 
by the chairman of the committee, will make available everything necessary for their hiring 
and their work will be directly referred to the committee.

the committee may also use the collaboration of any member of the management team or the 
rest of the staff, and the attendance at its meetings of the company’s accounts auditors.
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6 Main activities carried out  
 in the 2011 Fiscal year

in the 2011 fiscal year, the audit and control committee met on ten occasions. all the 
members of the committee attended in person to all these meetings.

in fulfilment of its essential duty of acting as support for the Board of directors in its tasks 
of supervising, and among other activities, the committee carried out the periodic review of 
the economic/financial information, the supervision of the effectiveness of internal control 
systems and the control of the independence of the external accounts auditor. this report 
contains a summary grouped under the various basic duties of the committee.

attached, as an appendix, is a calendar of the meetings held by the audit and control committee 
during the 2011 fiscal year, with a description of the main issues discussed in them.

6.1 economic/financial information 

during the period covered by this activity report, the audit and control committee has 
analysed, prior to its presentation to the Board, and with the support of the economy/
finance general department and the external accounts auditor of the company, the 
annual financial report for the 2010 fiscal year, the quarterly statements for the first and 
third quarters of 2011 and the six-monthly statements of 2011.

Similarly, the committee verified that the annual financial Statements for the 2010 fiscal 
year, submitted to the Board of directors for their approval, have been certified by the 
chairman and the group managing director of finance and corporate Services (cfo) on 
the terms required by the applicable internal and external rules.

Similarly, the committee has checked the content of the consolidated financial Statements 
for the 2010 fiscal year which the company, in its capacity as company listed in argentina, 
has submitted to the comisión nacional de valores (cnv) of this country and the Bolsa 
de comercio in Buenos aires.

6. internal control systems

in order to check the internal control and the effectiveness of risk management systems 
periodically so that the main risks are identified, managed and adequately understood, 
the committee has monitored the progress of the annual corporate audit plan, aimed at 
covering the group’s critical and significant risks.

throughout the fiscal year, the committee has been informed by the corporate audit director 
of the most relevant facts and recommendations made evident in the tasks performed by 
this unit in the year and the status of the recommendations issued previously.

Similarly, the committee has been informed regarding the annual planning scheme of the 
audit and control department for the 2011 fiscal year, whose objectives include, among 
others, to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of control systems that the group has 
established to mitigate the most critical risk; to consolidate the increasing scope and resi-
zing of the audit department’s association control function; to complete the process of 
identifying and measuring of the group’s most critical risks; to develop a formal framework 
for the risk integrated management within the company, in line with quality standards 
and the best industry practices; and the implementation of an internal control system for 
the detection and prevention of crimes within the group (corporate defense), which was 
launched in 2011 under the supervision of the audit and control committee.

in addition, repsol is adhered to the good tax practices code and according to its provi-
sions the committee has been informed of the fiscal policies implemented by the company 
during the year 2010, as well as repsol’s policies regarding the prevention of fiscal risk, 
fiscal transparency, collaboration against fraudulent practices and promoting the use of 
non-litigious mechanisms for resolving disputes.

the committee was informed of the update and additional measures developed by the 
company in the prevention and management of risks associated with the drilling and 
construction of exploration and production oil wells

additionally, the audit and control committee has supervised the effectiveness of the 
internal control System on financial reporting. to this effect, the audit and control 
committee acts as the ultimate control and supervision body of the operation of the internal 
control over financial reporting of the group repsol.

6.3 relations with the internal auditor

Besides what has been described in the above section, the committee has, in accordance 
with the stipulations of the regulations of the Board of directors, ensured the indepen-
dence and efficiency of the internal audit and that it has the adequate qualification and 
resources to fulfil its duties in the group, both in terms of staff and material elements, 
systems, procedures and manuals of action. 

Similarly, the committee has been informed of the closing and evaluation of the annual 
plan of corporate audit 2010, and analysed, approved and monitored the annual corporate 
audit plan 2011.

6.4 relations with the external auditor 

a . Selection of the external auditor for the 2011 fiscal year
article 32.4 of the regulations of the Board of directors establishes that the term of the 
external audit contracts should be for annual periods, unless otherwise provided for by 
applicable legal rules. these contracts may be renewed year on year if the quality of the 
service is satisfactory and an agreement is reached on its remuneration. 

however, the regulations of the Board of directors establishes that every five years an 
open selection process will take place for the leading most prestigious firms of auditors 
to choose the one that offers the best balance between the quality of the service offered 
(the minimums of which will be set as a requirement prior to this process) and the sum 
of its remuneration, which will be communicated to the Board of directors in a specific 
point in its agenda.

in accordance with the regulations of the Board of directors, the audit and control 
committee agreed to start a selection process for the appointment of the accounts auditor 
of repsol ypf, S.a. and its consolidated group, for the 2011 fiscal year audit.

as a result of this process, the audit and control committee proposed to the Board of direc-
tors, for its subsequent submission to the general Shareholders’ meeting, the re-election 
of “deloitte S.l.” as the accounts auditor of repsol ypf, S.a. and of its consolidated 
group, for the period of one year, for the review of the annual financial Statements and 
the management report of repsol ypf, S.a. and of its consolidated group for the 2011 
fiscal year, as the auditing firm that had the best balance between the quality of the service 
offered and the sum of its remuneration.

the Board of directors, for its part, agreed to submit this proposal to the ordinary general 
Shareholders’ meeting held on 15 april 2011, which approved it. 

b . Pre-approval of the services provided by the external auditors
in order to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes oxley act, applicable to the 
company until the effectiveness of its deregistration with the u.S. Securities and exchange 
commission (Sec) in June 2011, and other applicable regulations, and as a measure of 
good corporate governance, the audit and control committee, in its task of ensuring the 
independence of the external auditor, agreed in the 2003 fiscal year on a procedure to 
approve previously all the services, be they auditing or not, provided by the external auditor, 
whatever their extent, scope and nature. this procedure is regulated in an internal rule 
mandatory for the whole of the repsol ypf group. 

this internal rule was reviewed by the committee under the above deregistration and the 
fact that its argentina subsidiary ypf, Sa remains a company registered with the Sec and, 
therefore, subject to the requirements of the Sarbanes oxley act.

according to the above review, while ypf, S.a. remains registered with the Sec and its 
audit committee should approve the services provided by its external auditor, ypf’s audit 
committee shall approve the hiring, by the management and business units and subsidiary 
companies of ypf, of professional services, audit or other, with ypf’s external auditor.
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these services, even when they are provided by the repsol ypf’s external auditor, will not 
require the approval of the repsol ypf’s audit and control committee. however, in order 
to ensure the external auditor independence, repsol ypf’s audit and control committee 
shall be informed, in any case, of the services approved by the ypf’s committee.

With that single exception, the audit and control committee has been approving, during 
the year 2011, the services provided by the external auditor to repsol ypf’s group compa-
nies. in addition, from the mentioned above internal rules review, the committee has 
been informed of the services provided by repsol ypf’s external auditor, approved by 
ypf’s audit committee.

the internal rules establishes a delegation of powers to the chairman of the audit and 
control committee so that he may authorise the services provided by the external auditor. 
making use of this delegation, the chairman has approved the provision of a series of 
services for which the ratification of the committee has after been requested.

c . Information received from the external auditors
at the meeting of the audit and control committee, held on 22 february 2011, and prior 
to the review of the annual financial statements, the external auditors of the repsol ypf 
group, deloitte S.l., after their confirmation of independency according to the Spanish and 
united States applicable rules, informed the committee of the main aspects noted in the 
audit of the annual financial Statements of repsol ypf group at 31 december 2010 and 
its review of the System of internal control over financial reporting (Sicfr).

in this respect, the external auditors informed that the audit opinion on the annual financial 
Statements of repsol ypf, S.a. and the consolidated annual financial Statements of repsol 
ypf group was favourable and contained no exception whatsoever. they similarly reported that 
no “material weakness” had been detected in the Sicfr to mention to the committee.

likewise, at the meeting of the audit and control committee held on 26 July 2011, deloitte 
informed of the limited review report of the six-monthly summary statements for the first 
quarter 2011.

at the meeting of the audit and control committee held on 12 december 2011, deloitte also 
informed the committee on its preliminary review of the consolidated financial statements 
of repsol ypf, S.a. at 30 September 2011 in relation to the audit of the annual financial 
Statements for the 2011 fiscal year, and on the situation of their work checking the internal 
controls over the financial information of the repsol ypf group.

d . Committee’s report on the External Auditors Independence 
the audit and control, at its meeting held on february 22, 2011, reviewed and approved 
a report on the external auditor independence, which refers to the main issues related to 
this independence, including the information received from the auditor, the amount of 
fees for services provided during 2010, the period in which the partners responsible for the 
audit team have been developing this role in the group, and the external auditor services 
pre-approval system.

this report concluded that there are not objective reasons to question the independence 
of deloitte as auditor of repsol ypf, Sa and its consolidated group.

6.5 oil and gas reserves 

in fulfilment of the duties assigned to it, in the 2011 fiscal year the committee supervised 
the sufficiency and the effective operation of the registry and internal control systems and 
procedures in the measurement, valuation, classification and accounting of the oil and gas 
reserves of the repsol ypf group, such that their inclusion in the periodical information of 
the group is in line at all times with sector standards and applicable regulations.

6.6 environment and security

With the aim of knowing and guiding the policy, objectives and directives of the repsol ypf 
group in the areas of environment and security, throughout the fiscal year the committee 
has been informed by the resources department of the evolution of the main security data 
and environmental parameters and of the actions taken and the objectives of the repsol 
ypf group in these areas. 

6.7 assessment of the operation of the audit and control committee

Based on the most important requisites and functions of the audit and control committee contem-
plated in applicable legislation, in the articles of association and the internal regulations of the Board 
of directors and the committee, the audit and control committee made an assessment in 2011 
of its own operation and efficiency in line with the recommendations of the “unified code”.

in view of the results of that assessment, at its meeting held on 8 november 2011, the audit 
and control committee concluded that its operation was satisfactory and that it correctly 
performed the duties commissioned to it in the applicable laws and internal regulations.

6.8 amendment of the regulations of the Board of directors

article 2.2 of the regulations of the Board of directors establishes that the audit and control 
committee shall prior inform the proposals for amendment these regulations when the 
amendments proposed affect its composition, duties and powers.

the Board of directors, at its meeting held on february 23, 2011, approved the amendment 
of its regulations for the purpose, among others, to regulate the article 30, about the audit 
and control committee, in the same manner than the current 18th additional provision of 
the Securities market act, which regulates the audit committee of the entities which issue 
marketable securities in Spanish official markets, as amended by act 12/2010, of 30th July. 
this proposal was prior favourably informed by the audit and control committee at its 
meeting held on february 22, 2011.

6.9 amendment of the repsol ypf group internal conduct regulations  
 regarding the Securities market.

in the year 2011, and due to changes in company’s organizational structure, article 2.2 
(“affected persons”) of the repsol ypf group internal conduct regulations, about the 
people of the company that due to their positions or duties it is presumed that can access 
periodically to price-sensitive information, was twice amended. 

the audit and control committee, in the development of its duties to ensure that the codes of 
conduct and market conduct applicable to the group’s employees comply with legal requisites and 
are adequate for the company, was informed about these two amendments of the article 2.2.

6.10 disclosure committee (“comité interno de transparencia”)  
 of repsol ypf, S.a.

the audit and control committee has been informed regularly throughout the year on the 
activities of the disclosure committee, receiving and considering the information remitted 
to it by that committee.

6.11 “communications to the audit committee” application

in accordance with current regulations in the united States for all the companies that are 
listed on the Stock exchanges in that country, applicable to the company until the effec-
tiveness of its deregistration with the u.S. Securities and exchange commission (Sec) in 
June 2011, and as a corporate Best governance measure, in the 2005 fiscal year the audit 
and control committee set up a procedure for persons so wanting to be able to inform it 
of any incident or irregularity regarding matters related to accounting, internal accounting 
controls and auditing that affect the repsol ypf group. 

this application can be accessed by both employees of the repsol ypf group, through the 
intranet, and other interested parties, through the company website (www.repsol.com). 
in both cases, the complete confidentiality and anonymity of the persons sending the 
information is guaranteed.

the audit and control committee has supervised the measures adopted with regard to 
the communications received over this system.
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6.12 criteria of independence of the new york Stock exchange (nySe)  
 for foreign private issuers

the uS legislation require companies listed on the new york Stock exchange – through 
adSs, or american depositary Shares – to comply with certain sections of “Section 303a 
of the nySe’s listed company manual”. in accordance with this, all the members of the 
audit and control committee must comply with the requirements of independence set out 
by rule 10a-3 of the u.S. Securities and exchange commission.

notwithstanding the company is no longer subject to the above obligations, as a result of 
its deregistration with the u.S. Securities and exchange commission (Sec) in June 2011, the 
audit and control committee of repsol ypf, S.a. has complied with the above regulations 
since their came into force.

Appendix  Calendar of meetings held  
 in the 2011 fiscal year

meeting n° 122 25 January 2011

 Agenda

report of the audit and control department: (i) assessment of compliance with 2010 planning • 
scheme of the audit and control department; (ii) summary of reports issued by the audit and 
control department (iii) monitoring of recommendations included in audit reports.

information on the selection of external auditor.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on Sec’s form 20-f 2009 comment letter.• 

proposed of 2011 audit and control committee’s annual calendar for meetings and action plan.• 

meeting n° 123 22 february 2011

 Agenda

information on the selection of external auditor. proposed appointment of the account auditors • 
for repsol ypf, S.a. and its consolidated group.

annual financial report 2010: (i) external auditor’s report; (ii) report of the commission on • 
the independence of the external auditor; (iii) annual financial Statements and management 
report for the fiscal year ended 31 december 2010. 

annual corporate governance report 2010.• 

report on the amendments of the regulations of the Board of directors.• 

information on the company’s fiscal policies (good tax practices code). • 

information on oil and gas reserves.• 

report of the audit and control department (i) internal control system on financial information; • 
(ii) proposal of annual planning scheme 2011 of the audit and control department.

activity report 2010 of the audit and control committee.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on Sec’s form 20-f 2009 comment letter.• 

report of repsol international finance B.v.’s external auditor.• 

information on the meetings held by the disclosure committee of repsol ypf, S.a.• 

meeting n° 124 29 march 2011

 Agenda

report of ypf’s chairman of the audit and control committee. • 

information on environmental and security matters.• 

Summary of reports issues by the audit and control department.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on Sec’s form 20-f 2009 comment letter.• 

information on the amendment of audit and control committee’ annual calendar for meetings. • 

information on the amendment of the repsol ypf group internal conduct regulations • 
regarding the Securities market.
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meeting n° 125 11 may 2011

 Agenda

review of the preliminary results for the first quarter of 2011. • 

information on oil and gas reserves.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on the meetings held by the disclosure committee of repsol ypf, S.a.• 

meeting n° 126 28 June 2011

 Agenda

information on environmental and security matters.• 

Summary of reports issues by the audit and control department.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on the cnmv’s annual Statements 2010 comments letter.• 

meeting n° 127 26 July 2011

 Agenda

review of the six-monthly 2011 statements. external auditor’s report.• 

information on the annual financial statements to be submitted to the • Comisión Nacional  
de Valores of argentina and the Bolsa de Comercio in Buenos Aires.

proposed fees of the external auditor for 2011.• 

report of the audit and control department: (i) monitoring of recommendations contained • 
in audit reports; (ii) System for the prevention of crimes; (iii) Summary of reports issues by 
the audit and control department. 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on oil and gas reserves.• 

information on the meetings held by the disclosure committee of repsol ypf, S.a.• 

meeting n° 128 16 September 2011

 Agenda

 monitoring by the audit and control committee of the obligations under the repsol ypf group • 
internal conduct regulations regarding the securities market.

meeting n° 129 21 october 2011

 Agenda

report on control risk in the executive managing direction of upstream.• 

information on oil and gas reserves.• 

obligations related with the securities market.• 

assessment of the operation of the audit and control committee • 

review of rules for the prior approval of external auditor’s services. • 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters. • 

meeting n° 130 8 november 2011

 Agenda

review of the preliminary results for the third quarter of 2011.• 

information on environmental and security matters.• 

information on oil and gas reserves.• 

report of the audit and control department: (i) summary of reports issued by the audit and • 
control department and the ypf’s internal audit department; (ii) monitoring of recommen-
dations contained in audit reports.

assessment of the operation of the audit control committee.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters. • 
information on the meetings held by the disclosure committee of repsol ypf, S.a. 

meeting n° 131 12 december 2011

 Agenda

external auditor’s report.• 

report of ypf’s chairman of the audit committee.• 

report of the audit and control department. Summary of the meetings held by the ypf’s • 
audit committee.

proposed of 2012 audit and control committee’s annual calendar for meetings and action plan.• 

approval of the retention of services with the external auditors.• 

communications received on accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.• 

information on the amendment of the repsol ypf group internal conduct regulations • 
regarding the Securities market.
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